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Preface

Accounting Trends & Techniques—2000, Fifty-Fourth Edition, is a compilation of data obtained
by a survey of 600 annual reports to stockholders undertaken for the purpose of analyzing the
accounting information disclosed in such reports. The annual reports surveyed were those of
selected industrial, merchandising, technology, and service companies for fiscal periods ending
between February 26, 1999 and February 3, 2000.

Significant accounting trends, as revealed by a comparison of current survey findings with
those of prior years, are highlighted in numerous comparative tabulations throughout this
publication. These tables show trends in such diverse accounting matters as financial statement
format and terminology and the accounting treatment of transactions and events reflected in the
financial statements.

Accounting techniques are illustrated by excerpts from the annual reports of the survey
companies. References (in the form of a listing of company identification numbers—see the
following paragraph) to additional illustrations of an accounting technique may be requested from
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants by contacting Andy Mrakovcic,
Coordinator/Editor, at:

Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three, Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881
Telephone: (201) 938-3062
Fax: (201) 938-3780
Email: amrakovcic @aicpa.org

Each of the 600 survey companies included in this edition has been assigned an identification
number which is used for reference in the discussion of pertinent information. 223 of the companies
were listed in the fortieth (1986) edition (the year in which identification numbers of the companies
were renumbered consecutively from 1 to 600) and each retained the number assigned in that
edition. The other 377 companies in the 1986 edition have been eliminated. Most of the eliminated
companies were eliminated because of a business combination with another company. The
identification numbers of the eliminated companies have not been reused. Identification numbers
601 through 987 have been assigned to the replacement companies. The 600 companies in the
currebnt edition are listed in the Appendix of 600 Companies both alphabetically and by identification
number.

Beginning with Accounting Trends & Techniques—2000, Fifty-Fourth Edition, 4 new tables
compiling certain data in Section 4, Comprehensive Income, have been introduced. In addition, the
Table of Contents has been expanded to include tables and subheadings, paragraph numbers have
been assigned throughout the text to increase ease of reference, and lastly, a new Pronouncement
Index has been created to list all pronouncements discussed in the narrative portions (not in the
company illustration portions) of this edition.

We would appreciate your feedback! We hope the enhancements described above improve
ease of reference and use. However, we urge you to give us your comments regarding the content
of this publication, suggested improvements for future editions, and any other feedback. Please
direct your comments to Andy Mrakovcic at the above address or phone numbers. All comments
will be considered and kept strictly confidential.

George N. Dietz, CPA—Senior Manager, Accounting & Auditing Publications
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Order/technical information:

Accounting Trends & Techniques: (201) 938-3062

AICPA Technical Hotline: (888) 777-7077, option 3
AICPA Member Satisfaction (order department): (888) 777-7077, option 1
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COMPANIES SELECTED FOR SURVEY

1.01 This section is concerned with general information
about the 600 companies selected for the survey and with
certain accounting information usually disclosed in notes
accompanying the basic financial statements.

1.02 Al 600 companies included in the survey are
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). Many of the survey companies have securities
traded on one of the major stock exchanges—=82% on the
New York and 3% on the American. The remaining 15%
were traded on “over-the-counter” exchanges.

1.03 Each year, companies are selected from the latest
Fortune 1000 listing to replace those companies that were
deleted from the survey (see the Appendix of 600
Companies for a comprehensive listing of the 600
companies as well as those that were added and removed
in this edition). Companies are deleted from the survey
when they have either been acquired, have become
privately held (and are, therefore, no longer registered with
the SEC), or have ceased operations.
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|

1.04
TABLE 1-1: INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATIONS
1999 1998

Advertising, marketing 5 4
ABTOSPACE. ......ovcrresererirermiriissensisseens 16 17
ADPATEL .....ovvcrerrerreeernesitesensissssrasesins 18 19
BEVEIAgeS......covvvrrererirrnsranimisncsniassassasessenns 7 7
Building materials, glass........ccccuevmmrinrninnans 14 16
ChemiCals ........cvevveriunresisseremssassssesssssisenes 30 31
Computer and data services 11 13
Computer peripherals ...........couecnevnnnnnn. 6 N/C*
Computer SOftWare .........ccueremmressssenssiseniens 7 N/C*
Computers, office equipment........ccecreunrevnnae 12 18
Diversified outsourcing services........... 7 N/C*
Electronics, electrical equipment 46 46
Engineering, construction ..........c.ceeuve.. 9 8
Entertainment .........ccooueeecscmcessmsecssensieenne 6 5
FOOQ.....courrrerrrerraremrssssssnessesssemeesnssssssssnss 36 38
Food and drug StOreS.........ccceeerermersasssernins 12 N/C*
FOOd SEIVICES ...vuvrerecrernrireemsenmeersssssnsssnsssens 3 N/C*
Forest and paper products...........ucuieeeeaenunes 27 27
FUINIUTE ...ooovvreericenaceesisnnscrsesaeessrscesnessesses 9 10
General merchandisers ........c..uvernivenessnans 1 N/C*
Health Care .........ccccvvvvriireereennsinsisensinisnines 3 N/C*
Hotels, casinos, resoms ........cccoviecrsiiircnnnnn 3 3
Industrial and farm equipment ..........cccceuveees 40 41
Medical products and equipment..........c..u.s 15 1
Metal products ..........ccconvmnnrrimninninissinssnnnns 23 23
MELAIS ....cvevevncreenee st enese st ssrssssenss 23 22
Mining, crude-oil production.............cceueesnune 1 1"
MISCEANEOUS ......cvviveererenirsinsnsssississssnneaens 6 N/C*
Motor vehicles and parts.........coereevernererceens 16 22
Network communications.........uveusmerensesenss 2 N/C*
Petroleum refining.........coersiiseiisnsnecisecisnns 18 19
Pharmaceuticals .........c.vceeeeecsenncninnnecenens 12 12
Publishing, printing ..........eecunsemmvivennnirneeninns 22 22
Retailing—grocery stores ..........coerivieneens N/C* 11
Retailing—other stores ...........cenvcriureirsessanss N/C* 22
Rubber and plastic products............usususseesenss 9 12
Scientific, photographic, and

control equUIPMENt.........ccevvcreriismmissisrsnniass 23 29
SemiCONAUCIONS.......cueuvrreerneerrrererersssarsssecssenns 9 9
$0apS, COSMELICS. ...vvreecrrrerensmsissessansrsesnsans 8 8
Specialty retailers ...........cecvvinivvissiniesecens 16 N/C*
TelecommuniCations........u...ccoeresicrsissensnnens 6 N/C*
Temporary help......cceeneensmeenscnsesssisienss 3 N/C*
TOXHIES w.cvvovrvecrercesmrarestsensessesssrrernesssresesssens 9 10
TODACCO....ucerrimrsiseniissisnressssnssrasassassssniens 5 5
Toys, SPOrting §OOS .....c.ccreuerernersreasensensaenss 3 N/C*
Transportation equipment.........ccunvennieeninenns 4 4
Waste management.........cccccconvneecrsminnnsnense 4 4
WHOIBSAIETS ....oucnrserrarnrsesenrsssiesnrscsssnsisssenens 15 14
Not otherwise classified..........ccovuerersersensn N/C* 27
Total Companies 600 600

* Statistics were not compiled (N/C). This industry classification
was not included in the annual Fortune 1000 listing in the year
shown.
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1.05 Table 1-2 indicates the relative size of the survey
companies as measured by dollar amount of revenue.

1.06

TABLE 1-2: REVENUE OF SURVEY COMPANIES
1999 1998 1997 1996

Less than $100,000,000.............c.e0e.. 23 23 28 28
Between $100,000,000 and

$500,000,000 .......ccvererirrererirrenrnnine 60 74 76 86
Between $500,000,000 and

$1,000,000,000 .......ccoovrvremmrmnrvrnenee 48 44 55 60
Between $1,000,000,000 and

$2,000,000,000 ......coovucrvmrerinneennns 121 134 132 120
More than $2,000,000,000................. 348 325 309 306
Total Companies.............ccvevrrvrvennne 600 600 600 600

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE
14a-3 TO BE INCLUDED IN ANNUAL
REPORTS TO STOCKHOLDERS

1.07 Rule 14a-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
states that annual reports furnished to stockholders in
connection with the annual meetings of stockholders should
include audited financial statements—balance sheets as of
the 2 most recent fiscal years, and statements of income
and of cash flows for each of the 3 most recent fiscal years.

Rule 14a-3 also states that the following information, as

specified in Regulation S-K, should be included in the

annual report to stockholders:

Selected quarterly financial data.

Disagreements with accountants on accounting

and financial disclosure.

Summary of selected financial data for last 5 years.

. Description of business activities.

. Segment information.

. Listing of company directors and executive officers.

. Market price of Company’s common stock for each
quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal
years.

8. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial

condition and results of operations.

9. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about

market risk.

NoOOA® Mo

1.08 Examples of items 1, 3, 8, and 9 follow. Included with
the item 8 examples are excerpts from management’s
discussion and analysis as to forward looking information,
euro conversion, environmental matters, and the impact of
the year 2000 problem. Certain survey companies
discussed the impact of the year 2000 problem in the notes
to financial statements.

1.09 Examples of segment information disclosures are
presented under “Segment Information” in this section.
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Quarterly Financial Data
1.10
AMETEK, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth Total

(in thousands, except per share amounts) Quarter Quarter Quarter* Quarter™* Year
1999
Net sales $230,878 $231,640 $226,258 $236,021 $924,797
Operating income $ 29,149 $ 29,584 $ 30,518 $ 29,546 $118,797
Income from continuing operations $ 14,596 $ 15,564 $ 15,594 $ 15,014 $ 60,768
Net income $ 14,596 $ 15,564 $ 15,594 $ 15,014 $ 60,768
Basic eamings per share:"

Income from continuing operations $ 45 $ 48 $ 48 $ 47 $ 188

Net income $ 45 $ 48 $ .48 $ 47 $ 188
Diluted eamings per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 45 $ 47 $ 47 $ 46 $ 185

Net income $ 45 $ 47 $ 47 $ 46 $ 185
Dividends paid per share $ .06 $ .06 $ 06 $ .06 $ 24
Common stock trading range:®

High 23 25/, 24% 20"/, 25°

Low 16'% 17'h 19' 18 16
1998
Net sales $241,958 $ 246,097 $232,593 $ 206,826 $ 927,474
Operating income $ 28,593 $ 28,759 $ 26,976 $ 12,108 $ 96,436
Income from continuing operations $ 14,884 $ 15,389 $ 14,050 $ 6,126 $ 50,449
Net income $ 14,884 $ 15,389 $ 5340 $ 6,126 $ 41,739
Basic eamings per share:*

Income from continuing operations $ 45 $ 47 $ 43 $ 19 $ 155

Net income $ 45 $ 47 $ .16 $ 19 $ 128
Diluted eamings per share:*

Income from continuing OPErations .............weeuustcesssnsseessnees $ M $ 45 $ 42 $ 19 $ 150

Net income $ M4 $ 45 $ .16 $ 19 $ 124
Dividends paid per share $ 06 $ 06 $ .06 $ 06 $ 24
Common stock trading range:"

HIGR (oot smss s sssssssssesssssssassrssesssssasesaess 29%s 31% 31" 22%he 31°%

Low 25°% 27% 15 16" 15%

* Third quarter 1998 net income includes an after-tax extraordinary charge of $8.7 million ($.26 per share) for the early extinguishment of
debt.

** Fourth quarter 1998 income includes a non-recurring pretax charge for cost reduction initiatives totaling $8.0 million, ($4.8 million, after-tax
for $.14 per diluted share).

*  The sum of quarterly eamings per share may not equal total year earnings per share due to the effect of the Company’s purchasing shares

of its outstanding common stock.

Trading ranges are based on the New York Stock Exchange composite tape.
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4 Accounting Trends & Techniques

1.1
TEMTEX INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(AUG)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note M—Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

Summary data relating to the results of operations for each
quarter of the years ended August 31, 1999 and 1998
follows (in thousands except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended
Nov.30  Feb. 28 May31 Aug. 31
Fiscal year 1999:

Net sales $7,675 $6,310 $5442  $5402
Gross profit 1,593 672 311 249

Loss from continuing
operations (405) (840)  (1,168)  (1,724)
Net income (loss) 201 3,988 (1,168)  (1,752)

.Basic and diluted loss
from continuing

operations per

common share $(12) $ (24 $ (34) $ (50
Net income

Basic $ .06 $1.15 $ (34) $ (50)

Diluted .06 1.13 (.33) (.50)

Fiscal year 1998:

Net sales $8,271 $6.132 $5719  $6,040
Gross profit 2,373 1,377 962 798

Income (loss) from

continuing operations 127 (339) (641) (782)
Net income 385 39 18 65
Basic and diluted

income (loss) from

continuing operations

per common share $ .04 $ (10) $(18) $ (29
Net income

Basic $ 1 $ .0 $ 01 § .02

Diluted 1 01 .01 02

ATT-SEC 1.11
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1.12
TIME WARNER INC. (DEC)

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Equity In Diluted
Pretax Net Income  Basic Net Net
Operating Income (Loss) Income Income  Dividends Basic Diluted
income Of (Loss) Of Net Applicable (Loss) Per (Loss) Per Per  Average  Average Common
Business Entertainment Income To Common  Common  Common  Common Common  Common Stock®
Quarter Revenues Segments Group (Loss)  Shares®  Share™  Share®™  Share"™®  Shares”  Shares® High Low
(Millions, except per share amounts)
1999“
1st” $ 6091 $ 943 $— $ 138 § 120 $.10 $.10 $.045 1,2431 1,2431  $7244  §$58.88
2ng™ 6,531 1,701 - 593 575 46 .43 045 1,2493 14037 78.25 62.00
3rd® 6,723 1,287 — 369 360 .28 27 045 1,2889 1,397.8 77.31 58.50
4th® 7,988 2,104 — 848 841 .85 .62 045 1,2865 1,391.8 72.31 59.63
Year® 27,333 6,035 — 1,948 1,896 1.50 1.42 18 1,267.0  1,398.3 78.25 58.50
1908%
1st $3137 $ 170 $107  $ (62) $ (144) $(12) $(.12) $.045 1,1566 1,156.6 $37.75  $29.06
2nd"? 3,672 384 166 101 23 .02 .02 045 11926 1,1926 44.44 36.06
3rd 3,578 315 164 39 (37) (.03) (-08) .045 12026 1,2026 50.00 39.00
4th®? 4,195 627 (81) 90 (214) (.17) (.17) 045 12272 12272 63.13 37.56
Year*” 14,582 1,496 356 168 (372) (.31) (.31) 81,1947 11947 63.13 29.06

@

®)

©

(L)

@

The 1999 quarterly financial information reflects the consolidation of the Entertainment Group, which substantially consists of TWE,
retroactive to the beginning of 1999. Time Warner’s 1998 historical quarterly financial information has not been changed.

Time Warner’s income per common share in 1999 has been affected by certain significant nonrecurring items. These items consisted of (i)
a net pretax gain of approximately $215 million in the first quarter relating to the early termination and settiement of a long-term, home
video distribution agreement, (i) a net pretax gain of approximately $97 million in the fourth quarter in connection with the sale of an
interest in CanalSatellite, (iii) a noncash pretax charge of approximately $106 million in the fourth quarter relating to Warner Bros.’s retail
stores, (iv) an approximate $115 million pretax gain in the second quarter in connection with the initial public offering of a 20% interest in
Time Warner Telecom Inc., (v) gains relating to the sale and exchange of various cable television systems and investments of $771 million
in the second quarter, $477 million in the third quarter and $999 miilion in the fourth quarter, thereby aggregating to $2.247 billion for the
year and (vi) an extraordinary loss of $12 million in the third quarter relating to the retirement of debt. The aggregate net effect of these
items in 1999 was to increase income per common share by $.10 in the first quarter, $.34 in the second quarter, $.20 in the third quarter
and $.45 in the fourth quarter, thereby aggregating to $1.11 per common share for the year.

Time Warner's income (loss) per common share in 1998 has been affected by certain significant nonrecurring items. These items consisted
of gains and losses relating to the sale or exchange of various cable television systems and other investment-related activity and the effect
of redeeming Time Warner's Series M Preferred Stock. The aggregate net effect of these items in 1998 was to increase (decrease) income
per common share by $.03 in the second quarter of 1998, and $(.28) in the fourth quarter of 1998, thereby aggregating to $(.25) per
common share for the year.

Time Warmer's equity in the pretax income (loss) of the Entertainment Group for 1998 includes net gains of approximately $90 million for
the year relating to the sale or exchange of certain cable television systems and investments, of which approximately $70 million was
recorded in the second quarter of 1998. In addition, Time Warner's equity in the pretax income (loss) of the Entertainment Group for the
fourth quarter of 1998 includes a charge of approximately $210 million principally to reduce the carrying value of an interest in Primestar.
After preferred dividend requirements. Preferred dividend requirements for the fourth quarter of 1998 include a one-time increase of $234
million ($.19 loss per common share) relating to the premium paid in connection with the redemption of Time Warner's Series M Preferred
Stock.

Per common share amounts for the quarters and full years have each been calculated separately. Accordingly, quarterly amounts may not
add to the annual amounts because of differences in the average common shares outstanding during each perod and, with regard to
diluted per common share amounts only, because of the inclusion of the effect of potentially dilutive securities only in the periods in which
such effect would have been dilutive.

Previously reported amounts give effect to the two-for-one common stock split that occurred on December 15, 1998.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.12



Selected Information for Five Years
1.13

ALBERTSON'S, INC. (JAN)

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Accounting Trends & Techniques

53 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks
February 3, January 28, January 29, January 30, February 1,
(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Operating Results:
Sales $37,478 $35,872 $33,828 $32,455 $30,894
Eamings before extraordinary item 427 801 797 781 782
Extraordinary item (29)
Net eamings 404 801 797 781 782
Net earnings as a percent to sales 1.08% 2.23% 2.36% 2.41% 2.53%
Common Stock Data;
Eamings per share before extraordinary item:
Basic $ 1.01 $ 1.91 $ 1.89 $ 179 $ 178
Diluted 1.00 1.90 1.88 1.79 1.78
Extraordinary item:
Basic {0.05)
Diluted (0.05)
Eamings per share:
Basic 0.96 1.91 1.89 1.79 1.78
Diluted 0.95 1.90 1.88 1.79 1.78
Cash dividends per share:
Albertson's, Inc. 0.72 0.68 0.64 0.60 0.52
American Stores Company Equivalent 0.14 0.57 0.56 0.51 0.44
Financial Position;
Total assets $15,701 $15,131 $13,767 $12,608 $11,511
Long-term debt and capitalized lease obligations 4,992 5,108 4,333 3,665 2,837
Other Year End Statistics:
Number of stores 2,492 2,564 2,435 2,355 2,261

All fiscal years consist of 52 weeks, except for 1999 which is
a 53-week year, and fiscal 1995 which included 52 weeks of
o%ecrations for Albertson’s and 53 weeks of operations for
ASC.

1999 operating results included pre-tax merger-related
costs of $683 ($529 after tax or $1.25 per share), and a pre-
tax charge of $37 ($22 after tax or $0.05 per share) for a
litigation settlement. Merger-related costs included
severance, the write-down of assets to net realizable value,
transaction and financing costs, integration costs and stock
option charges.

During 1999 American Stores Company paid only one
quarterly dividend due to the consummation of the Merger.

1998 operating results included a pre-tax merger-related
stock option charge of $195 ($132 after tax or $0.31 per
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share) related to the exercisability of 6 million equivalent
limited stock appreciation rights due to the approval by
ASC’s stockholders of the Merger Agreement and a $24
pre-tax charge ($16 after tax or $0.04 per share) related to
management’s decision to close 16 underperforming stores.

1997 operating results included pre-tax charges of $34
related to the sale of stock by a major stockholder and pre-
tax charges of $13 related to the sale of a division of ASC’s
communications subsidiary (total of $41 after tax or $0.10
per share).

1996 operating results included pre-tax charges of $100
($60 after tax or $0.14 per share) primarily related to ASC's
re-engineering activities.



Section 1: General

1.14
BEMIS COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

FIVE-YEAR CONSOLIDATED REVIEW

(in millions, except percentages, shares, ratios, per share

amounts, stockholders, and employees) 1999 1998* 1997* 1996* 1995*
Operating Data
Net sales $ 19180 $ 18480 $ 18772 $ 16554 $ 15234
Cost of products sold and other expenses 1,710.9 1,661.1 1,693.4 1,476.0 1,378.6
Interest expense 21.2 21.9 18.9 134 1.5
Income before income taxes 185.9 165.0 164.9 166.0 133.3
Income taxes ) 711 63.9 63.5 63.0 49.8
Netincome 114.8 101.1 101.4 103.0 83.5
Net income as a percent of net sales 6.0% 5.5% 5.4% 6.2% 5.5%
Common Share Data
Diluted eamings per share 2.18 1.90 1.88 1.93 1.60
Dividends per common share 92 .88 .80 .72 .64
Book value per common share 13.91 13.16 12.60 11.47 10.36
Stock price/eamings ratio range 14-18 18-25 19-25 14-19 15-19
Average common shares and common share
equivalents outstanding during the year for
computation of diluted eamings per share 52,657,068 53,323,704 53,879,948 53,252,250 52,311,421
Common shares outstanding at year-end 52,188,715 52,269,158 52,967,511 52,360,699 52,567,349
Capital Structure and Other Data
Current ratio 23 22 22 24 23
Working capital 330.3 301.3 311.0 308.4 275.7
Total assets 1,532.1 1,482.0 1,408.4 1,224.7 1,083.3
Long-term debt 3723 3714 316.8 240.9 166.4
Long-term obligations under capital leases 0.2
Stockholders' equity 725.9 687.9 667.2 600.6 544.4
Retum on average common equity 16.2% 14.9% 16.0% 18.0% 16.8%
Retum on average total capital 10.9% 10.3% 11.3% 13.0% 12.3%
Depreciation and amortization 97.7 88.9 78.9 66.2 58.0
Capital expenditures 137.4 139.8 167.5 112.0 93.6
Number of common stockholders 5,316 5721 5,874 5,947 5711
Number of employees 9,534 9,364 9,275 8,876 8,515
Wages and salaries 368.7 351.2 348.8 3145 287.0
Research and development expense 11.7 12.2 12.0 13.7 13.6

*

last-in, first out (LIFO) method previously used for the majority of domestic inventory.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Restated to reflect the second quarter 1999 change in method of accounting for inventory to the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method from the
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1.15
MET-PRO CORPORATION (JAN)

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Years ended January 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Selected Operating Statement Data
Net sales $78,449,992 $67,390,488 $62,387,870 $60,853,278 $54,067,320
Income from operations 11,410,679 11,199,867 11,021,314 9,457,301 7,930,070
Net income 7,072,642 7,151,052 7,116,481 6,096,002 4,893,885
EBITDA® 13,826,535 13,287,878 12,851,944 11,164,848 9,543,461
Eamings per share, basic 1.08 1.04 1.01 87 .70
Eamings per share, diluted 1.08 1.03 1.00 .86 .69
Selected Balance Sheet Data
Current assets $35,722,971 $38,683,453 $36,067,260 $32,088,546 $28,268,561
Current liabilities 13,681,578 14,387,868 11,267,545 11,374,115 10,250,506
Working capital 22,041,393 24,295,585 24,799,715 20,714,431 18,018,055
Current ratio 26 27 32 28 28
Total assets 68,641,983 72,888,641 57,984,240 56,079,391 47,626,587
Long-term obligations 9,933,014 11,941,954 2,242,047 3,683,419 1,692,962
Total stockholders’ equity 44,206,333 45,925,107 43,840,829 40,352,926 35,012,578
Total capitalization 54,139,347 57,867,061 46,082,876 44,036,345 36,705,540
Return on average total assets, % 10.0 10.9 125 11.8 10.5
Return on average stockholders’ equity, % 15.7 15.9 16.9 16.2 14.6
Other Financial Data
Net cash flows from operating activities $10,204,749 $ 7,990,115 $ 7,351,850 $ 7,203,258 $ 6,312,118
Capital expenditures 1,193,559 1,191,616 1,356,065 1,811,833 2,436,419
Stockholders’ equity per share 6.92 6.76 6.27 573 5.03
Cash dividends paid per share® 48 .30 27 22 20
Average common shares, basic 6,542,210 6,907,654 7,053,071 6,989,717 6,999,408
Average common shares, diluted 6,576,820 6,955,892 7,144,931 7,096,214 7,051,527
Shares of common stock outstanding 6,391,242 6,794,898 6,993,473 7,043,436 6,956,535

®  EBITDA represents income from operations before taxes, interest expense, interest income, and depreciation and amortization expenses.
®  Fiscal year ended January 31, 2000 included an annual dividend of $.32 per share payable on April 23, 1999 and quarterly dividends of

$.08 per share payable on September 10, 1999 and December 10, 1999.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditlon and Results of
Operations

1.16
STAPLES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (JAN)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

On November 9, 1999, the stockholders of Staples, Inc.
(“Staples” or the “Company™) approved a proposal, ‘the
Tracking Stock Proposal,” which amended the Company’s
certificate of incorporation to (i) authorize the issuance of a
new series of common stock, to be designated as
Staples.com common stock (“Staples.com Stock”), and
intended to reflect the performance of Staples.com, the
Company’s e-commerce business, (i) increase the
aggregate number of shares of common stock that the
Company may issue from 1,500,000,000 to 2,100,000,000,
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initially comprised of 1,500,000,000 shares of Staples Retail
and Delivery common stock (“Staples RD Stock” and
600,000,000 shares of Staples.com Stock, and (iii) re-
classify Staples’ existing common stock as Staples RD
Stock, intended to reflect the performance of Staples Retail
and Delivery (“Staples RD”), which consists of all of the
Company’s non e-commerce businesses and a retained
interest in Staples.com.

Staples RD had an 88% retained interest in Staples.com
as of January 29, 2000. During the fiscal year ended
January 29, 2000, Staples.com issued 6,396,154 shares of
Staples.com Stock in private placements and 7,229,939
shares through the exercise of employee stock options.
Staples.com may issue additional shares of Staples.com
Stock in one or more additional public or private financings.
The specific terms of the initial public offering and other
financings, including the amount of Staples.com Stock to be
issued and the timing thereof, will depend upon factors such
as stock market conditions and the performance of
Staples.com. The effect of those financings on the retained
interest percentage and the outstanding interest percentage
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would depend upon the number of shares of Staples.com
Stock sold and whether the Company elects to attribute the
net proceeds of such financing to the equity of Staples.com
or to Staples RD in respect of its retained interest. The book
value associated with Staples RD’s retained interest in
Staples.com will be increased proportionately for net income
(or decreased proportionately for net loss) of Staples.com.

The Staples RD and Staples.com combined financial
statements comprise all of the accounts included in the
consolidated financial statements of Staples. The separate
business combined financial statements give effect to all
allocation and related party transaction policies as adopted
by the Board of Directors (the “Board”).

The Company now provides to the holders of both
Staples RD Stock and Staples.com Stock separate financial
statements, financial reviews, descriptions of the business,
and other relevant information for Staples RD and
Staples.com, as well as consolidated financial information of
the Company. Notwithstanding the allocation of assets and
liabilities, including contingent liabilities between Staples RD
and Staples.com for the purposes of preparing their
respective combined financial statements, this allocation
and the change in the capital structure of the Company as a
result of the approval of the Tracking Stock Proposal did not
result in the distribution or spin-off to stockholders of any of
the Company’s assets and liabilities and will not affect
ownership of its assets or responsibility for its liabilities or
those of its subsidiaries. The assets the Company attributes
to one business are subject to the liabilities of the other
business, even if such liabilites arise from lawsuits,
contracts or indebtedness attributed to the other business. If
the Company is unable to satisfy one business’s liabilities
out of the assets attributed to it, the Company may be
required to satisfy those liabilities with the assets the
Company has attributed to the other business. Further,
holders of Staples RD Stock and Staples.com Stock will not
have any legal rights related to specific assets of either
business and in any liquidation will receive a fixed share of
the net assets of the Company which may not reflect the
actual trading prices, if any, of the respective businesses at
such time.

The Company intends Staples RD Stock to track the
performance of Staples RD and intends Staples.com Stock
to track the performance of Staples.com. Despite this
intention, the market value of Staples RD Stock may not
track the performance of Staples RD and the market value
of Staples.com Stock may not track the performance of
Staples.com.

The Company intends, for so long as Staples.com Stock
and Staples RD Stock remain outstanding, to include in
Staples’ filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
combined financial statements of Staples.com and Staples
RD as of the same dates and for the same periods as the
consolidated financial statements of Staples included in the
filings. These financial statements will be prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and in the case of annual financial statements, will be
audited.

Financial effects from one business that affect the
Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial
condition could, if significant, affect the results of operations
or financial condition of the other businesses and the market
price of the stock relating to the other businesses. In
addition, net losses of either business and dividends and
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distributions on, or repurchases of, either class of common
stock or repurchases of common stock at a price per share
greater than par value will reduce the funds we can pay on
each class of common stock under Delaware Law.
Accordingly, the Staples consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the Annual Report and
the combined financial information of Staples RD and
Staples.com contained in this report.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended January 29, 2000,
January 30, 1999, and January 31, 1998

General. During the fiscal year ended January 30, 1999,
Staples acquired, in a pooling of interests transaction, Quill
Corporation and certain related entities (collectively referred
to as “Quill") with 1997 net sales of approximately
$551,000,000. The financial information set forth below
includes adjustments to give effect to the acquisition of Quill
for all periods presented. Prior to its acquisition by Staples,
Quill elected to be treated as an S Corporation under the
Internal Revenue Code, and accordingly, its earnings were
not subject to taxation at the corporate level. Pro forma
adjustments have been made to reflect a provision for
income taxes on such previously untaxed earnings for each
period presented at an assumed rate of 40%. The statement
of income combines Staples’ historical operating results for
the fiscal year ended January 31, 1998 with corresponding
Quill operating results for the year ended December 31,
1997.

Sales. Sales increased 25.5% to $8,936,809,000 in the

fiscal year ended January 29, 2000 from $7,123,189,000 in
the fiscal year ended January 30, 1999. Sales increased
24.3% to $7,123,189,000 in the fiscal year ended January
30, 1999 from $5,732,145,000 in the fiscal year ended
January 31, 1998. The growth in each year was attributable
to an increase in the number of open stores, and increased
sales in existing stores and in the delivery and contract
stationer segments of our business. Comparable store and
delivery hub sales for the fiscal year ended January 29,
2000 increased 9% over the fiscal year ended January 30,
1999. Comparable store and delivery hub sales for the year
ended January 30, 1999 increased 11% over the year
ended January 31, 1998. Staples had 1,129 open stores as
of January 29, 2000, 913 open stores as of January 30,
1999, and 742 open stores as of January 31, 1998. The
January 29, 2000 total includes 175 stores opened, 42
stores acquired and one store closed during the twelve
months ended January 29, 2000.
Gross Profit. Gross profit as a percentage of sales was
24.8% for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2000, 24.2% for
the fiscal year ended January 30, 1999, and 23.6% for the
fiscal year ended January 31, 1998. The gross profit rate
was increased by continually improving margins in the retail
and delivery business segments due to lower product costs
from vendors and increased buying efficiencies as well as
the leveraging of fixed distribution center and delivery costs
over a larger sales base. Furthermore, the addition of
Staples Communications, which has higher gross profit
margins than Staples’ traditional business units, contributed
to the increase in gross profit over the prior year. These
increases were partially offset by continued price
reductions.

ATT-SEC 1.16



10 Accounting Trends & Techniques

Operating and Selling Expenses. Operating and selling
expenses, which consist of payroll, advertising and other
operating expenses, were 14.5% of sales for the fiscal year
ended January 29, 2000, 13.9% of sales for the fiscal year
ended January 30, 1999, and 14.1% of sales for the fiscal
year ended January 31, 1998. The increase as a
percentage of sales for the year ended January 29, 2000
was primarily due to increased costs of investing in our
selling operations, including mainly retail and call center
personnel, increased marketing costs in our delivery
operations and Staples.com and the addition of Staples
Communications. Staples Communications has higher
operating and selling expenses as a percentage of sales
than Staples’ traditional business units. These increases
were partially offset by the continued leveraging of fixed
store and delivery operating costs as sales have increased.

Pre-opening expenses. Pre-opening expenses relating to
new store openings, consisting primarily of salaries,
supplies, marketing and occupancy costs, are expensed by
Staples as incurred and therefore fluctuate from period to
period depending on the timing and number of new store
openings. Pre-opening expenses averaged $94,000 per
store for the stores opened during fiscal year ended January
29, 2000, $80,000 per store for stores opened during fiscal
year ended January 30, 1999, and $73,000 per store for the
stores opened during fiscal year ended January 31, 1998.
The increase during the fiscal year ended January 29, 2000
was due primarily to increased openings outside of the
United States which generally involve higher pre-opening
expenses per store. '

General and Administrative. General and administrative
expenses as a percentage of sales were 4.0% for the fiscal
year ended January 29, 2000, 4.2% for the fiscal year
ended January 30, 1999, and 3.9% for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 1998. The decrease as a percentage of sales
for the year ended January 29, 2000 compared to the year
ended January 30, 1999 was primarily due to decreased
Year 2000 compliance and other information systems (“IS”)
costs, synergies realized from the Quill integration and
Staples’ ability to increase sales without proportionately
increasing overhead expenses in its core retail and direct
businesses. These decreases were partially offset by costs
incurred for new businesses, including Staples
Communications and Staples.com, which have higher
general and administrative expenses as a percentage of
sales than Staples’ traditional business units.

Amortization of Goodwill. Amortization of goodwill totaled
$12,014,000 in fiscal year January 29, 2000, $3,739,000 in
fiscal year January 30, 1999 and $3,581,000 in fiscal year
January 31, 1998. The increase in amortization is due to the
goodwill from the acquisitions of Ivan Allen Corporation on
November 1, 1998, Claricom Holdings, Inc., now referred to
as Staples Communications, on February 26, 1999, and
Sigma Burowelt in Germany, Office Centre in the
Netherlands and Office Centre in Portugal on October 6,
1999. ,

Merger-Related and Integration Costs. In connection with
the acquisition of Quill, Staples recorded a charge to
operating expense of $41,000,000 during the year ended
January 30, 1999. The charges reflect transaction costs and
costs to integrate all aspects of the Quill business into
Staples’ delivery business, and include those costs typical in
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the merging of operations, such as rationalization of
facilities, unwinding of various contractual commitments,
asset writedowns and other integration costs.

The merger transaction costs of approximately
$10,500,000 consist primarily of fees for investment
bankers, attorneys, accountants and other related charges.
Included in the integration costs are approximately
$7,000,000 of incremental non-shareholder employee
retention payments. Contract and lease termination costs of
approximately $14,100,000 include the cost to exit
duplicative contracts and distribution centers. Specifically,
the Company is committed to exit distribution centers that
are in locations that are served by both Staples and Quill
facilities. The write-down of leasehold improvements of
approximately $3,500,000 relates to the impairment of
assets at the distribution centers that have been committed
to closure. Other merger-related costs of approximately
$5,900,000 primarily relate to changes in accounting
principles. The restructuring and merger-related charges
were determined based on formal plans approved by the
Company’s management using the best information
available to it at the time. The amounts the Company may
ultimately incur may change as the balance of the
Company’s initiative to integrate the business related to this
merger is executed. Except for net payments under long-
term lease obligations, remaining accruals at January 29,
2000 are expected to be fully utilized during fiscal year
2000.

During the year ended January 31, 1998, Staples charged
to expense non-recurring costs of $29,665,000 in
connection with the proposed merger with Office Depot, Inc.

Store Closure Charge. In December 1998, Staples
committed to a plan to close and relocate stores which
cannot be expanded and upgraded to the Company’s
current store model. In connection with this plan, Staples
recorded a charge to operating expense of $49,706,000.
This charge includes $29,620,000 for future rental payments
under operating lease agreements that will be paid after the
store is closed and will not be subsidized by subtenant
income, $4,966,000 in fees, settlement costs and other
expenses related to store closure and $15,120,000 in asset
impairment charges. At January 29, 2000, the Company
had executed lease agreements for a majority of the stores
identified in 1998 and continues to actively negotiate lease
agreements for the remaining relocation sites. Negotiations
for relocation sites have taken longer to complete than
originally anticipated. Any sites that the Company is unable
to complete negotiations for by the end of the first quarter
2000 will not be closed and the related charges will be
reversed. Through January 29, 2000, the Company has
paid approximately $476,000 in costs related to the store
closures and $34,110,000 remains accrued for future rental
payments, fees, settlement costs, and other expenses
related to the store closures.

Interest and Other Expense, Net. Net interest and other
expense totaled $17,101,000 in the fiscal year ended
January 29, 2000, $17,370,000 in the fiscal year ended
January 30, 1999 and $21,955,000 in the fiscal year ended
January 31, 1998. The interest expense relates primarily to
existing borrowings. The decrease in interest expense
during the years ended January 29, 2000 and January 30,
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1999 is due primarily to the conversion of the Company’s
$300,000,000 of 41/2% Debentures into common stock in
December 1998.

Equity in Loss of Affiliates. Staples’ equity in loss of
affiliates was $5,953,000 in the year ended January 31,
1998. Staples recorded no equity in loss of affiliates for the
year ended January 29, 2000 and January 30, 1999, due to
the acquisition of Staples UK on May 6, 1997 and Staples
Germany on May 7, 1997. As a result of the acquisitions,
Staples’ ownership interest in Staples UK increased to
100% and its ownership of Staples Germany increased to
approximately 92% which was increased to 100% in
December 1998. The transactions were accounted for in
accordance with the purchase method of accounting, and
accordingly, the consolidated results of these entities are
reflected in Staples’ financial statements since the
respective dates of acquisition. Prior to the acquisitions,
Staples UK and Staples Germany were accounted for under
the equity method which resulted in Staples’ share of losses
from operations being included in equity in loss of affiliates.

Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes as a
percentage of pre-tax income was 39% for fiscal year ended
January 29, 2000, 39.5% for fiscal year ended January 30,
1999 and 32.8% for fiscal year ended January 31, 1998. On
a proforma basis, to reflect a provision for income taxes on
previously untaxed earnings of Quill, Staples’ effective tax
rate would have been 40.1% for the fiscal year ended
January 30, 1999 and 38.7% for the year ended January 31,
1998. The increase in the pro forma tax rate in fiscal year
1998 and 1999 was primarily due to non-deductible merger-
related costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Staples has traditionally used a combination of cash
generated from operations and debt or equity offerings to
fund its expansion and acquisition activities. During the
years ended January 29, 2000, January 30, 1999 and
January 31, 1998, Staples also utilized its revolving credit
facility to support its various growth initiatives.

Staples opened 175 stores and closed one store in the
fiscal year ended January 29, 2000, opened 174 stores and
closed three stores in the fiscal year ended January 30,
1999, and opened 130 stores and closed one store in the
fiscal year ended January 31, 1998. In addition, in the fiscal
year ended January 29, 2000, 42 stores were added as a
result of the acquisition of Sigma Burowelt in Germany,
Office Centre in the Netherlands and Office Centre in
Portugal. In the fiscal year ended January 31, 1998, 56
stores were added through the acquisition of Staples UK
and Staples Germany. To the extent that the store base
matures and becomes more profitable, cash generated from
store operations is expected to provide a greater portion of
funds required for new store inventories and other working
capital requirements. Sales generated by the contract
stationer business segment and certain direct mail
customers are made under regular credit terms, which
requires that Staples carry its own receivables from these
sales. As the Company expands its contract and direct mail
businesses worldwide, Staples anticipates that its accounts
receivable portfolio will grow. Receivables from its vendors
under rebate, cooperative advertising and marketing
programs are a significant percentage of Staples’ total
receivables and tend to fluctuate somewhat seasonally.
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Staples also utilized capital equipment financings to fund
current working capital requirements. During the year ended
January 30, 1999, Staples paid approximately $14,000,000
of mortgages in full on five distribution centers acquired
from Quill.

As of January 29, 2000, cash, cash equivalents, and
short-term investments totaled $111,554,000 a decrease of
$263,867,000 from the January 30, 1999 balance of
$375,421,000. This decrease was primarily attributable to
cash used in investing activities of $609,030,000, including
cash used in the acquisition of businesses of $244,021,000
and the acquisiton of property and equipment of
$355,081,000, primarily for the 175 new stores opened. This
decrease was partially offset by cash provided by operating
activities of $299,525,000. Cash provided by operating
activities was comprised primarily of net income,
depreciation and amortization of $174,145,000 and an
increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
current liabilities of $117,855,000, which was partially offset
by an increase in merchandise inventories of $221,463,000
and an increase in accounts receivables of $112,980,000.
Cash provided by financing activities of $60,469,000
includes $281,468,000 of net borrowings and $89,238,000
of proceeds from the sale of capital stock, the exercise of
stock options and the employee stock purchase plan offset
by net treasury stock purchases of $310,238,000.

Staples expects to open approximately 170 stores during
fiscal 2000. Management estimates that the Company’s
cash requirements, including pre-opening expenses,
leasehold improvements and fixtures, will be approximately
$1,500,000 for each new store (excluding the cost of any
acquisitions of lease rights). Accordingly, Staples expects to
use approximately $255,000,000 for store openings during
this period.

During the fiscal year ended January 29, 2000, Staples
executed a stock repurchase program of Staples Stock
intended to provide shares for employee stock programs.
The Board authorized up to $700,000,000 to be used for
these repurchases. During the year ended January 29,
2000, the Company repurchased 12,843,000 shares for
approximately $300,105,000 under this program and
339,000 shares for approximately $10,143,000 from
employees upon exercise of PARS. In addition, on July 2,
1999, Staples entered into an equity forward purchase
agreement to hedge against stock price fluctuations for the
repurchase of its common stock in connection with the
annual stock option grant to employees and directors.
Under the agreement, Staples may purchase 2,600,000
shares at an average price of $30.263 or may elect to settle
the contract on a net share basis in lieu of physical
settlement.

During the fiscal year ended January 29, 2000, Staples
made investments of approximately $23,780,000 in Internet
related companies. Investments that qualify as marketable
securities are carried at fair value and all other investments
are accounted for on a cost basis as each investment
represents an interest of no greater than fifteen percent of
the outstanding stock of that company. As of January 29,
2000, Staples has recognized an unrealized gain on these
investments of $10,975,000.

In February 1999, Staples completed the acquisition of
Claricom Holdings, Inc. and certain related entities, now
referred to as Staples Communications, for a purchase price
of approximately $137,600,000, net of cash acquired. In
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October 1999, Staples completed the acquisition of three
European office supply companies: Sigma Burowelt in
Germany, Office Centre in the Netherlands and Office
Centre in Portugal for a purchase price of approximately
$106,400,000, net of cash acquired.

Staples also plans to continue to make investments in
information systems, distribution centers and store remodels
to improve operational efficiencies and customer service,
and may expend additional funds to acquire businesses or
lease rights from tenants occupying retail space that is
suitable for a Staples store. Staples expects to meet these
cash requirements through a combination of operating cash
flow and borrowings from our existing revolving lines of
credit.

On August 12, 1997, Staples issued $200,000,000 of
7.125% senior notes (the “Notes”) with interest payable
semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year
commencing on February 15, 1998. Net proceeds of
approximately $198,000,000 from the sale of the Notes
were used for repayment of indebtedness under Staples’
revolving credit agreement and for general working capital
purposes, including the financing of new store openings,
distribution facilities and corporate offices.

Staples issued notes in the aggregate principal amount of
150,000,000 euros on November 15, 1999 (the “Euro
Bonds”). Net proceeds of approximately $148,000,000 from
the Euro Bonds were used to fund international expansion.
The Euro Bonds bear interest at a rate of 5.875% per
annum and are due on November 15, 2004. The Euro
Bonds have been designated as a foreign currency hedge
on our net investment in Euro denominated subsidiaries and
gains or losses are recorded in the cumulative translation
adjustment line in Stockholders' Equity.

Staples also maintains a revolving credit facility, effective
through November 2002, with a syndicate of banks which
provides up to $350,000,000 of available borrowings.
Borrowings made pursuant to this facility will bear interest at
either the lead bank’s prime rate, the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, the LIBOR rate plus a percentage spread based
upon certain defined ratios, a competitive bid rate or a swing
line loan rate. This agreement, among other conditions,
contains certain restrictive covenants, including net worth
maintenance, minimum fixed charge interest coverage and
limitations on indebtedness and sales of assets.

As of January 29, 2000, $150,000,000 was outstanding
under the revolving credit agreement. Staples also has
available $35,000,000 in uncommitted, short-term bank
credit lines, of which no borrowings were outstanding as of
January 29, 2000. Staples UK has a $48,600,000 line of
credit which had an outstanding balance of $4,455,000 at
January 29, 2000. Staples Germany has a $19,900,000 line
of credit, Office Centre Netherlands has a $6,600,000 line of
credit, Office Centre Portugal has a $500,000 line of credit
and Business Depot has a $6,900,000 line of credit, all with
no-outstanding balances at January 29, 2000. Total cash,
short-term investments and available revolving credit
amounts totaled $424,740,000 as of January 29, 2000.

Staples expects that income from operations, together
with its current short-term investments, funds available
under its revolving .credit facility and the funds received
through the issuance of the Euro Bond, will be sufficient to
fund Staples’ planned store openings and other recurring
operating cash needs for at least the next twelve to eighteen
months. Staples continually evaluates financing possibilities,
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and it may seek to raise additional funds through any one or
a combination of public or private debt or equity-related
offerings, dependent upon market conditions, or through an
additional commercial bank debt arrangement.

The Company filed a registration statement with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 18, 2000
for an initial public offering of Staples.com Stock.

Inflation and Seasonality

While neither inflation nor deflation has had, and Staples
does not expect it to have, a material impact upon operating
results, there can be no assurance that our business will not
be affected by inflation or deflation in the future. We believe
that our business is somewhat seasonal, with sales and
profitability slightly lower during the first and second
quarters of our fiscal year.

Future Operating Results

This annual report on Form 10-K/A includes or incorporates
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You can identify these
forward-looking statements by the use of the words
“believes”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “expects”, “may”, “will",
“‘would”, ‘“intends”, “estimates” and other similar
expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative. We
cannot guarantee that we actually will achieve the plans,
intentions or expectations disclosed in the forward looking
statements made. We have included important factors in the
cautionary statements below that we believe could cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking
statements contained herein. The forward-looking
statements do not refiect the potential impact of any future
acquisitions, mergers or dispositions. We do not assume
any obligation to update any forward-looking statement
contained herein.

Our market is highly competitive and we may not continue
to compete successfully. We compete in a highly
competitive marketplace with a variety of retailers, dealers
and distributors. In most of our geographic markets, we
compete with other high-volume office supply chains, such
as Office Depot, OfficeMax and Office World, that have
store formats, pricing strategies and product selections that
are similar to ours. We also compete with mass merchants,
such as Wal-Mart, warehouse clubs, computer and
electronic superstores, and other discount retailers. In
addition, our retail stores and delivery and contract
businesses compete with numerous mail order firms,
contract stationer businesses and direct manufacturers.
Many of our competitors, including Office Depot, OfficeMax
and Wal-Mart, have in recent years significantly increased
the number of stores they operate within our markets. Some
of our current and potential competitors are larger than us
and have substantially greater financial resources. It is
possible that increased competition or improved
performance by our competitors may reduce our market
share, may force the Company to charge lower prices than
it otherwise would, and may adversely affect our business
and financial performance in other ways.

We may be unable to continue to successfully open new
stores. An important part of our business plan is to
aggressively increase the number of our stores. We opened
175 stores in the United States, Canada and Europe in
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fiscal 1999 and plan to open approximately 170 new stores
in fiscal 2000. For our growth strategy to be successful, we
must identify and lease favorable store sites, hire and train
employees and adapt the Company's management and
operational systems to meet the needs of our expanded
operations. These tasks may be difficult to accomplish
successfully. If we are unable to open new stores as quickly
as we plan, the Company’s future sales and profits could be
materially and adversely affected. Even if we succeed in
opening new stores, new stores may not achieve the same
sales or profit levels as Staples’ existing stores. Also, our
expansion strategy includes opening new stores in markets
where we have a presence so that we can take advantage
of economies of scale in marketing, distribution and
supervision costs. However, these new stores may result in
the loss of sales in existing stores in nearby areas.

Our quarterly operating results are subject to significant
fluctuation. Our operating results have fluctuated from
quarter to quarter in the past, and we expect that they will
continue to do so in the future. Our earnings may not
continue to grow at rates similar to the growth rates
achieved in recent years and may fall short of either a prior
fiscal period or investors’ expectations. Factors that could
cause these quarterly fluctuations include the following:

® the number of new store openings, primarily because

we expense pre-opening costs as incurred and newer
stores are less profitable than mature stores;

e the extent to which sales in new stores result in the
loss of sales in existing stores;

o the mix of products sold;

® pricing actions of competitors;

e the level of advertising and promotional expenses;

® seasonality, primarily because the sales and

profitability of our stores are typically slightly lower in
the first and second quarter of its fiscal year than in
other quarters; and

® charges associated with acquisitions.

Most of our operating expenses, such as rent expense,
advertising expense and employee salaries, do not vary
directly with the amount of our sales and are difficult to
adjust in the short term. As a result, if sales in a particular
quarter are below our expectations for that quarter, we
could not proportionately reduce operating expenses for that
quarter, and therefore this sales shortfall would have a
disproportionate effect on the Company’s expected net
income for the quarter.

Our stock price may fluctuate based on the expectations
of professional security analysts. The market price of our
two classes of common stock is based in large part on
professional securities analysts’ expectations that our
business will continue to grow and that the Company will
achieve certain levels of net income. If the financial
performance of one or both of our businesses in a particular
quarter does not meet the expectations of securities
analysts, this may adversely affect the views of those
securities analysts concerning the growth potential and
future financial performance of that business or of Staples
as a whole. If the securities analysts that regularly follow
one or both classes of our common stock lower their rating
or lower their projections for future growth and financial
performance, the market price of one or both classes of our
common stock is likely to drop significantly. In addition, in
those circumstances the decrease in the stock price would
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probably be disproportionate to the shortfall in the
Company’s financial performance.

Our rapid growth may continue to strain operations, which
could adversely affect the business and financial results.
Our business, including sales, number of stores and number
of employees, has grown dramatically over the past several
years. In addition, we have acquired a number of significant
companies in the last few years and may make additional
acquisitions in the future. This growth has placed significant
demands on our management and operational systems. If
we are not successful in upgrading our operational and
financial systems, expanding our management team and
increasing and effectively managing our employee base,
this growth is likely to result in operational inefficiencies and
ineffective management of our businesses and employees,
which will in turn adversely affect the Company’s business
and financial performance.

Our intemational operations may not become profitable.
We currently operate in international markets through The
Business Depot Ltd. in Canada, Staples UK in the United
Kingdom, Staples Deutschland and Sigma Burowelt in
Germany and Office Centre in the Netherlands and
Portugal. Consolidated European operations are currently
unprofitable, and we cannot guarantee that they will become
profitable. We may seek to expand into other international
markets in the future. Our foreign operations encounter risks
similar to those faced by our US stores, as well as risks
inherent in foreign operations, such as local customs and
competitive conditions and foreign currency fluctuations.

We may be unable to obtain adequate future financing. It
is possible that we will require additional sources of
financing earlier than anticipated, as a result of unexpected
cash needs or opportunities, an expanded growth strategy
or disappointing operating results. Additional funds may not
be available on satisfactory terms when needed, whether
within the next twelve to eighteen months or thereafter.

Year 2000 Compliance

We completed a comprehensive assessment of our internal
computer systems and applications to identify those that
might be affected by computer programs using two digits
rather than four to define the applicable year (the “Year
2000 issue”). We used internal personnel as well as
external contractors and consultants to identify those
systems and applications which might be affected by the
Year 2000 issue. All systems, applications and
infrastructure identified as needing remediation have been
replaced or modified and successfully tested for
compliance. In addition, we completed full “end to end”
testing of leap year dating in January 2000.

We did not experience any disruption of our computer
systems, non-IT related systems, product replenishment
from our suppliers or any order entry issues with our
contract and/or commercial customers as we entered the
Year 2000.

The total cost of Year 2000 compliance was $27,000,000,
which had been spent as of January 29, 2000. Most of the
costs incurred related to remediation and testing of software
using outside contracted services. The cost of compliance
was included in the 1999 IT budgets. The inclusion of Year
2000 compliance has not caused any critical IT projects to
be delayed or eliminated.
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Euro Currency

On January 1, 1999, certain member countries of the
European Union established fixed conversion rates between
their existing currencies and the European Union’s common
currency, (“the euro”). The former currencies of the
participating countries are scheduled to remain legal tender
as denominations of the euro until January 1, 2002 when
the euro will be adopted as the sole legal currency.

Staples has evaluated the potential impact of the euro on
its business, including the ability of its information systems
to handle euro-denominated transactions and the impact on
exchange costs and currency exchange rate risks. The
conversion to the euro is not expected to have a material
impact on Staples’ operations or financial position.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risks

Staples is exposed to market risk from changes in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates and has a risk
management control process to monitor such risks. The risk
management process uses analytical techniques including
market value, sensitivity analysis, and value at risk
estimates. Staples does not believe that the potential
exposure is significant in light of the size of our business.

On May 11, 1999 and August 3, 1999, Staples entered
into interest rate swaps, each for an aggregate notional
amount of $100,000,000, in order to minimize financing
costs associated with our $200,000,000 of 7.125% senior
notes due August 15, 2007. The swap agreements are both
scheduled to terminate on August 15, 2007. Under the
interest rate swap agreements, Staples is entitied to receive
semi-annual interest payments at a fixed rate of
approximately 7.125% and is obligated to pay interest
based on 30 day Non-Financial US Commercial Rate plus
107 basis points and 31.875 basis points, respectively,
currently approximately 6.76% and 6.01%. The interest rate
swaps are being accounted for as a hedge and the
differential to be paid or received on the interest rate swap
agreements is accrued and recognized as an adjustment to
interest expense over the life of the agreements. If Staples
and the counterparty to the agreements terminate the
swaps prior to their original maturity, any gain or loss upon
termination will be amortized to interest expense over the
remaining original life of the agreements. Staples uses
interest rate and currency swap agreements for purposes
other than trading and they are treated as off-balance sheet
items. Staples uses interest rate swap agreements to
modify fixed rate obligations to variable rate obligations,
thereby adjusting the interest rates to current market rates
and ensuring that debt instruments are always reflected at
fair value.

On July 2, 1999, Staples entered into an equity forward
purchase agreement to hedge against stock price
fluctuations for the repurchase of Staples Stock in
connection with the annual stock option grant to employees
and directors. Under the agreement Staples may purchase
2,600,000 shares at an average price of $30.263 or elect to
settle the contract on a net share basis in lieu of physical
settiement.

On November 15, 1999, Staples entered into an interest
rate swap for an aggregate notional amount of 150,000,000
euro in order to minimize financing costs on the notes
issued the same date. The swap agreement is scheduled to
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terminate on November 15, 2004. Under the interest rate
swap agreement, Staples is entitled to receive annual
interest payments at a fixed rate of approximately 5.875%
and is required to make quarterly interest payments at a
floating rate of the one month EURIBOR plus 1.1175%,
currently approximately 4.1475%. Staples has designated
its 150,000,000 Euro Bonds and its interest rate swap
agreement to be an integrated transaction. Accordingly, the
interest rate swap agreement is being accounted for as a
hedge and the differential to be paid or received on the
interest rate swap agreement is accrued and recognized as
an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the
agreement.

Staples is exposed to foreign exchange risks through
subsidiaries in Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, the
Netherlands and Portugal. Staples has not entered into any
derivative financial instruments to hedge this exposure, and
Staples believes that the potential exposure is not material
to our overall financial position or our results of operations.

This risk management discussion and discussion of the
effects of changes in interest rates and foreign exchange
rates are forward-looking statements. Actual future results
may differ materially from these projected results due to
developments in the global financial markets. The analytical
methods used by Staples to assess and mitigate risk
discussed above should not be considered projections of
future events or losses.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis, as well as the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and
related footnotes, will aid in understanding the Company’s
results of operations as well as its financial position, cash
flows, indebtedness and other key financial information. The
following discussion may contain forward-looking
statements. In connection therewith, please see the
cautionary statements contained herein, which identify
important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements.

Business Segment Highlights
(In thousands)

The following tables present the contribution to sales and
operating profit from each of the Company’'s business
segments. Business segment data for prior years have been
restated to reflect the Company’s current business
segments that comprise earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before taxes.
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Sales Special ltems
Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
1999 1998 1997 (In thousands) 1999 1998 1997
Power Products $536,236 $ 555,507 $ 558,393 Tactical Vehicle Systems
Tactical Vehicle Systems 150,884 455,399 396,734 Estimated costs associated with
Petroleum Equipment 82,085 115,800 83,096 a government directive $ — $40,000 $ —
Airline Products 104,785 32,603 35,975 Charge related to a series of
Other Business Activities 37,712 47,463 40,836 claims f — 36,849 $ -
Change in estimated profit at
Total Segment Sales $911,702  $1,206,772 $1,115,034 completion _ 9.700 6,703
Operating Profit (Loss) : Power Products
Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Gain on sale of construction
1999 1998 1997 equipment franchise - - (4,369)
Power Products $15244 § 23638 $ 34,120 Other Business Activities
Tactical Vehicle Systems 30,217 (77,717) (10,005) Gain on sale of investments (5,443) - -
Petroleum Equipment 2,099 10,245 5,695 Interest income on proceeds from
Airline Products (3,697) (830) (3,409) sale of gas turbine business - (8,654) -
Other Business Activities (652) (4,476) (1,924) Special Charges —_ — 23,352
Total Operating Profit (Loss) 43,211 (48,940) 24,477 Pretax (benefit) charge (5,443) 77,895 45,686
Corporate expenses, n'et (10,044) (1 1 ,452) (9,81 6) Tax (expense) benefit (35% tax
Non-operating interest income 29 10,925 1,941 rate assumed)” (1,495) 27 963 15,990
Interest expense (9,991) (12,244) (15,440) — - '
Litigation and special charges - — (23,352) Special items, net of tax $(3,948)  $50,632 $29,696

Eamings (loss) from continuing

operations before taxes $23205 $ (61,711) $ (22,190)

Operating Profit (Loss) as a

Percentage of Sales

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
1999 1998 1997
Power Products 2.8% 4.3% 6.1%
Tactical Vehicle Systems 20.0 (17.1) (2.5)
Petroleum Equipment 26 8.8 6.9
Airline Products (3.5) (1.9) (9.5)
Other Business Activities (1.7) (9.4) 4.7)
Consolidated 4.7 (4.1) 2.2

Special ltems

Special items are unusual or infrequent events or
transactions that may affect comparability of the results of
continuing operations between years. The special items
included in the Fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997 results are
shown below:
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® For Fiscal 1999, the actual tax for the gain on the sale of the
investments was used.

Results of Operations
Fiscal 1999 vs. Fiscal 1998

Sales for Fiscal 1999 totaled $912 million, a decrease of
24% from Fiscal 1998 sales of $1,207 million. Net earnings
from continuing operations for Fiscal 1999 totaled $17
million or $0.62 per share as compared to a net loss from
continuing operations of $39 million or $1.34 per share for
Fiscal 1998. Results for Fiscal 1999 included a $3 million
after-tax gain on the sale of the Company’s fifty percent
interest in an unconsolidated affiliate and a $1 million after-
tax gain on the sale of an investment. Excluding these
special items, net earnings from continuing operations for
Fiscal 1999 totaled $14 million or $0.50 per share. Results
for Fiscal 1998 included $51 million after taxes in special
charges pertaining to (1) a government directive to make
certain changes to drive train components of the FMTV ($26
million), (2) claims for additional costs arising out of
government caused delays and changes in the FMTV
program ($24 million), (3) charges for cost overruns and
superceded material in the FMTV program ($6 million) and
(4) partially offsetting interest income on proceeds from sale
of the gas turbine business ($5 million). Excluding these
special items, net earnings from continuing operations for
Fiscal 1998 totaled $12 million or $0.40 per share. The
Company reported an operating profit of $43 million in
Fiscal 1999 compared with an operating loss of $49 million
in Fiscal 1998.
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The Power Products segment recorded sales of $536
million in Fiscal 1999, 3% lower than Fiscal 1998 sales of
$556 million. Operating profit for Fiscal 1999 was $15
million, compared with $24 million in Fiscal 1998. The
segment absorbed $1 million of charges in Fiscal 1999 in
connection with corporate initiatives to improve business
performance and $2 milion in inventory charges.
Performance in the Power Products segment continues to
vary by market. Equipment and parts sales were adversely
impacted by softness in oil and gas markets.

The Tactical Vehicle Systems segment recorded sales of
$151 million in Fiscal 1999 versus $455 million a year ago,
primarily as a result of an anticipated production hiatus
between contracts. Deliveries on the initial contract were
completed in January 1999, and production start-up on the
new contract began during the third quarter of Fiscal 1999.
An operating profit of $30 million was recorded in Fiscal
1999 as compared to an operating loss of $78 million for the
prior year that included $87 million in special charges.
Improved operating margins resulted from an effective cost
reduction program and a higher initial sales price per truck
sold to compensate for costs incurred during the production
shut-down.

Sales for the Petroleum Equipment segment totaled $82
million for Fiscal 1999, a decrease of 29% from $116 million
recorded in the prior year. The segment reported an
operating profit of $2 million for Fiscal 1999 as compared to
an operating profit of $10 million in the prior year. The
decrease in sales and operating profit resulted from a
depleted order backlog in the depressed oil and gas
markets.

The Airline Products segment achieved sales of $105
million in Fiscal 1999, an increase of 221% over Fiscal 1998
sales of $33 miillion, reflecting both the full-year impact of
the acquisition of the airline products business from Tug
Manufacturing Corporation and improved sales of previously
existing products. An operating loss of $4 million was
recorded for Fiscal 1999, as compared to an operating loss
of $1 million in the prior year. The operating loss for Fiscal
1999 included charges of $5 million for new product
development and inventory write-offs.

All other business activities not defined as a specific
segment include gas compression equipment and related
services and other miscellaneous sales. Sales for these
activities totaled $38 million for Fiscal 1999, as compared to
Fiscal 1998 sales of $47 million. Operating losses of $1
million and $4 million were recorded for Fiscal 1999 and
1998, respectively, largely due to the establishment of
inventory reserves and under-recovered costs associated
with restructuring of pooled manufacturing facilities.

Fiscal 1998 vs. Fiscal 1997

Sales for Fiscal 1998 totaled $1,207 million, an increase
of 8% over Fiscal 1997 sales of $1,115 million. Net losses
from continuing operations for Fiscal 1998 totaled $39
million or $1.34 per share as compared to net losses from
continuing operations of $14 million or $0.44 per share for
Fiscal 1997. Results for Fiscal 1998 included $51 million
after taxes in special charges pertaining to (1) a government
directive to make certain changes to drive train components
of the FMTV ($26 million), (2) claims for additional costs
arising out of government caused delays and changes in the
FMTV program ($24 million), (3) charges for cost overruns
and superceded material in the FMTV program ($6 million)
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and (4) partially offsetting interest income on proceeds from
sale of the gas turbine business ($5 million). Fiscal year
1997 results from continuing operations included special
charges totaling $30 million comprised of (1) higher costs to
complete the initial FMTV contracts ($17 million), (2)
settlement of a government claim ($9 million), (3) resolution
of litigation arising from a 1987 contract to supply diesel
generator sets ($7 million), and (4) gain on sale of the
Company’s John Deere franchise in Houston, Texas ($3
million). Excluding these special items, net eamings from
continuing operations for Fiscal 1998 and 1997 totaled $12
million or $0.40 per share and $16 million or $0.48 per
share, respectively. The Company reported a $49 million
operating loss for Fiscal 1998 compared with a $24 million
operating profit for Fiscal 1997.

The Power Products segment recorded sales of $556
million during Fiscal 1998, virtually flat when compared with
Fiscal 1997 sales of $558 miillion. Sales were affected by
several factors. In particular, sales were higher as a result of
recent business acquisitions, but such increase was offset
by (1) lower equipment, paris, and services sales in
branches supplying the petroleum industry (due primarily to
depressed oil and gas prices) and (2) the sale of the
Company’s construction equipment business in Fiscal 1997.
Operating profits in the Power Products segment for Fiscal
1998 totaled $24 million compared with $34 million for the
prior year. Operating profits decreased as a result of
weakness in the petroleum industry, increased reserves for
exposures in accounts receivable and inventory from the
decline in the financial condition of the petroleum industry,
and increased costs arising out of recent business
acquisitions.

The Tactical Vehicle Systems segment recorded sales of
$455 million in Fiscal 1998, an increase of $59 miillion (15%)
over Fiscal 1997. An operating loss of $78 million was
recorded for Fiscal 1998 and included: (1) a $40 million
charge for estimated costs associated with a government
directive to make certain changes in the drive train
components of the FMTV; (2) a $37 million charge related to
a series of claims for additional costs arising from
government caused delays and changes; and (3) a $10
million charge to cost of sales relating to cost overruns and
superseded materials on the original contract. The Tactical
Vehicle Systems segment reported an operating loss of $10
million in Fiscal 1997.

The Petroleum Equipment segment achieved sales and
operating profits of $116 million and $10 million,
respectively, for Fiscal 1998, which compared favorably with
Fiscal 1997 sales of $83 million and profits of $6 million.
This segment reported sustained quarter-to-quarter
improvement during Fiscal 1998, largely on the strength of
new product introductions such as marine riser systems.

The Airline Products segment sales totaled $33 million for
Fiscal 1998, a 9% decrease from sales of $36 million
recorded for Fiscal 1997. Airline Products sales were
impacted by the weak Asian market, with an offsetting
increase from the acquisiton of Tug Manufacturing
Corporation in late December 1998. Operating losses for
Fiscal 1998 and 1997 totaled $1 million and $3 million,
respectively, and included product development costs in
Fiscal 1998 and asset write-offs and product warranty
charges in Fiscal 1997.

Sales for other business activities totaled $47 million for
Fiscal 1998, compared to $41 million for Fiscal 1997. Lower
gas compression revenues were more than offset by higher
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miscellaneous sales. Both years were impacted by under-
recovered costs associated with the restructuring of pooled
manufacturing facilities. In addition, Fiscal 1998 included
startup costs in the gas compression leasing and services
business.

Period Expenses

Net Period Expenses

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
(In thousands) 1999 1998 1997
Selling and administrative
expenses $109,038 $90,857  $ 75,619
Interest expense 9,991 12,244 15,440
Special charges - — 23,352
Gain on sale of construction
equipment franchise (4,369)

Other income, net (7,396) (12,706) (4,867)
$111,633 $90,395  $105,175

Net period expenses as a
percentage of sales 12.2% 7.5% 9.4%

Period expenses for Fiscal 1999 totaled $112 million or
12.2% of sales compared with $90 million or 7.5% of sales
in Fiscal 1998 and $105 million or 9.4% of sales in Fiscal
1997. Increases in selling and administrative expenses
during the last two years were largely due to business
acquisitions and process and technology improvement
initiatives. Interest expense decreased $2 million in Fiscal
1999 due to improved cash flow performance. The $3
million decrease in interest expense in 1998 resulted from a
reduction in borrowings accomplished with funds received
from sale of the GTO.

Special charges in Fiscal 1997 totaled $23 million
including $10 million in expenses arising from the
Company’s resolution of litigation relating to a 1987 contract
to supply diesel generator sets, and $13 million associated
with settling a claim by the Company for excessive costs
incurred on a U.S. Government contract.

On October 6, 1997, the Company sold its construction
equipment franchise for $30 million and recognized a gain
on the sale of $4 million. The construction equipment
franchise operated in the gulf coast territory of Texas and
primarily distributed, and provided services for, products
manufactured by John Deere Construction Equipment
Company and other companies engaged in the business of
manufacturing earth moving equipment, forestry equipment,
skidsteer equipment and utility equipment.

Other income, net, for Fiscal 1999 included a $1.9 million
recovery of value added taxes and harbor taxes, and a $1.8
million gain on the sale of an investment. Other income, net,
for Fiscal 1998 included approximately $9 million in interest
income earned on proceeds from sale of GTO.
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Continuing/Discontinued Operations

Net Earnings (Loss)

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

(in thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Continuing operations $17,451 $(39,005)  $(14,505)

Discontinued operations - - 5424
Gain on disposal of discontinued

operations 6,879 (33,979) 61,344

Net eamings (loss) $24,330 $(72,984) $52,263

The net earnings from continuing operations for Fiscal 1999
was $17 million versus a loss of $39 million in Fiscal 1998
and a loss of $15 million in Fiscal 1997. All three years had
special items which significantly impacted performance. See
“Special Items.” Excluding special items, net of tax, of $4
million income in Fiscal 1999, $51 million expense in Fiscal
1998, and $30 million expense in Fiscal 1997, net earnings
from continuing operations for Fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997
would have been $14 million, $12 million, and $15 million,
respectively.

The net loss from discontinued operations in Fiscal 1998
totaled $34.0 million and represented the equivalent of
$1.17 per share. The Company recorded an after-tax
charge, net of accruals, of $20 million relating to certain
contractual purchase price adjustments associated with the
sale of GTO to the General Electric Company (“GE”) and
$14 million for a probable liability associated with a debt
guarantee related to the Company’s investment in a power
generation facility in Argentina. During the fourth quarter of
Fiscal 1999, the Company disposed of the investment and
related obligations, resulting in a $7 million gain net of tax.
The guarantee arose as part of the Company’s Gas Turbine
Operations; accordingly, the gain has been reflected in
results from discontinued operations.

During Fiscal 1997, the Company completed the sale of
the net assets of GTO to GE for $600 million, with
subsequent downward adjustments of $84 miillion in Fiscal
1998. The Company used these funds to retire $260 million
of debt, repurchase $120 million of its outstanding stock,
and acquire four businesses at a cost of approximately $34
million.

The total net earnings for Fiscal 1999 was $24 million or
$0.87 per share versus a loss of $73 million or $2.51 per
share in Fiscal 1998 and earnings of $52 million or $1.57
per share in 1997.

ATT-SEC 1.17
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Financial Condition

Working Capital
(In thousands) January 31, 2000 January 31, 1999
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,715 $ 12,959
Accounts and notes receivable, net 242,625 164,547
Recoverable costs and accrued
profits not yet billed 8,151 99,097
Income tax receivable 26,255 38,027
Deferred tax asset 9,076 10,569
Inventories 190,947 215,202
Total Current Assets $488,769 $504,401
Current Liabilities
Notes payable $ 25,269 $ 17,468
Accounts payable 90,163 83,127
Accrued payrolls and incentives 18,701 17,123
Income tax payable 3,257 2,931
Current portion of long-term debt 8,955 69,488
Other accrued liabilities 65,903 95,349
Total Current Liabilities $212,248 $285,486
Working Capital $276,521 $254,915
Current Ratio 2.30:1 1.89:1

Current assets decreased from $540 million to $489 miillion,
a reduction of $51 million or 9%. Accounts and notes
receivable increased $78 million, and included $61 million in
amounts billed to the U.S. government which were collected
in February 2000 and $8 million in notes receivable
associated with marine sales. Recoverable costs declined
$91 million or 92%, primarily reflecting the liquidation of the
original FMTV contract. Inventories decreased by $24
milion or 11%, reflecting the benefit of an inventory
reduction program, partially offset by inventory buildup
associated with entering the gas compression business and
the acquisition of a transition supply of discontinued 2-cycle
diesel engines.

Current liabilities were reduced $73 million at the end of
Fiscal 1999 compared to Fiscal 1998 by the payment of $61
million in notes payable, a $29 million reduction in other
accrued liabilities associated with expenditures to perform
under a government directive, and the elimination of the Ave
Fenix guarantee obligation retained in connection with the
sale of GTO, and patrtially offsetting increases in accounts
and notes payable.

The Company’s current ratio improved from 1.89 at the
end of Fiscal 1998 to 2.30 at the end of Fiscal 1999.

Long Lived Assets

(In thousands) January 31, 2000 January 31, 1999
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 99,844 $101,029
Revenue earning assets, net 29,690 27,716
Deferred income tax asset 166 7,904
Investments and other assets 23,881 28,727

$153,581 $165,376

Long lived assets decreased by $12 million in Fiscal 1999.
Property, plant and equipment includes acquisition costs,
net of depreciation, for property, plant and equipment.
Revenue earning assets, net, represents the undepreciated
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value of equipment used in gas compression, material
handling, power generation and the air compression rental
businesses. At the end of Fiscal 1998, the Company
recorded deferred tax assets representing the future tax
benefits of certain accrued long-term reserves, which were
recovered in Fiscal 1999. The decline in investments and
other assets during Fiscal 1999 was principally the result of
a reduction in the long-term portion of notes receivable and
the sale of certain investments.

Capital Structure

January 31, 2000 January 31, 1999

(In thousands) Amount Percentage  Amount Percentage
Long-Term Debt $ 78,281 18.2% $ 83,530 19.9%
Other Long-Term
Liabilities 16,742 3.9 16,398 39
Shareholders’ Equity 335,079 77.9 320,363 76.2
$430,102  100.0% $420,291  100.0%

The Company’s capital structure consists primarily of
shareholders’ equity and long-term debt. The capital
structure increased by $10 million during Fiscal 1999,
primarily due to net earnings of $24 million (less dividends
of $10 million), and a reduction of long-term debt. During
Fiscal 1998, the Company repurchased 5,265,120 shares of
its common stock which resulted in a reduction of
shareholders’ equity of $120 million. The Company’s capital
was further reduced in Fiscal 1998 by both the Company’s
net loss of $73 milion and the reduction of current
maturities of long-term debt totaling $69 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s sources of cash liquidity included cash and
cash equivalents, cash from operations, amounts available
under credit facilities, and other external sources of funds.
The Company believes that these sources are sufficient to
fund the current requirements of working capital, capital
expenditures, dividends, and other financial commitments.
The Company has in place an unsecured revolving debt
facility that could provide up to approximately $150 million,
net of a $25 million letter of credit facility, of which
approximately $62 million was available at January 31,
2000, due to certain limitations as a result of modifications
made effective January 31, 1999.

Based on current earnings projections, the Company
expects full access to the $150 million facility during the last
half of Fiscal 2000. For additional Information, see “Note 9:
Debt Arrangements.” This revolving facility matures during
Fiscal 2001.

The Company has additional banking relationships which
provide uncommitted borrowing arrangements. In the event
that any acquisition of additional operations, growth in
existing operations, settlements of other lawsuits or
disputes, changes in inventory levels, accounts receivable,
tax payments or other working capital items create a
permanent need for working capital or capital expenditures
in excess of the existing cash and cash equivalents and
committed lines of credit, the Company may seek to borrow
under other long-term financing sources or to curtail certain
activities.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s cash

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

flows from operating, investing and financing activities as Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. (In thousands) 1999 1998 1997
; Expenditures for property,
Summarized Statement of Cash 'Flows ' : plant and equipment $(38,573)  $(39,565)  $(31,778)
Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Proceeds from sale of business
(In thousands) 1999 1998 1997 assets 8,303 4,597 22,773
Net cash (used in) provided by: Acquisition of businesses (5,832) (33,659) (8,729)
Operating activities $88,274  $428,075  $(11,916) Disposal of property, plant and
Investing activities (22,0200  (65249)  (14,236) equipment 14,082 3,378 3,498
$(1,244) $ (6,028) $ 9,881 activities $(22,020)  $(65,249)  $(14,236)
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities During Fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, the Company invested
Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal significant amounts into property, plant and equipment to
(in thousands) 1999 1998 1997 expand its existing businesses. Fiscal 1999 expenditures
- included approximately $20.4 million in revenue earning
Net earnings (loss) from assets and $18.2 million in normal plant and equipment. In
continuing operations ~ $17,451  § (39,005)  $(14,505) addition, the Company sold approximately $16 million of
Accrued postretirement benefits (271) (237) (1,835) revenue earning assets in Fiscal 1999 to third parties. Fiscal
Depreciation and amortization 22,298 19,636 22447 1998 included expenditures of $13.1 million related to the
Deferred income taxes, net (2310)  (10,760) (3,350) acquisition and buildup of the Company’s gas compression
(Gain) loss on sale of business rental fleet.
assets ) (5,804) 53 (4,369) Proceeds from sale of business assets in Fiscal 1999
Change in operating assets and totaled $8 million and consisted of sale of investments in (1)
liabilities, net 60,197 (57,612) 70,639 GFI Control Systems, Inc., a gaseous fuel injection joint
Net cash provided by (used in) venture located in Ontario, Canada ($4 million); and (2)
continuing operations 91,561 (87,925) 69,027 Syracuse Orange Partners, L.P., a cogeneration facility
Net cash (used in) provided by located in Syracuse, New York ($3 million); and (3) a facility
discontinued operations (3,287) 516,000 (80,943) in North Dakota ($1 million).
. : Acquisitions of businesses in Fiscal 1999 consisted of the
Net cash provided by (used in) - e
operating activities $(68,274) $(428,075)  $(11,916) purchase of Thermo King of Northern California for

Net cash provided by continuing operations in Fiscal 1999
totaled $92 million and included a $60 million change in net
operating assets and liabilities resulting primarily from the
liquidation of the original FMTV contract and lower
inventories. During Fiscal 1998 the Company’s continuing
operations consumed $88 million of funds, primarily caused
by net losses from continuing operations, and a change in
net operating assets and liabilities largely resulting from
certain tax events, including the payment of income taxes
associated with the sale of GTO and the accrual of certain
reserves which under tax regulations were not deductible
during Fiscal 1998. The cash consumed by discontinued
operations in Fiscal 1997 reflects the net results of the GTO
activities, whereas in Fiscal 1998 cash provided by
discontinued operations represents the net collection of the
proceeds from the sale of the GTO business. Usage in
Fiscal 1999 was related to disposition of an investment and
related obligations pertaining to a power generation plant in
Argentina.
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approximately $6 million.

Business acquisitions in Fiscal 1998 included the assets
of Compression Specialties, Inc., a Wyoming based gas
compression leasing and service company ($9 million), the
stock of IPSC Co., Inc., the Deutz engine distributor for
Louisiana, Mississippi, Arkansas, and Western Tennessee,
($4.2 million), the Deutz distributorship franchise for Texas,
Oklahoma, and Kansas from Harley Equipment Company,
H & H Rubber, Inc.,, a manufacturer of specialty rubber
products, for ($4 million), and Tug Manufacturing
Corporation, an airline ground support equipment
manufacturer, for approximately $13 million in cash and $3
million in additional purchase price to be paid ratably over
three years. During October 1998, the Company sold the
net assets of Carson Cogeneration LLP (discussed below).

During Fiscal 1997, the Company transferred a gas
turbine valued at approximately $5 million from its
discontinued operations inventory to the property, plant and
equipment of the Company’s other operations, to support its
interests and obligations associated with a retained
investment in a power plant in Argentina. In April 1997, the
Company acquired ownership of Sierra Detroit Diesel
Allison, Inc., a Detroit Diesel and Allison Transmission
distributor for Northern California. In September 1997, the
Company also acquired Carson Cogeneration LLP, an
independent power producer in California. In October 1997,
the Company sold its Houston construction equipment
distributorship.

ATT-SEC 1.17
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Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Financing Activities

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

(in thousands) 1999 1998 1997
Additions to long-term

borrowings $16,23¢ $ 25,000 $76,153
Payments on long-term

borrowings (82,016)  (242,780) (37,329)
Net short-term borrowings

(payments) 7,801 (22,714) 7,000
Dividends paid (9,517) (9,758) (11,286)
Repurchase of common stock — (120,000) -

Proceeds from exercise of stock
~__options — 1,398 1,495

Net cash (used in) provided by
financing activities

$(67,498)  $(368,854)  $36,033

Effective as of January 31, 1999, the Company obtained
certain modifications to its unsecured revolving line of credit,
which among other things, adjusted its interest rate options
and modified certain covenants dealing with debt levels,
interest coverage, investments, and levels of retained
earnings. Under this amendment, the most commonly used
interest rate option increased by approximately 150 basis
points. In addition to the revolving credit facility, the
Company has $75 million in senior notes outstanding. The
senior notes are unsecured and were issued pursuant to an
agreement containing a covenant which imposes a debt to
total capitalization requirement.

Payment of cash dividends on common stock totaled $9.5
million and $9.8 million during Fiscal 1999 and 1998,
respectively. There has been no change in the dividends
per share during these years, and the decline in total
dividends results from the Company’s repurchase of
5,265,120 shares of its outstanding stock. Cash dividends
represented 55%, 82% and 75% of net earnings from
continuing operations before special items for Fiscal 1999,
1998 and 1997, respectively. The Company uses funds
from operations, along with borrowings, to pay dividends.

Accounting Developments

In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive
Income and SFAS No. 131, Disclosures About Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information. In February 1998,
SFAS No. 132, Employers’ Disclosures About Pensions and
Other Post Employment Benefits was issued. In June, 1998,
FASB issued SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, which was
subsequently amended by FAS No. 137. In December,
1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission staff
released Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 130 requires disclosure of comprehensive
income, which consists of all changes in equity from non-
shareholder sources. SFAS No. 131 requires that segment
reporting for public reporting purposes be conformed to the
segment reporting used by management for internal
purposes. SFAS No. 132 standardizes the disclosure
requirements of Statements No. 87 and No. 106. The
adoption of these statements did not impact the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
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flows, but is limited to the form and content of the
Company’s disclosures. Since most of the information
required under these statements is currently disclosed, their
adoption does not materially change the Company’s current
disclosures. SFAS No. 133 establishes new accounting and
disclosure standards for derivative instruments. SAB No.
101 provides detailed guidance on the recognition of
revenue. However, the Company believes the future
adoption of these statements will not have a material impact
on its results of operations or financial position.

Factors That May Affect Future Results
Forward-Looking Statements

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and other sections of
this annual report contain forward-looking statements that
are based on current expectations, estimates, and
projections about the markets and industries in which the
Company operates, management's beliefs, and
assumptions made by management. These forward-looking
statements are made pursuant to the Safe Harbor
Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and
assumptions (“future factors”) which are difficult to predict.
Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially
from what is expressed or forecasted in such forward-
looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation
to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Future factors include risks associated with newly
acquired businesses; increasing price and product/service
competition by foreign and domestic competitors; rapid
technological developments and changes; the ability to
continue to introduce competitive new products and
services on a timely, cost effective basis; the mix of
products/services; the achievement of lower costs and
expenses; reliance on large customers; technological,
implementation and cost/financial risks in use of large, multi-
year contracts; the cyclical nature of the markets served; the
outcome of pending and future litigation and governmental
proceedings and continued availability of financing, financial
instruments and financial resources in the amount, at the
times and on the terms required to support the Company’s
business; the assessment of unanticipated taxes by foreign
or domestic governmental authorities; and the risk of
cancellation or adjustments of specific orders and
termination of significant government programs. These are
representative of the future factors that could affect the
outcome of forward-looking statements. In addition, such
statements could be affected by general industry and
market conditions and growth rates, general domestic and
international conditions including interest rates, rates of
inflation and currency exchange rate fluctuations and other
future factors.

Business Outlook

During Fiscal 1999 and 1998, both the Power Products
segment and the Petroleum Equipment segment were
adversely affected by depressed prices for oil and gas. The
Company reacted by adopting programs to reduce costs
associated with these business segments. These programs
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included disposition of several unprofitable branches,
implementation of turnaround plans for under-performing
branches, and better integration of recently acquired
operations into the business segments. In addition, the
Company took action to reduce working capital
requirements by increasing inventory turnover and
accelerating collection of accounts receivable. Performance
measurements systems have been restructured to focus on
these areas. The Company expects that these efforts will
result in improved operating margins and return on assets in
both segments. The recent increase in oil and gas prices is
expected to provide opportunities for improved sales in
Fiscal 2000.

During Fiscal 1998, the U.S. Army directed the Company
to make certain changes in the drive train components of all
vehicles produced under the first FMTV contracts. The
Company made a decision to refit all fielded vehicles and to
fund the $40 million estimated cost to perform that work.
The Company commenced the installation of the directed
changes during Fiscal 1999 and, subject to availability of
vehicles, expects to complete the changes during the
second quarter of Fiscal 2000. The Company will submit
Requests for Equitable Adjustments or claims under the
FMTV contracts seeking compensation for the additional
costs relating to this directive. In addition, the Company filed
a certified claim with the U.S. Army for $48 million seeking
recovery of additional costs incurred under the initial FMTV
contracts as a result of other changes and delays caused or
directed by the government. The U.S. Army denied the
Company’s claim, and the parties have agreed in principal
to engage in non-binding arbitration. Management believes
that the FMTV contracts provide a legal basis for the claims.
However, due to the inherent uncertainties in the claims
resolution process, the Company has expensed the cost
relating to these matters. Since the costs associated with
these claims have been expensed, any future recovery of
these amounts will be treated as income in the period which
these matters are resolved.

In the first half of Fiscal 1999, the Company was in a
production hiatus between the original FMTV contracts and
the new FMTV contracts. During this period, the Company
made several changes to the management and production
processes intended to improve the performance of the
Tactical Vehicle Systems segment. These changes included
the reduction of both direct and indirect personnel,
improvements in materials management, and reductions in
cash flow cycle times.

The Company was paid a higher sales price per truck on
some trucks sold in Fiscal 1999 to compensate the
Company for costs incurred during the production shut-
down. Additionally, the Company commenced the
installation of the directed changes to the drive train
components during Fiscal 1999. The Company expects that
the changes discussed above will have a positive impact on
operating margins, cash flow, and return on assets in the
Tactical Vehicles Systems segment.

The acquisition of Tug Manufacturing Corporation in late
1998, coupled with increased sales of previously existing
products resulted in a tripling of sales volume in Fiscal 1999
compared with Fiscal 1998. In addition, Fiscal 1999
operations were impacted by $5 million in charges for new
product development expenditures. These actions, coupled
with organizational restructuring, new product introductions,
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and increasing service revenues should position the
business for profitable growth in the future.

Government Contracting Factors

Major contracts for military systems are performed over
extended periods of time and are subject to changes in
scope of work and delivery schedules. Pricing negotiations
on changes and settlement of claims, including claims for
additional taxes, often extend over prolonged periods of
time. The Company’s ultimate profitability on such contracts
will depend on the eventual outcome of an equitable
settlement of contractual issues with the U.S. Government.
Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation and claim
negotiation process, no assurances can be given that
management’s estimates will be accurate, and variances
between such estimates and actual results could be
material.

During Fiscal 1998, the Company was awarded a new
multi-year contract that will extend production of the FMTV
into 2002 (or 2003 if the government exercises its option to
purchase additional vehicles). The funding of the new FMTV
contract is subject to the inherent uncertainties of
congressional appropriations. As is typical of multi-year
defense contracts, the FMTV contract must be funded
annually by the Department of the Army and may be
terminated at any time for the convenience of the
government. As of January 31, 2000, funding in the amount
of $342 million for the new FMTV contract had been
authorized and appropriated by the U.S. Congress. If the
new FMTYV contract is terminated other than for default, the
FMTV contracts provide for termination charges that will
reimburse the Company for allowable costs, but not
necessarily all costs.

The Company’s government contract operations are
subject to U.S. Government investigations of business
practices and cost classifications from which legal or
administrative  proceedings can result. Based on
government procurement regulations, under certain
circumstances a contractor can be fined, as well as
suspended or debarred from government contracting. In this
event, the Company would also be unable to sell equipment
or services to customers that depend on loans or financial
commitments from the Export Import Bank, Overseas
Private Investment Corporation, and similar government
agencies, or otherwise receive the benefits of federal
assistance payments during a suspension or debarment.

The Company entered an Administrative Agreement with
the United States Air Force that imposes certain
requirements on the Company intended to assure the U.S.
Air Force that the Company is a responsible government
contractor. Under this agreement, the Company has
established and maintains an effective program to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and the Administrative
Agreement. The program provides employees with
education and guidance regarding compliance and ethical
issues, operates a means to report questionable practices
on a confidential basis, and files periodic reports with the
U.S. Air Force regarding the Company’s business practices.
A default by the Company of the requirements under the
Administrative Agreement could result in the suspension or
debarment of the Company from receiving any new
contracts or subcontracts with agencies of the U.S.
Government or the benefit of federal assistance payments.
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Any such suspension could also prevent the Company from
receiving future modifications to the FMTV contract unless
the Secretary of the Army finds a compelling need to enter
into such modification. The Administrative Agreement
expires pursuant to its term on March 19, 2001, but the
Company intends to maintain compliance programs on a
continuing basis.

Year 2000 Compliance

In the past, many computer software programs were written
using two digits rather than four to define the applicable
year. As a result, date-sensitive computer software may
recognize a date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than the
year 2000. If this situation occurs, the potential exists for
computer system failures or miscalculations by computer
programs, which could disrupt operations. This is generally
referred to as the Year 2000 issue.

The Company did not experience any year 2000
problems that, in the Company’s opinion, materially and
adversely affected its consolidated financial condition. The
Company established a team to address the potential
impacts of the year 2000 on each of its critical business
functions. The team assessed the Company’s critical date-
sensitive technology, including its information systems,
computer equipment and other systems used in its various
operations, and the Company completed the process of
modifying or replacing those systems to be year 2000

Principal Amount by Expected Maturity
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compliant. The final modification costs were approximately
$2 million. The majority of those costs were attributable to
the purchase of new computer equipment. Systems
modification costs were expensed as incurred and costs
associated with new equipment were capitalized and will be
amortized over the life of the product.

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk

Stewart & Stevenson’s market risk results from volatility in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. This risk
is monitored and managed.

Stewart & Stevenson’s exposure to interest rate risk
relates primarily to its debt portfolio. To limit interest rate risk
on borrowings, the Company targets a portfolio within
certain parameters for fixed and floating rate loans taking
into consideration the interest rate environment and the
Company’s forecasted cash flow. This policy limits exposure
to rising interest rates and allows the Company to benefit
during periods of falling interest rates. The Company’s
interest rate exposure is generally limited to its short-term
uncommitted bank credit facilities and its unsecured

revolving credit notes. See “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”
The table below provides information about the

Company’s market sensitive financial instruments and
constitutes a forward-looking statement.

Fiscal Year Ending January 31,

(In thousands) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005  Thereafter
Fixed Rate

Long-term Debt $8,705 $20,215 $ 254 $30,235 $— $25,000
Average Interest Rate 9.06% 7.13% 16.90% 7.36% 7.38%
Floating Rate

Long-term Debt $ 250 $ 250 $ 727 $ 250 $250 $ 1,100

The Company’s earnings and cash flows are subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. Generally, the Company’s contracts provide for
payment in U.S. Dollars and the Company does not
maintain significant foreign currency cash balances. Foreign
subsidiaries have in-country working capital loans, which
limit the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations. Certain suppliers, suppliers for the FMTV
contract, bill in foreign currency. The Company may enter
into forward contracts to hedge these specific commitments
and anticipated transactions but not for speculative or
trading purposes. The following table lists the foreign
currency forward contracts outstanding at the close of Fiscal
1999.
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Contract Amount by Expected Maturity
Fiscal Year Ending January 31

(In thousands) 2000 2001
Foreign contracts to Purchase
Foreign Currencies for U.S. Dollars
German Mark $ 1,397 $ 473
Average Contractual Exchange
Rate 1.8817 1.8615
Austrian Schilling $ 3,131 $ 1,349
Average Contractual Exchange
Rate 13.321 13.089
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1.18
WAL-MART STORES, INC. (JAN)

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net Sales

Sales (in millions) by operating segment for the three fiscal years ended January 31, are as follows:

Fiscal Wal-Mart SAM's Other Total Total Company
Year Stores Club Intenational (McLane) Company Increase
2000 $108,721 $24,801 $22,728 $8,763 $165,013 20%
1999 95,395 22,881 12,247 7111 137,634 17%
1998 83,820 20,668 7,517 5,953 117,958 12%

The Company’s sales growth of 20% in fiscal 2000, when
compared to fiscal 1999, is the result of the Company’s
expansion program, including international acquisition, and
a domestic comparative store sales increase of 8%. The
sales increase of 17% in fiscal 1999, when compared to
fiscal 1998, was also attributable to our expansion program
and a domestic comparative store sales increase of 9%.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of sales, as a percentage of sales, decreased,
resulting in increases in gross margin of .4% and .2% in
fiscal 2000 and fiscal 1999, respectively. These
improvements in gross margin occurred even with continued
price rollbacks, our continuing commitment to always
providing low prices and higher international and food
department sales which generally have lower gross margins
than domestic general merchandise. The fiscal 2000
improvement in gross margin can be attributed to a
favorable sales mix of higher margin categories,
improvements in shrinkage and markdowns, a favorable
LIFO inventory adjustment and the slower growth of SAM’S
Club, which is our lowest gross margin retail operation. The
gross margin improvement in fiscal 1999 was the result of
lower inventory levels, which resulted in reduced
markdowns and decreased shrinkage.

Operating, selling, general and administrative expenses
increased .1% as a percentage of sales in fiscal 2000 when
compared with fiscal 1999. This increase was partially due
to increased payroll cost incurred during the vyear.
Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 2000, a $624
million jury verdict was rendered against the Company in a
lawsuit. The Company agreed to settle the lawsuit for an
amount less than the jury verdict. The Company had
previously established reserves related to this lawsuit, which
were not material to its results of operations or financial
position. The settlement exceeded the Company’'s
estimated reserves for this lawsuit and resulted in a charge
in the second quarter of fiscal 2000 of $.03 per share net of
taxes.

Operating, selling, general and administrative expenses
decreased .2% as a percentage of sales in fiscal 1999 when
compared with fiscal 1998. The strong sales increase along
with lower inventory levels combined to reduce expenses as
a percentage of sales. The expense leverage was mitigated
in the consolidated results due to the percentage of the total
volume decreasing in the SAM’S Club segment, which has
lower expenses as a percentage of sales, while the
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percentage of total volume increased in the International
segment, which has higher expenses as a percentage of
sales than the other operating segments. Every operating
segment was flat or down in expenses as a percent of sales
in fiscal 1999 when compared with fiscal 1998.

Wal-Mart Stores

Sales for the Company’'s Wal-Mart Stores segment
increased by 14.0% in fiscal 2000 when compared to fiscal
1999, and 13.8% in fiscal 1999 when compared to fiscal
1998. The fiscal 2000 growth is the result of comparative
store sales increases and the Company’s expansion
program. Segment expansion during fiscal 2000 included
the opening of 29 Wal-Mart stores and 157 Supercenters
(including the conversion of 96 existing Wal-Mart stores into
Supercenters). Fiscal 1999 growth is also the result of
comparative store sales increases and the Company’s
expansion program. Segment expansion during fiscal 1999
included the opening of 37 Wal-Mart stores and 123
Supercenters (including the conversion of 88 existing Wal-
Mart stores into Supercenters). Operating income for the
segment for fiscal 2000 increased by 19%, from $7.0 billion
in fiscal 1999 to $8.4 billion in fiscal 2000. 1999 segment
operating income increased by 21%, from $5.8 billion in
1998 to $7.0 billion in 1999. The improvement in operating
income in 2000 has been driven by margin improvements
resulting from improvements in markdowns and shrinkage.
However, these margin improvements were somewhat
offset by increased payroll costs. Fiscal 1999 margin
improvements were the result of lower inventory levels,
which generated lower markdowns and reduced shrinkage.

SAM’S Club

Sales for the Company’s SAM’S Club segment increased by
8.4% in fiscal 2000 when compared to fiscal 1999, and by
10.7% in fiscal 1999 when compared to fiscal 1998. SAM’'S
Club sales continued to decrease as a percentage of total
Company sales, decreasing from 17.5% in fiscal 1998 to
16.6% in fiscal 1999 and to 15.0% in fiscal 2000. This
decrease as a percentage of total Company sales is
primarily the result of the increased growth rate in the
international segment. SAM’S Club segment expansion
during fiscal 2000 and 1999 consisted of the opening of
twelve and eight clubs, respectively, and the Company has
plans for continued new club openings in fiscal 2001.
Additionally, the Company intends to continue its program of
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remodeling its existing SAM’S Club. After consideration of
the effects of the change in accounting method for
membership revenue recognition, operating income for the
segment in fiscal 2000 increased by 16.8%, from $650
million in fiscal 1999 to $759 million in fiscal 2000. The
pretax impact of the change in accounting method would
have been $57 million in fiscal 1999 and was $16 million in
fiscal 2000. The impact of the accounting method change is
greater on fiscal 1999 due to an increase in the cost of
SAM'S Club membership that occurred during that year. If
the effect of this accounting change is not considered,
operating income would have been basically flat as a
percent .of segment sales when comparing fiscal 1999 to
fiscal 2000. Fiscal 1999 saw a 7.6% increase in operating
income after consideration of the accounting change, when
operating income increased from $604 million in fiscal 1998
to $650 million in fiscal 1999. The pretax impact of the
accounting change on fiscal 1998 would have been $12
million. Ignoring the effect of this change, operating income
increased from 3.0% of segment sales in fiscal 1998 to
3.1% of segment sales in fiscal 1999.

International

International sales accounted for approximately 13.8% of
total Company sales in fiscal 2000 compared with 8.9% in
fiscal 1999. The largest portion of the increase in
International sales is the result of the acquisition of the
ASDA Group PLC (ASDA), which consisted of 229 stores
and was completed during the third quarter of fiscal 2000.
Additionally, fiscal 2000 was the first full year containing the
operating results of the 74 units of the German Interspar
hypermarket chain, which were acquired in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 1999. Expansion in the international
segment for fiscal 2000 consisted of the opening or
acquisition of 288 units.

International sales accounted for approximately 8.9% of
total Company sales in fiscal 1999 compared with 6.4% in
fiscal 1998. The growth in International is partially due to
acquisitions during 1999 and 1998. Expansion in the
international segment for fiscal 1999 consisted of the
opening or acquisition of 114 units. In the third quarter of
fiscal 1998, the Company acquired a controlling interest of
Cifra, S.A de C.V. (Cifra), which at acquisition date included
250 units in varying formats including Aurreras, Bodegas,
Suburbias, Superamas, and Vips. In the fourth quarter of
fiscal 1998, the Company acquired the 21 units of the
Wertkauf hypermarket chain in Germany. In fiscal 1999, the
Company acquired four units in South Korea which were
previously operated by Korea Makro. See Note 6 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information on acquisitions.

The Company’s foreign operations are comprised of
wholly-owned operations in Argentina, Canada, Germany,
Korea, Puerto Rico and the United Kingdom; joint ventures
in China; and majority-owned subsidiaries in Brazil and
Mexico. As a result, the Company’s financial results could
be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency
exchange rates or weak economic conditions in the foreign
markets in which the Company does business. The
Company minimizes exposure to the risk of devaluation of
foreign currencies by operating in local currencies and
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through buying forward contracts, where feasible, for most
known transactions.

Prior to fiscal 2000, Mexico's economy was considered
highly-inflationary. Accordingly, the results of the operations
of the Company’s Mexican subsidiary were reported using
United States dollars. Beginning in fiscal 2000, Mexico
ceased to be considered a highly-inflationary economy and
began reporting its operations in its local currency. The
impact on the consolidated or international segment results
of operations or financial position as a result of the change
was not material. In fiscal 2000, the foreign currency
translation adjustment decreased by $564 million to $455
million primarily due to the United States dollar weakening
against the British pound and the Canadian dollar. This was
partially offset by the United States dollar strengthening
against the Brazilian real. In fiscal 1999, the foreign
currency translation adjustment increased by $36 million to
$509 million, primarily due to the exchange rates in Brazil
and Canada.

After consideration of the effects of the change of
accounting method for SAM'S membership revenues, the
international segment’s operating profit increased from $549
million in fiscal 1999 to $817 million in fiscal 2000. The
largest portion of the increase in international operating
profit is the result of the ASDA acquisition which was
completed during the third quarter of fiscal 2000.
Additionally, the Company’s operations in Canada, Mexico
and Puerto Rico had operating profit increases in fiscal
2000.

After consideration of the effects of the change of
accounting method, the international segment's operating
profit increased from $260 million in fiscal 1998 to $549
million in fiscal 1999. Because the Cifra and Wertkauf
acquisitions occurred during the last half of fiscal 1998, the
additional operating profit resulting from these acquisitions
accounts for a part of the increase in the international
segment’s operating profit when comparing fiscal 1999 to
fiscal 1998.

In February 2000, Cifra officially changed its name to
Wal-Mart de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

In March 2000, the Company announced the sale of all
three of the Company’s SAM’S Clubs in Argentina. The sale
is being made so that the Company can concentrate on
expanding its Supercenter business within Argentina.

Interest Costs

Debt interest costs increased .08% as a percentage of sales
from .38% in fiscal 1999 to .46% in fiscal 2000. This
increase is the result of increased fiscal 2000 borrowings
incurred as the result of the ASDA acquisition. Interest cost
related to capital leases decreased by .03% as a
percentage of sales from .19% in fiscal 1999 to .16% in
fiscal 2000.

Interest costs decreased .09% as a percentage of sales in
fiscal 1999 when compared with fiscal 1998. The Company
met cash requirements without short-term borrowings
throughout most of fiscal 1999 due to enhanced operating
cash flows. The interest on the Company’s capital leases
increased over fiscal 1998 due to continuing expansion. See
Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information on interest and debt.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources Cash Flows Information

Cash flows from operating activities were $8,194 million in
fiscal 2000, up from $7,580 million in fiscal 1999. In fiscal
2000, the Company invested $6,183 million in capital
assets, paid dividends of $890 million, and had a net cash
outlay of $10.4 billion primarily for acquisition of ASDA
Group PLC, the third largest retailer in the United Kingdom.
The ASDA cash outlay was financed with the issuance of
long-term debt and commercial paper. See Note 6 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information on acquisitions.

Market Risk

Market risks relating to the Company’s operations resuilt
primarily from changes in interest rates and changes in
foreign exchange rates.

The Company enters into interest rate and cross currency
swaps to minimize the risk and costs associated with
financing activities and to hedge its net investment in certain
foreign subsidiaries. The swap agreements are contracts to
exchange fixed or variable rates for variable or fixed interest
rate payments periodically over the life of the instruments.
The following tables provide information about the
Company’s derivative financial instruments and other
financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in
interest rates. For debt obligations, the table presents
principal cash flows and related weighted-average interest
rates by expected maturity dates. For interest rate and cross
currency swaps, the table presents notional amounts and
interest rates by contractual maturity dates. The applicable
floating rate index is included for variable rate instruments.
All amounts are stated in United States dollar equivalents.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity As of January 31, 2000
Principal (Notional) Amount by Expected Maturity
Average Interest (Swap) Rate

Fair value
(Amounts in millions) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter Total 1/31/00
Liabilities
Long-term debt including current portion
Fixed rate debt $1,964 $2,070 $659 $742 $1,854 $8,347  $15,636 $14,992
Average interest rate—USD rate 6.9% 6.8% 6.8% 6.8% 6.8% 6.9% 6.9%

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments
Related to Debt
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed 500 — — — — — 500 (1)
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial plus .245%
Fixed rate received—USD rate 5.9 — - — — — 5.9%
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed 500 — - — - — 500 -
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial plus .134%
Fixed rate received—USD rate 5.7 — — - — — 5.7%
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed 41 45 49 54 58 266 513 @
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial
Fixed rate received—USD rate 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed — - — — — 230 230 (14)
Floating rate paid—6 month U.S. LIBOR
Fixed rate received—USD rate - - - - — 7.0% 7.0%
Interest rate swap
Pay fixed/receive variable — — — — - 151 151 (1)
Fixed rate paid—USD rate — - — — - 8.1% 8.1%
Floating rate received—3-month U.S. LIBOR

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments
Related to Currency Swaps
Currency swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay variable/receive variable - — 1,101 - - — 1,101 122
Floating rate paid—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus .0676%
Average rate received—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial
Interest rate swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay fixed/receive variable — — 1,101 — — - 1,101 6
Fixed rate paid—German Deutschemark rate - — 4.5% — — — 4.5%
Floating rate received—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus .0676%
Interest rate swap—U.S. Dollars
Pay variable/receive fixed - - 1,101 — — - 1,101 (38)
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial

Fixed rate received—USD rate — — 5.8% — - — 5.8%
Currency swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay variable/receive variable - - — 809 - - 809 129

Floating rate paid—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus 0.55%

Average rate received—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial
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2003 2004

2005 Thereafter

Interest rate swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay fixed/receive variable

Fixed rate paid—German Deutschemark rate

Floating rate received—3-month German

Deutschemark LIBOR minus 0.55%
Interest rate swap—U.S. Dollars

Pay variable/receive fixed

Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial

paper non-financial
Fixed rate received—USD rate
Currency swap—Great Britain Pounds
Pay variable/receive variable
Floating rate paid—6-month Great Britain
Pound LIBOR minus .1203%
Floating rate received—3-month U.S.
Dollar LIBOR minus .0842%
Interest rate swap—Great Britain Pounds
Pay fixed/receive variable
Fixed rate paid—Great Britain Pound rate
Floating rate received—3-month Great
Britain Pound LIBOR minus .1203%
Interest rate swap—U.S. Dollars
Pay variable/receive fixed
Floating rate paid—3-month U.S.
Dollar LIBOR minus .0842%
Fixed rate received—USD rate

- 3.4%

- 809

— 5.2%

— 6.9%
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Fair value
Total 1/31/00
809 40
3.4%
809 (57)
5.2%
3,500 (29)
3,500 83
6.2%
3,500 (71)
6.9%
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Interest Rate Sensitivity As of January 31, 1999
Principal (Notional) Amount by Expected Maturity
Average Interest (Swap) Rate

Fair value
{Amounts in millions) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 Thereafter Total 1/31/99

Liabilities
Long-term debt including current portion
Fixed rate debt $900 $830 $801 $558 $739 $3,080 $7,808 $8,323
Average interest rate—USD rate 71% 7.2% 7.1% 6.9% 7.0% 7.2% 7.2%
Long-term obligation related to
real estate investment trust
Fixed rate obligation 39 43 46 50 55 327 560 $ 641
Fixed interest rate—USD rate 8.4% 8.4% 8.4% 8.4% 8.4% 8.4% 8.4%

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments
Related to Debt
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed — 500 - — — — 500 10
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial plus .134%
Fixed rate received—USD rate - 5.7% - — — — 5.7%
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed - 500 - — -— - 500 5
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial plus .245%
Fixed rate received—USD rate — 5.9% — - — — 5.9%
Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments
Related to Real Estate investment Trust Obligation
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed 38 4 45 49 54 324 551 44
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial
Fixed rate received—USD rate 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%
Interest rate swap
Pay variable/receive fixed — — — - - 230 230 30
Floating rate paid—6-month U.S. LIBOR
Fixed rate received—USD rate —_ — — — — 7.0% 7.0%

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments
Related to Currency Swaps
Currency swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay variable/receive variable — — — 1,101 — - 1,101 (43)
Floating rate paid—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus .0676%
Average rate received—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial
Interest rate swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay fixed/receive variable — — — 1,101 - - 1,101 (58)
Fixed rate paid—German Deutschemark rate - — — 4.5% — — 4.5%
Floating rate received—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus 0.676%
Interest rate swap—U.S. Dollars
Pay variable/receive fixed — — — 1,101 — —_ 1,101 28
Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial

Fixed rate received—USD rate - —_ - 5.8% - — 5.8%
Currency swap—German Deutschemarks
Pay variable/receive variable - - - — 809 — 809 18

Floating rate paid—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus .055%

Average rate received—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial
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{Amounts in millions) 2001 2002

Fair value
2003 2004 2005 Thereafter Total 1/31/00

Interest rate swap—German Deutschemarks

Pay fixed/receive variable - —
Fixed rate paid—German Deutschemark rate — .

Floating rate received—3-month German
Deutschemark LIBOR minus 0.55%
Interest rate swap—U.S. Dollars

Pay variable/receive fixed — —

Average rate paid—30-day U.S. commercial
paper non-financial

Fixed rate received—USD rate — —

— - 809 - 809 3
— — 3.4% - 3.4%
- — 809 - 809 1
— — 5.2% — 5.2%

In fiscal 2000, the Company converted the long-term
obligation related to a real estate investment trust in which it
acquired the equity interest to long-term debt and,
accordingly, has included this debt in the long-term debt
section above.

The Company routinely enters into forward currency
exchange contracts in the regular course of business to
manage its exposure against foreign currency fluctuations
on cross-border purchases of inventory. These contracts
are generally for durations of six months or less. In addition,
the Company entered into a series of foreign currency

swaps to hedge the net investment in Germany and the
United Kingdom.

The following tables provide information about the
Company’s derivative financial instruments, including
foreign currency forward exchange agreements and
currency swap agreements by functional currency, and
presents the information in United States dollar equivalents.
For foreign currency forward exchange agreements, the
table presents the notional amounts and weighted average
exchange rates by contractual maturity dates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity As of January 31, 2000
Principal (Notional) Amount by Expected Maturity

Fair value
(Amounts in millions) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter Total  1/31/2000
Forward Contracts to Sell Canadian
Dollars for Foreign Currencies
United States Dollars
Notional amount $91 — — — - $91 (1)
Average contract rate 1.5 — — — — 1.5
Forward Contracts to Sell British
Pounds for Foreign Currencies
Hong Kong Dollars
Notional amount 70 - — _— - 70 1
Average contract rate 12.8 - — — — 12.8
United States Dollars
Notional amount 40 — — — - 40 1
Average contract rate 1.6 - — — - 1.6
Other Currencies
Notional amount 45 — — - - 45 2
Average contract rate Various — — — —  Various
Currency Swap Agreements
Payment of German Deutschemarks
Notional amount — 1,101 — — — 1,101 122
Average contract rate — 1.8 — — - 1.8
Payment of German Deutschemarks
Notional amount — - 809 — - 809 129
Average contract rate — — 1.7 — — 1.7
Payment of Great Britain Pounds
Notional amount — —_ - - 3,500 3,500 (29)
Average contract rate — — — — 0.6 0.6
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity As of January 31, 1999
Principal (Notional) Amount by Expected Maturity

(Amounts in millions) 2000 2001

Fair value

2002 2003 2004 Thereafter Total 1/31/99

Forward Contracts to Sell Canadian
Dollars for Foreign Currencies
United States Dollars
Notional amount $45
Average contract rate 1.5
Forward Contracts to Sell German
Deutschemarks for Foreign Currencies
Hong Kong Dollars
Notional amount 1
Average contract rate 0.2
United States Dollars
Notional amount 1
Average contract rate 1.8
Currency Swap Agreements
Payment of German Deutschemarks
Notional amount —
Average contract rate —
Payment of German Deutschemarks
Notional amount —
Average contract rate -

— — - — $ 45 (1)

- 1,101 — - 1,101 (43)
- 18 — - 18

- — 809 — 809 18
— — 1.7 — 1.7

Company Stock Purchase and Common Stock Dividends

In fiscal 2000 and 1999, the Company repurchased over 2
million and 21 million shares of its common stock for $101
million and $1,202 million, respectively. In the Company’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal
2000, the Company announced its intent to postpone any
further share repurchases until the ratio of debt to total book
capitalization was approximately 40%. At January 31, 2000,
the Company’s total debt to capitalization ratio including
commercial paper was 46%. Subsequent to year-end, the
Company’s stock price decreased and in February and
March 2000, the Company repurchased 4.1 million shares
of its common stock for $193 million.

The Company paid dividends totaling $.20 per share in
fiscal 2000. In March 2000, the Company increased its
dividend 20% to $.24 per share for fiscal 2001. This marks
the 28th consecutive yearly increase in dividends.

Borrowing Information

The Company had committed lines of credit with 85 firms
and banks, aggregating $4,872 million and informal lines of
credit with various other banks, totaling an additional $1,500
million, which were used to support commercial paper.
These lines of credit and their anticipated cyclical increases
should be sufficient to finance the seasonal buildups in
merchandise inventories and other cash requirements.

The Company anticipates generating sufficient operating
cash flow to pay the increased dividend and to fund all
capital expenditures. Accordingly, management does not
plan to finance future capital expenditures with debt.
However, the Company plans to refinance existing long-
term debt as it matures and may desire to obtain additional
long-term financing for other uses of cash or for strategic
reasons. The Company anticipates no difficulty in obtaining
long-term financing in view of an excellent credit rating and
favorable experiences in the debt market in the recent past.
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In addition to the available credit lines mentioned above,
and after consideration of $1 bilion in notes issued in
February and March of 2000, the Company is permitted to
sell up to $3.5 billion of public debt under shelf registration
statements previously filed with the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission.

Expansion

Domestically, the Company plans to open approximately 40
new Wal-Mart stores and approximately 165 new
Supercenters in fiscal 2000. Relocations or expansions of
existing discount stores will account for 107 of the
Supercenters, while approximately 58 will be new locations.
Due to the continued positive customer feedback on the
Neighborhood Market concept, which is being tested in
seven locations, the Company plans to add five to ten new
locations. Also planned for fiscal 2001 are 19 new SAM'S
Clubs, including eight relocations. In addition, the Company
will remodel approximately 140 of the existing SAM’S Clubs
and expand two units. In order to serve these and future
developments, the Company will begin shipping from 11
new distribution centers (including one replacement unit) in
the next fiscal year. Internationally, plans are to develop or
relocate 90 to 100 retail units. These units are planned in
Argentina, Brazil, Canada, China, Germany, Korea, Mexico,
Puerto Rico and the United Kingdom. Total planned growth
represents approximately 34.9 million square feet of net
additional retail space.

Total planned capital expenditures for fiscal 2001
approximate $8 billion. We plan to finance our expansion
primarily with operating cash flows.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Company joined
with Accel Partners, a venture capital firm, to form Wal-
Mart.com, Inc. Wal-Mart.com, Inc. will base its operations in
Palo Alto, California and was formed to further develop and
operate the Internet retail site, Wal-Mart.com, and to further
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the Company’s efforts to attract customers to the Internet
with the Wal-Mart name.

Year 2000 Issue Update

The Company did not experience any significant
malfunctions or errors in its operating or business systems
when the date changed from 1999 to 2000. Based on
operations since January 1, 2000, the Company does not
expect any significant impact to its ongoing business as a
result of the “Year 2000 issue.” However, it is possible that
the full impact of the date change, which was of concern
due to computer programs that use two digits instead of four
digits to define years, has not been fully recognized. For
example, it is possible that Year 2000 or similar issues such
as leap year-related problems may occur with billing,
payroll, or financial closings at month, quarter, or year end.
The Company believes that any such problems are unlikely
and that should they occur, they will be minor and
correctable. in addition, the Company could still be
negatively affected if its suppliers are adversely affected by
the Year 2000 or similar issues. The Company currently is
not aware of any significant Year 2000 or similar problems
that have arisen for its suppliers.

The Company expended $28.2 million on Year 2000
readiness efforts through January 31, 2000. Of this, $18.7
million is related to reprogramming, replacement, extensive
testing and validation of software, which was expensed as
incurred, while $9.5 million was related to acquisition of
hardware, which is being capitalized. $2.2 million of the cost
was assumed as a result of the acquisition of ASDA Group
PLC.

Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made
by or on behalf of the Company. Certain statements
contained in Management's Discussion and Analysis, in
other parts of this report and in other Company filings are
forward-looking statements. These statements discuss,
among other things, expected growth, future revenues,
future cash flows and future performance. The forward-
looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties
including but not limited to the cost of goods, competitive
pressures, inflation, consumer debt levels, currency
exchange fluctuations, trade restrictions, changes in tariff
and freight rates, Year 2000 issues, interest rate fluctuations
and other capital market conditions, and other risks
indicated in the Company’s filings with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission. Actual results may
materially differ from anticipated results described in these
statements.
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Forward Looking Information Excerpts
1.19

APPLIED INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES (JUN)

Cautionary Statement Under Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act

This Annual Report to shareholders, including
management's  discussion and analysis, contains
statements that are forward-looking, as that term is defined
by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 or by
the Securities and Exchange Commission in its rules,
regulations and releases. The Company intends that all
forward-looking statements be subject to the safe harbors
created thereby. All forward-looking statements are based
on current expectations regarding important risk factors.
Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from those
expressed in the forward-looking statements, and the
making of such statements should not be regarded as a
representation by the Company or any other person that the
results expressed in the statements will be achieved.

Important risk factors include, but are not limited to, the
following: changes in the economy or in specific customer
industry sectors; changes in customer procurement policies
and practices; changes in product manufacturer sales
policies and practices; the availability of product and labor;
changes in operating expenses; the effect of price increases
or decreases; the variability and timing of business
opportunities including acquisitions, alliances, customer
agreements and supplier authorizations; the Company’s
ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions
and other business strategies, including electronic
commerce initiatives; the incurrence of additional debt and
contingent liabilities in connection with acquisitions; changes
in accounting policies and practices; the effect of
organizational changes within the Company; the emergence
of new competitors, including firms with greater financial
resources than the Company; adverse effects of the Year
2000 issue on the businesses of the Company and its
suppliers and customers; adverse results in significant
litigation matters; adverse state and federal regulation and
legislation; and the occurrence of extraordinary events
(including prolonged labor disputes, natural events and acts
of God, fires, floods and accidents).
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1.20
CAMPBELL SOUP COMPANY (JUL)

Forward-Looking Statements

This 1999 Annual Report contains certain statements which
reflect the company’s current expectations regarding future
results of operations, economic performance, financial
condition and achievements of the company. The company
has tried, wherever possible, to identify these forward-
looking statements by using words such as “anticipate,”
“pelieve,” “estimate,” “expect” and similar expressions.
These statements reflect the company’s current plans and
expectations and are based on information currently
available to it. They rely on a number of assumptions and
estimates which could be inaccurate and which are subject
to risks and uncertainties.

The company wishes to caution the reader that the
following important factors and those important factors
described elsewhere in the commentary, or in other
Securities and Exchange Commission filings of the
company, could affect the company’s actual results and
could cause such results to vary materially from those
expressed in any forward-looking statements made by, or
on behalf of, the company:

e the impact of strong competitive response to the
company’s efforts to leverage its brand power with
product innovation, promotional programs and new
advertising;

¢ the inherent risks in the marketplace associated with
new product introductions, including uncertainties
about trade and consumer acceptance;

e the company’s ability to achieve sales and earnings
forecasts, which are based on assumptions about
sales volume and product mix;

o the continuation of the company’s successful record of
integrating acquisitions into its existing operations and
the availability of new acquisition and alliance
opportunities that build shareowner wealth;

e the company’s ability to achieve its cost savings
objectives, including the projected outcome of supply
chain management programs;

e the difficulty of predicting the pattern of inventory
movements by the company’s trade customers;

e the impact of unforeseen economic and political
changes in international markets where the company
competes such as currency exchange rates, inflation
rates, recession, foreign ownership restrictions and
other external factors over which the company has no
control; and

e the abilty of the company and its key service
providers, vendors, suppliers, customers and
governmental entities to replace, modify or upgrade
computer systems in ways that adequately address the
Y2K issue. Specific factors that might cause actual
results to vary materially from the results anticipated
include the ability to identify and correct all relevant
computer codes and embedded chips, unanticipated
difficulties or delays in the implementation of the
company’s remediation plans and the ability of third
parties to adequately address their own Y2K issues.
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This discussion of uncertainties is by no means
exhaustive but is designed to highlight important factors that
may impact the company’s outlook.

1.21

ROBBINS & MYERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(AUG)

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report in sections “Letter to Shareholders”,
“Internal Growth”, “External Growth”, and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations”, contain “Forward-looking Statements”. All
statements which address operating performance, events or
developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the
future including statements related to growth, operating
margin performance, earnings per share or statements
expressing general opinions about future operating results,
are forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements and performance
trends are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from these
statements and trends. Such factors include, but are not
limited to, a significant decline in capital expenditure levels
in the Company’s served markets, a major decline in oil and
gas prices, foreign exchange rate fluctuations, uncertainties
surrounding the Year 2000 issues and the new Euro
currency, continued availability of acceptable acquisition
candidates and general economic conditions that can affect
the demand in the process industries. Any forward-looking
statements are made based on known events and
circumstances at the time. The Company undertakes no
obligation to update or publicly revise these forward-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances that arise
after the date of this report.

1.22
VLASIC FOODS INTERNATIONAL INC. (JUL)

Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report and our filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission contain certain forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933
and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We caution
readers that any such forward-looking statements made by
us or on our behalf are based on our current expectations
and beliefs but are not guarantees of future performance.
Actual results could differ materially from those expressed
or implied in the forward-looking statements. Important facts
that could cause such differences include, but are not
limited to:
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— our ability to continue to comply with covenants and
the terms of the senior credit facility and the senior
subordinated notes;

— our ability to maintain capital expenditures within the
forecast limits, which are based on assumptions about
infrastructure requirements;

— issues associated with our business and information
systems and embedded technology, including Year
2000 and other system problems which could disrupt
our operations—we would also be impacted by
software and system problems of our vendors and
customers;

— Campbell Soup Company’s future requirements for
mushrooms and food service products;

— the impact of strong competitive response to our
efforts to leverage our brand power with product
innovation and new advertising;

— the inherent risks in the marketplace associated with
our products, including uncertainties about trade and
consumer acceptance;

— the inherent risks associated with an agricultural
business;

— changes in prices of raw materials and other inputs;
—the impact of unforeseen economic and political
changes in international markets where we compete;
— the market risks associated with financial instruments
which may be subject to unforeseen economic
changes, such as currency exchange rates, interest

rates, inflation rates and recessionary trends;

— our ability to achieve the gains anticipated from our
cost productivity programs; and

— our ability to achieve the forecasted savings related to
restructuring programs.

Euro Currency Conversion Excerpts
1.23

BREOCWN & SHARPE MANUFACTURING COMPANY
(DEC)

European Monetary Union

Effective January 1, 1999, eleven of fifteen member
countries of the European Union (“EU”) established fixed
conversion rates between their existing sovereign
currencies and a common currency, the “Euro.” During a
transition period from January 1, 1999 to June 30, 2002,
non-cash transactions may be denominated in either Euros
or the existing currencies of the EU participants from
January 1, 1999 to January 1, 2002. After January 1, 2002,
all non-cash transactions must be denominated in Euro.
Euro currency will not be issued until January 1, 2002, and
on June 30, 2002, all national currencies of the EU
participating countries will become obsolete.

The Company has significant operations in several of the
EU countries that will convert, or that may convert, to the
Euro. The introduction of the Euro may present substantial
risks to the Company for its operations located in the EU
participating countries. These risks include competitive
implications of conversion resulting from harmonization of
pricing policies and practices in our European operations;
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possible increased costs associated with the conversion;
and the ability to modify existing information systems on a
timely basis, if at all, as well as the ability to absorb the
costs associated with the systems’ modifications, if required.

The Company has established various policies to be
implemented during the transition period. The Company has
taken a position on pricing policy. Essentially, Euro pricing
will be provided if requested by customers; otherwise,
pricing will continue in legacy currencies. This pricing policy
will apply to both Euro and non-Euro countries. For
accounting purposes, the Company will treat the Euro as
any other currency while maintaining its accounts records in
legacy currency. All affected locations have been contacted
about their ability to manage the required triangulation when
converting from one legacy currency to another. Although
the present accounting systems do not handle triangulation,
the calculation is being done using commercial software. All
of the Company’s banks are providing dual statements and
can accept and make payments in both legacy currency and
Euro.

Some of the Company’s current business operating
software is not Euro compliant. Two of the operations will
acquire a software patch which will make the software Eyro
compliant. Another operation is purchasing operating
software which is Euro compliant. The Company believes it
will be completely Euro compliant by the mandatory
conversion date.

1.24
HARMON INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

The Euro

There was no impact on Harmon as a result of the January
1999 implementation of the new common European
currency, the euro. Our current European presence is
largely confined to the United Kingdom and Italy. Virtually all
sales by our UK subsidiary are to UK customers and are
denominated in pounds sterling. Sales by our Italian
subsidiary, Siliani Harmon, are mainly to ltalian railroads
and are denominated in lira. Sales by our U.S. operations to
European customers to date have typically been
denominated in U.S. dollars.
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1.25

POLAROID CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
COMPANIES (DEC)

Euro Conversion

On January 1, 1999, eleven of the fifteen member countries
of the European Union established fixed conversion rates
between their existing sovereign currencies (the “legacy
currencies”) and one common currency (the “euro”). The
participating countries adopted the euro as their common
currency on January 1, 1999. The euro is now traded on
currency exchanges and may be used in business
transactions. On January 1, 2002, new euro-denominated
bills and coins will be issued by the participating countries.
The legacy currencies will then be withdrawn and will cease
to be legal tender effective June 30, 2002. During the period
from January 1, 1999 to June 30, 2002, parties may use
either the euro or a participating country’s legacy currency
as legal tender.

In 1998, the Company formed an Economic and Monetary
Union Steering Committee and Project Team (the “EMU
Committee”). The EMU Committee has analyzed the impact
of the euro conversion on the Company in a number of
areas, including the Company's information systems,
product pricing, finance and banking resources, foreign
exchange management, contracts and accounting and tax
departments. While the Company is in the process of
making certain adjustments to its business and its
operations to accommodate the euro conversion, the EMU
Committee believes, based on information available at this
time and on several assumptions, that the euro conversion
process will not have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial position or the results of its operations.

Environmental Matters Excerpts
1.26
IMC GLOBAL INC. (DEC)

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters
The Company’s Program

The Company has adopted the following Environmental,
Health and Safety (EHS) Policy (Policy):

As a key to the Company’s success, the Company is
committed to the pursuit of excellence in health and safety,
and environmental stewardship. Every employee will strive
to continuously improve the Company’s performance and to
minimize adverse environmental, health and safety impacts.
The Company will proactively comply with all environmental,
health and safety laws and reguilations.

This Policy is the cornerstone of the Company’s
comprehensive EHS plan (EHS Plan) to achieve
sustainable, predictable, measurable and verifiable EHS
performance. Integral elements of the EHS Plan include: (i)
improving the Company’s EHS procedures and protocols;
(i) upgrading its related facilities and staff; (iii) performing
baseline and verification audits; (iv) formulating
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improvement plans; and (v) assuring management
accountability. The Company has phased in implementation
of this EHS Plan and each facility is in a different stage of
plan integration. The Company conducts audits to confirm
that each facility has implemented the EHS Plan and has
achieved regulatory compliance, continuous EHS
improvement and integration of EHS management systems
into day-to-day business functions.

The Company produces and distributes crop and animal
nutrients, salt and deicing products, boron-based chemicals
and sodium-bicarbonate. These activities subject the
Company to an ever-evolving myriad of international,
federal, state, provincial and local EHS laws which regulate,
or propose to regulate: (i) product content; (ii) use of
products by both the Company and its customers; (iii)
conduct of mining and production operations, including
safety procedures used by employees; (iv) management
and handling of raw materials; (v) air and water quality
impacts by the Company's facilities; (vi) disposal of
hazardous and solid wastes; and (vii) post-mining land
reclamation.

For new regulatory programs, it is difficult to ascertain
future compliance obligations or estimate future costs until
implementing regulations have been finalized and definitive
regulatory interpretations have been adopted. The
Company intends to respond to these regulatory
requirements at the appropriate time by implementing
necessary physical or procedural modifications.

The Company has expended, and anticipates that it will
continue to expend, substantial resources, both financial
and managerial, to comply with EHS standards. In 2000,
environmental capital expenditures will total approximately
$56.5 million, primarily related to: (i) modification or
construction of wastewater treatment areas in Florida; (ii)
modification and construction projects associated with
phosphogypsum stacks at the concentrates plants in Florida
and Louisiana; and (iii) remediation of contamination at
current or former operations. Additional expenditures for
land reclamation activities will total approximately $15.5
million. In 2001, the Company expects environmental capital
expenditures will be approximately $86.9 million and
expenditures for land reclamation activites to be
approximately $13.5 million. No assurance can be given
that greater-than-anticipated EHS capital expenditures will
not be required in 2000 or in the future. Based on current
information, it is the opinion of management that the
Company’s contingent liability arising from EHS matters,
taking into account established reserves, will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position
or results of operations.

Product Requirements and Impacts

The Company’s primary businesses include the production
and sale of crop and animal nutrients, salt and deicing
products, boron-based chemicals and sodium-bicarbonate.
International, federal, state and provincial standards: (i)
require registration of many Company products before those
products can be sold; (ii) impose labeling requirements on
those products; and (iii) require producers to manufacture
the products to formulations set forth on the labels. Various
environmental, natural resource and public health agencies
at all regulatory levels have begun evaluating alleged health
and environmental impacts that might arise from the
handling and use of products such as those manufactured
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by the Company. Most of these evaluations are in the initial
stages. During 1999, the United States Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA), the state of California, and The
Fertilizer  Institute = each  completed independent
assessments of potential risks posed by crop nutrient
materials. These assessments concluded that, based on the
available data, crop nutrient materials generally do not pose
harm to human health or the environment. Despite these
conclusions, some agencies have implemented or are still
considering standards that may modify customers’ use of
the Company’s products because of the alleged impacts. It
is unclear whether any further evaluations that may be
conducted will result in additional regulatory requirements
for the producing industries, including the Company or its
customers. At this preliminary stage, the Company cannot
estimate the potential impact of these standards on the
market for the Company’s products or on the expenditures
that may be necessary to meet new requirements.

Operating Requirements and Impacts

Permitting. The Company holds numerous environmental,
mining and other permits or approvals authorizing operation
at each of its facilities. A decision by a government agency
to deny or delay issuing an application for a new or renewed
permit or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an
existing permit or approval, could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s ability to continue operations at the
affected facility. Expansion of Company operations also is
predicated upon securing the necessary environmental or
other permits or approvals. Recently, a number of
organizations and community groups in a variety of
locations have relied upon guidance and materials issued by
the EPA to challenge federally authorized permits that these
groups believe might have a disproportionate impact on
minority or low-income communities. A challenge of this
type at one of the Company’s facilities, even though
unfounded, could impact the ability of that facility to obtain
timely permits.

In addition, over the next two to six years, Phosphates will
be continuing its efforts to obtain permits in support of its
anticipated Florida mining operations at the Ona and Pine
Level properties. These properties contain in excess of 100
million tons of phosphate rock reserves. For years, the
Company has successfully permitted mining properties in
Florida and anticipates that it will be able to permit these
properties. Nevertheless, a denial of these permits or the
issuance of permits with cost-prohibitive conditions would
adversely impact the Company by preventing it from mining
at Ona or Pine Level.

Mining Operations. In the last several years, regulatory
agencies in the United States and Canada have undertaken
a review of potential health impacts from diesel emissions
on miners in underground mining operations. The Province
of Ontario has adopted, and the United States Mine Safety
and Health Administration has proposed, limits of exposure
to diesel emissions for all underground mining operations
including salt and potash. Moreover, in 1998, the National
Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) began
a multi-year study to determine whether exposure to
exhaust generated by diesel equipment used in
underground mining operations results in adverse, long-term
health effects to miners. This study involves a review of
Potash’s two potash mines in Carlsbad, New Mexico. The
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Company cannot currently estimate the extent of
expenditures that may be necessary to address conclusions
of the NIOSH study, once completed, or additional
regulatory standards that may arise.

Management of Residual Materials. Mining and
processing potash, salt and phosphate generates residual
materials that must be managed. Potash tailings, which
contain primarily salt, iron and clay, are stored in surface
disposal sites. Salt residuals are managed in piles.
Phosphate mining residuals, such as overburden and sand
tailings, are used in reclamation, while clay residuals are
deposited in clay ponds. Phosphate processing generates
phosphogypsum which is stored in phosphogypsum stack
systems. The Company has incurred and will continue to
incur significant costs to manage its potash, salt and
phosphate residual materials in accordance with
environmental laws, regulations and permit requirements.

For potash and salt residuals in Saskatchewan, the
Department of Environmental and Resource Management
(Department) has required all mine operators to obtain
approval of facility decommissioning and reclamation plans
(Plans) that will apply once mining operations at any facility
are terminated. These Plans must specify procedures for
decommissioning all mine facilities and for handling potash
and salt residual materials, including salt piles and potash
tailings management areas. As part of these Plans, the
Department will require operators to provide financial
assurance that the Plans will be carried out. Along with
other members of the Saskatchewan potash industry, the
Company filed its Plans for its Saskatchewan potash mines
in 1997. The Department rejected those potash industry
Plans that did not provide for the underground disposal of all
surface tailings. The potash industry is cooperating with the
Department to evaluate technically feasible, cost-effective
and environmentally responsible disposal. Costs for
decommissioning in accordance with the Plans are likely to
be significant. However, the Company does not anticipate
expending such funds in the foreseeable future. Facility
decommissioning will not occur until a facility has closed,
and such closure is not imminent given the anticipated life of
the Company’s mines. Also, implementation of the Plans
has been deferred until the Department and the industry can
reach agreement over the appropriate technical approach
for long-term potash tailings management. This approach
may change as advances are made in tailings management
technology. Changes also occur from time to time in rules
and regulations governing tailings management. Finally, the
Company will not be required to provide financial assurance
untii an appropriate assurance mechanism has been
specified by the Department. For these reasons, the
Company cannot predict with certainty the financial impact
of these decommissioning requirements on the Company.

Monitoring of the Company’s Saskatchewan potash tailing
management areas has indicated that some of these areas
might have impacted local groundwater. The consequences
of this impact are unknown and it is uncertain whether any
corrective action will be required. As a resuit, management
cannot currently estimate the financial impact that these
groundwater results may have on the Company.
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IMC Salt's Saskatchewan salt mine also submitted its
decommissioning plan in 1997. The plan provided for
dissolution and underground reinjection of the facility’s
residual salt pile and was conditionally approved. The
dissolution process has begun; however, the Department
still has not specified the type of financial assurance that it
will require the facility to provide.

With regard to phosphate processing, Florida law may
require Phosphates to close one or more of its unlined
pHosphogypsum stacks and/or associated cooling ponds
after March 25, 2001 if the stack system or pond is
demonstrated to cause an exceedance of Florida's
groundwater quality standards. Phosphates has already
begun closure activities at its unlined gypsum stack at its
New Wales facility in Central Florida. Phosphates cannot
predict at this time whether Florida law will require closure
of any of its other stack systems. The costs of such closure
and decommissioning could be significant. In addition,
Phosphates currently operates an unlined cooling pond at
New Wales. Monitoring indicates that discharges from the
unlined cooling pond are within Florida groundwater
standards. Phosphates received a permit in August 1999 to
continue operating this pond through March 25, 2001. Over
the past several years, the Company has successfully
permitted this pond and anticipates that it will be able to
obtain future permits. However, if Phosphates does not
receive the permit, it will need to line or relocate the cooling
pond, which is estimated to cost approximately $45.0
million.

Restructuring Charges

In connection with the Company’s Rightsizing Program,
Phosphates has discontinued mining or processing
operations at a number of its facilities including the Payne
Creek and Noralyn mines and the Nichols concentrates
plant. Such discontinuation will trigger decommissioning,
closure and reclamation requirements under a number of
Florida regulations and Company permits. These activities
are estimated to cost $41.0 million, for which reserves have
been established. Although the Company believes that it
has reasonably estimated these costs, additional
expenditures could be required to address unanticipated
environmental conditions as they arise.

Remedial Activities

Remediation at Company Facilities. Many of the Company’s
formerly owned or current facilities have been in operation
for a number of years. The historical use and handling of
regulated chemical substances, crop and animal nutrients
and additives, salt and by-product or process tailings at
these facilities by the Company and predecessor operators
have resulted in soil and groundwater contamination. In
addition, through the FTX Merger, the Company assumed
responsibility for contamination at some crop nutrient
facilities that were owned or operated by FTX, PLP or their
predecessors.

At many of these facilities, spills or other unintended
releases of regulated substances have occurred previously
and potentially could occur in the future, possibly requiring
the Company to undertake or fund cleanup efforts. in some
instances, the Company has agreed, pursuant to consent
orders with the appropriate governmental agencies, to
undertake certain investigations, which currently are in
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progress, to determine whether remedial action may be
required to address contamination.

At other locations, the Company has entered into consent
orders with appropriate governmental agencies to perform
required remedial activities that will address identified site
conditions. Expenditures for these known conditions
currently are not expected to be material. However, material
expenditures by the Company could be required in the
future to remediate the contamination at these or at other
current or former sites.

The Company believes that, pursuant to several
indemnification agreements, it is entitied to at least partial,
and in many instances complete, indemnification for the
costs that may be expended by the Company to remedy
environmental issues at certain facilities. These agreements
address issues that resulted from activities occurring prior to
the Company'’s acquisition of facilities or businesses from
parties including PPG Industries, Inc.; Kaiser Aluminum &
Chemical Corporation; Beatrice Companies, Inc.; Estech,
Inc.; ARCO; Conoco; The Williams Companies; Kerr-McGee
Inc.; and certain other private parties. The Company has
already received and anticipates receiving amounts
pursuant to the indemnification agreements for certain of its
expenses incurred to date as well as future anticipated
expenditures.

During 1999, under a consent order with the state of
South Carolina, the Company successfully deconstructed its
former fertilizer production facility in Spartanburg, South
Carolina. Subsequently, the EPA performed an expanded
site investigation (ESI) at this facility to determine whether
the Company will be required to conduct any additional
remedial activities. Because the results of that ESI have not
been finalized, the Company cannot determine the cost of
any remedial action that ultimately may be required.
Recently, several attorneys purportedly representing 600
neighbors of the Spartanburg facility have expressed their
intention to file suit against the Company for alleged
personal injury and property damage. Until these suits are
filed, the Company is unable to determine the magnitude of
potential exposure; however, the Company intends to
vigorously contest any actions that may be brought.

Remediation at Third-Party Facilities. Along with
impacting the sites at which the Company has operated,
parties have alleged that the Company'’s historic operations
have resulted in contamination to neighboring off-site areas
or third-party facilities. In some instances, the Company has
agreed, pursuant to consent orders with appropriate
governmental agencies, to undertake investigations, which
currently are in progress, to determine whether remedial
action may be required to address contamination. The
Company’s remedial liability at these sites, either alone or in
the aggregate, currently is not expected to be material. As
more information is obtained regarding these sites, this
expectation could change.

In September 1999, four plaintiffs filed Moore et al. vs.
Agrico Chemical Company et al.,, a class-action lawsuit
naming Agrico Chemical Company, FTX, PLP and a
number of unrelated defendants. The suit seeks unspecified
compensation for alleged property damage, medical
monitoring, remediation of an alleged public health hazard
and other appropriate damages purportedly arising from
operation of the neighboring fertilizer and crop protection
chemical facilities in Lakeland, Florida. Agrico Chemical
Company owned the Landia portion of these facilities for
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approximately 18 months during the mid-1970s. Because
the litigation is in its early stages, management cannot
determine the magnitude of any exposure to the Company;
however, the Company intends to vigorously contest this
action and to seek any indemnification to which it may be
entitled. Concurrent with this litigation, the EPA has
undertaken on-site and off-site investigations of these
facilities to determine whether any remediation of existing
contamination may be necessary. Pursuant to an
indemnification agreement with the Company, The Williams
Companies have assumed responsibility for any costs that
Agrico Chemical Company might incur for remediation as a
result of the EPA’s actions.

Superfund

The Comprehensive Environmental Response
Compensation and Liability Act (Superfund) imposes
liability, without regard to fault or to the legality of a party’s
conduct, on certain categories of persons who are
considered to have contributed to the release of “hazardous
substances” into the environment. Currently, the Company
is involved or concluding involvement at less than 20
Superfund or equivalent state sites. The Company’s
remedial liability at these sites, either alone or in the
aggregate, is not currently expected to be material. As more
information is obtained regarding these sites and the
potentially responsible parties involved, this expectation
could change.

Oil and Gas

Through the FTX Merger, the Company assumed
responsibility for contamination and environmental impacts
at a significant number of oil and gas facilities that were
businesses operated by FTX, PLP or their predecessors.
The Company recorded an additional $18.3 million, $10.8
million after tax, of environmental exit costs as a result of
additional information which became available to the
Company in the fourth quarter of 1999 concerning the
Company’s obligations with respect to previously owned oil
and gas properties. The Company is currently involved in
eight such claims, which allege destruction of marshland by
oil and gas operations or contamination resulting from
disposal of oil and gas residual materials. The Company’s
liability for these claims, either alone or in the aggregate,
taking into account established reserves, is not expected to
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations. As more information is
obtained regarding these claims or as new claims arise, this
expectation could change.
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1.27

PENNZOIL-QUAKER STATE COMPANY AND
SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

Environmental.

The Company is subject to certain laws and regulations
relating to environmental remediation activities associated
with past operations, such as the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act
(“CERCLA"), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
and similar state statutes. In response to liabilities
associated with these activities, accruals have been
established when reasonable estimates are possible. Such
accruals primarily include estimated costs associated with
remediation. The Company has not used discounting in
determining its accrued liabilities for environmental
remediation, and no claims for possible recovery from third-
party insurers or other parties related to environmental costs
have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. The Company adjusts the accruals
when new remediation responsibilities are discovered and
probable costs become estimatable, or when current
remediation estimates are adjusted to reflect new
information.

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are involved in
matters in which it has been alleged that such subsidiaries
are potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”) under CERCLA
or similar state legislation with respect to various waste
disposal areas owned or operated- by third parties. In
addition, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are involved
in other environmental remediation activities, including the
removal, inspection and replacement, as necessary, of
underground storage tanks. As of December 31, 1999 and
1998, the Company’s consolidated balance sheet included
accrued liabilities for environmental remediation of $38.0
million and $27.2 million, respectively. Of these reserves,
$5.4 milion and $4.2 million are reflected on the
consolidated balance sheet as current liabilities as of
December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, and $32.6
million and $23.0 million are reflected as other liabilities as
of December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The
Company does not currently believe there is a reasonable
possibility of incurring additional material costs in excess of
the current accruals recognized for such environmental
remediation activities. With respect to the sites in which the
Company's subsidiaries are PRPs, the Company’s
conclusion is based in large part on (i) the availability of
defenses to liability, including the availability of the
“petroleum exclusion” under CERCLA and similar state
laws, and/or (ii) the Company’s current belief that its share
of wastes at a particular site is or will be viewed by the
Environmental Protection Agency or other PRPs as being
de minimis. As a result, Pennzoil-Quaker State’s monetary
exposure is not expected to be material beyond the
amounts reserved.
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1.28

VARIAN MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC., AND
SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (SEP)

Environmental Matters

VMS’s operations are subject to various foreign, federal,
state and/or local laws regulating the discharge of materials
into the environment or otherwise relating to the protection
of the environment. This includes discharges into soil, water
and air, and the generation, handling, storage,
transportation and disposal of waste and hazardous
substances. In addition, several countries are reviewing
proposed regulations that would require manufacturers to
dispose of their products at the end of a product’s useful life.
These laws have the effect of increasing costs and potential
liabilities associated with the conduct of such operations.

The Company has been named by the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency or third parties as a
potentially responsible party under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended (“CERCLA”), at nine sites where Varian
is alleged to have shipped manufacturing waste for
recycling or disposal. The Company is also involved in
various stages of environmental investigation and/or
remediation under the direction of, or in consultation with,
federal, state and/or local agencies at certain current VMS
or former Varian facilities (including facilities disposed of in
connection with the Company’s sale of its Electron Devices
business during 1995, and the sale of its Thin Film Systems
business during 1997). Under the terms of the Distribution
Agreement, VI and VSEA are each obligated to indemnify
VMS for one-third of these environmental-related
investigation and remediation costs (after adjusting for any
insurance proceeds realized or tax benefits recognized by
the Company). Expenditures for environmental investigation
and remediation amounted to $0.9 million in fiscal year
1999, $1.7 million in fiscal year 1998 and $0.8 million in
fiscal year 1997, net of amounts that were, or would have
been, borne by V| and VSEA.

For certain of these sites and facilities, various
uncertainties make it difficult to assess the likelihood and
scope of further investigation or remediation activities or to
estimate the future costs of such activities if undertaken. As
of October 1, 1999, VMS nonetheless estimated that VMS's
future exposure (net of VI and VSEA's indemnification
obligations) for environmental-related investigation and
remediation costs for these sites ranged in the aggregate
from $12.4 million to $29.8 million. The time frame over
which the Company expects to incur such costs varies with
each site, ranging up to approximately 30 years as of
October 1, 1999. Management believes that no amount in
the foregoing range of estimated future costs is more
probable of being incurred than any other amount in such
range and therefore accrued $12.4 million in estimated
environmental costs as of October 1, 1999. The amount
accrued has not been discounted to present value.

As to other sites and facilities, VMS has gained sufficient
knowledge to be able to better estimate the scope and costs
of future environmental activities. As of October 1, 1999,
VMS estimated that VMS's future exposure (net of VI and
VSEA's indemnification obligations) for environmental-
related investigation and remediation costs for these sites
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and facilities ranged in the aggregate from $22.9 million to
$39.0 million. The time frame over which these costs are
expected to be incurred varies with each site and facility,
ranging up to approximately 30 years as of October 1, 1999.
As to each of these sites and facilities, management
determined that a particular amount within the range of
estimated costs was a better estimate of the future
environmental liability than any other amount within the
range, and that the amount and timing of these future costs
were reliably determinable. Together, these amounts totaled
$26.7 million at October 1, 1999. VMS accordingly accrued
$11.9 million, which represents its best estimate of the
future costs discounted at 4%, net of inflation. This accrual
is in addition to the $12.4 million described in the preceding
paragraph.

At October 1, 1999, the Company's reserve for
environmental liabilities, based upon future environmental
related costs estimated by the Company as of that date,
was calculated as follows:

Non- Total
Recurring  Recurring  Anticipated
(Dollars in millions) Costs Costs Future costs
Fiscal Year:

$12 $2.8 $ 40

1.3 1.1 24

1.4 0.0 1.4

13 0.0 13

1.4 0.0 1.4

27.2 1.4 28.6

$33.8 $5.3 $39.1
Less imputed interest.............. (14.8)
Reserve amount...........ccc....... $24.3

The amounts set forth in the foregoing table are only
estimates of anticipated future environmental-related costs,
and the amounts actually spent may be greater or less than
such estimates. The aggregate range of cost estimates
reflects  various uncertainties inherent in  many
environmental investigation and remediation activities and
the large number of sites and facilities involved. VMS
believes that most of these cost ranges will narrow as
investigation and remediation activities progress. VMS
believes that its reserves are adequate, but as the scope of
its obligations becomes more clearly defined, these
reserves (and the associated indemnification obligations of
VI and VSEA) may be modified and related charges against
earnings may be made.

Although any ultimate liability arising from environmental-
related matters described herein could result in significant
expenditures that, if aggregated and assumed to occur
within a single fiscal year, would be material to VMS’s
financial statements, the likelihood of such occurrence is
considered remote. Based on information currently available
to management and its best assessment of the ultimate
amount and timing of environmental-related events (and
assuming VI and VSEA satisfy their indemnification
obligations), management believes that the costs of these
environmental related matters are not reasonably likely to
have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
statements of VMS.
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VMS evaluates its liability for environmental-related
investigation and remediation in light of the liability and
financial wherewithal of potentially responsible parties and
insurance companies with respect to which VMS believes
that it has rights to contribution, indemnity and/or
reimbursement (in addition to the obligations of VI and
VSEA). Claims for recovery of environmental investigation
and remediation costs already incurred, and to be incurred
in the future, have been asserted against various insurance
companies and other third parties. In 1992, the Company
filed a lawsuit against 36 insurance companies with respect
to most of the above-referenced sites and facilities. The
Company received certain cash settlements during fiscal
years 1995, 1996, 1997 and 1998 from defendants in that
lawsuit. The Company has also reached an agreement with
another insurance company under which the insurance
company has agreed to pay a portion of the Company’s
past and future environmental-related expenditures, and
VMS therefore has a $3.6 million receivable in Other Assets
at October 1, 1999. VMS believes that this receivable is
recoverable because it is based on a binding, written
settlement agreement with a solvent and financially viable
insurance company. Although VMS intends to aggressively
pursue additional insurance and other recoveries, VMS has
not reduced any liability in anticipation of recovery with
respect to claims made against third parties.

Varian’s present and past facilities have been in operation
for many years, and over that time in the course of those
operations, such facilities have used substances which are
or might be considered hazardous, and Varian has
generated and disposed of wastes which are or might be
considered hazardous. Therefore, it is possible that
additional environmental issues may arise in the future that
VMS cannot now predict.

Year 2000 Excerpts
1.29
HUGHES SUPPLY, INC. (JAN)

Year 2000 Issues

The Company studied the “Year 2000" issues affecting its
information technology systems, its non-information
technology systems, and its issues with third-party
companies and other significant suppliers, and implemented
a plan to address them. Year 2000 issues have not had a
material adverse effect on the Company’s operations. The
cost of addressing its Year 2000 issues was approximately
$1.2 million. These costs have not had a material effect on
the Company’s financial position or results of operations in
any one period in part because they represent the re-
deployment of existing information technology resources,
and because they would have been incurred as part of
normal software upgrades and replacements.
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1.30
KMART CORPORATION (JAN)

Year 2000

The Company’s Year 2000 Compliance Program consisted
of four phases, (l) inventory and assessment, (II)
remediation and unit testing, (Ill) return to production and
(IV) integration testing, all of which were successfuily
completed. As of March 1, 2000, the Company concluded
its Year 2000 Compliance Program, as no Year 2000
related events had occurred that materially affected either
the Company’s operations or its financial statements.

The total cost of the Company's Year 2000 Compliance
Program will approximate $80 million, with $29 million
incurred in 1999, $46 miillion incurred in 1998 and $5 million
incurred in 1997. Certain information technology projects
were delayed as a result of the Company’s Year 2000
compliance efforts, which is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

1.31 :
THE KROGER CO. (JAN)

Year 2000 Disclosure

We did not experience any significant malfunctions or errors
in our operating or business systems either when the date
changed from 1999 to 2000 or on February 29, 2000. Based
on operations since January 1, 2000, we do not expect any
significant impact on our ongoing business as a result of the
“Year 2000” issue. However, it is possible that the full
impact of the date change, which was of concern due to
computer programs that use two digits instead of four digits
to define years, has not been fully recognized. For example,
it is possible that Year 2000 or similar issues may occur with
billing, payroll, or financial closings at period, quarter, or
year-end. We believe that any such problems are likely to
be minor and correctable. In addition, we could still be
negatively affected if the Year 2000 or similar issues
adversely affect our customers or suppliers. We currently
are not aware of any significant Year 2000 or similar
problems that have arisen for our customers and suppliers.

We spent $23 million on Year 2000 readiness efforts in
1999 and a total of $49 million from 1997 through 1999.
These efforts included replacing some outdated,
noncompliant hardware and noncompliant software as well
as identifying and remediating Year 2000 problems.
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Market Risk Information Excerpts From
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

1.32

AIR PRODUCTS AND CHEMICALS, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES (SEP)

Financial Instruments Sensitivity Analysis

The analysis below presents the sensitivity of the market
value of the company's financial instruments to selected
changes in market rates and prices. The range of changes
chosen reflects the company's view of changes which are
reasonably possible over a one-year period. Market values
are the present value of projected future cash flows based
on the market rates and prices chosen. The market values
for interest rate risk and foreign currency risk (other than the
currency options related to the BOC transaction) are
calculated by the company utilizing a third-party software
model which utilizes standard pricing models to determine
the present value of the instruments based on the market
conditions (interest rates, spot and forward exchange rates,
and implied volatilities) as of the valuation date. The market
values for the currency options related to the BOC
transaction are calculated by the financial institution with
whom the options were executed. All instruments are
entered into for other than trading purposes. The utilization
of these instruments is described more fully in the financial
instruments section of the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis and Notes 3, 5, and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements. The major accounting policies for these
instruments are described in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The company’s derivative and other financial instruments
consist of long-term debt (including current portion), interest
rate swaps, interest rate and currency swaps, foreign
exchange-forward contracts, and foreign exchange-option
contracts. The net market value of these financial
instruments combined is referred to below as the net
financial instrument position. The net financial instrument
position does not include other investments of $38.4 million
at 30 September 1999 and $18.4 million at 30 September
1998 as disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. These amounts principally represent an
investment in a publicly traded foreign company accounted
for by the cost method. The company assessed the
materiality of the market risk exposure on these financial
instruments and determined this exposure to be immaterial.

At 30 September 1999, the net financial instrument
position before the impact of the currency options executed
to hedge the BOC transaction was a liability of $2,504.2
million. When the currency options related to the BOC
transaction are included, the net financial instrument
position at 30 September 1999 falls to a liability of $2,433.8
million. At 30 September 1998, the net financial instrument
position was a liability of $2,713.6 million. The decrease in
the net financial instrument position from fiscal 1998 is due
mainly to the increase in market interest rates in the current
year and the execution of the currency options related to the
BOC transaction.
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Interest Rate Risk

The company’s debt portfolio, including interest rate swap
agreements, as of 30 September 1999 is composed
primarily of debt denominated in U.S. dollars (60%). The
primary currencies of non-U.S. dollar debt are British Pound
Sterling and the Euro currencies. The company has both
fixed- and variable-rate debt. Changes in interest rates have
different impacts on the fixed- and variable-rate portions of
the company’s debt portfolio. A change in interest rates on
the fixed portion of the debt portfolio impacts the net
financial instrument position but has no impact on interest
incurred or cash flows. A change in interest rates on the
variable portion of the debt portfolio impacts the interest
incurred and cash flows but does not impact the net
financial instrument position.

The sensitivity analysis related to the fixed portion of the
company’s debt portfolio assumes an instantaneous 100
basis point move in interest rates from their levels of 30
September 1999 and 1998, with all other variables
(including foreign exchange rates) held constant. A 100
basis point increase in market interest rates would result in
a decrease in the net financial instrument position of $95
million and $119 million at 30 September 1999 and 1998,
respectively. A 100 basis point decrease in market interest
rates would result in an increase in the net financial
instrument position of $117 million and $141 million at 30
September 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Based on the variable-rate debt included in the
company’s debt portfolio, including interest rate swap
agreements, as of 30 September 1999 and 1998, a 100
basis point increase in interest rates would result in an
additional $12 million in interest incurred per year at both 30
September 1999 and 1998. A 100 basis point decline would
lower interest incurred by $12 million per year at both 30
September 1999 and 1998.

133
ALLEN TELECOM INC. (DEC)

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company’s primary market risk exposure relating to
derivatives results from the use of foreign currency forward
contracts to offset the impact of currency rates against
certain assets related to accounts receivable. The contracts
entered into at year-end all expire within one year. The
Company also entered into two foreign currency forward
contracts in October 1999 to offset the impact of currency
rate changes with regard to foreign denominated purchase
obligations relating to the Company’s purchase of the
remaining minority interest of certain European companies.
The Company does not enter into derivative instrument
transactions for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company’s on-balance sheet instruments which are
subject to interest rate fluctuations are various components
of its long-term debt. The Company believes the risks are
minimal. Approximately 57% of the Company’s long-term
debt is fixed rate debt and not subject to interest rate
fluctuation. The variable rate debt is primarily made up of
the Company’s domestic revolving credit facility and
industrial revenue bonds. The revolving credit debt interest
is determined on a LIBOR or prime rate basis, at the
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Company’s option. The industrial development bonds carry
interest rates which are established based on the low yield,
tax free bond market.

The table below provides information about the
Company’s derivative financial instruments and other
financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in
exchange and interest rates. For derivative instruments, the
table presents contract amounts and related average
contractual exchange rates by expected maturity date as of
December 31, 1999 and 1998. For debt obligations, the
table presents principal cash flows and related weighted
average interest rates by expected maturity dates as of
December 31, 1999.

Anticipated Transactions and Related Derivatives

(US $ equivalent Carrying Value Fair Value
in thousands) 2000 1999 2000 1999

Lira Functional Currency
Foreign Exchange
Agreements:
Receive Lira/Pay USD
Contract Amount $2,004.0 —  $2,050.0 —
Avg. Contractual
Exchange Rate 1,810.6 — 1,852.3 -
Receive Lira/Pay LST
Contract Amount $4,476.4 —  $4,49.5 -
Avg. Contractual
Exchange Rate 28175 — 30287 -
Receive Lira/Pay DM
Contract Amount — $ 2914 — $ 2911
Avg. Contractual
Exchange Rate - 990.0 — 9893
Receive Lira/Pay EURO
Contract Amount —  $3667.2 — $3,664.9
Avg. Contractual
Exchange Rate — 1,947.0 — 19458
Receive Lira/Pay FF
Contract Amount —  $1,564.5 — $1,562.9
Avg. Contractual
Exchange Rate - 295.3 — 2950
Deutschmark Functional
Currency
Foreign Exchange
Agreements:
Receive DM/Pay USD
Contract Amount $8,265.7 — $7,7236 -
Avg. Contractual
Exchange Rate 1.8148 - 1.9421 —

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.33



42

Accounting Trends & Techniques

Debt Obligations
Expected Maturity Date
{US $ equivalent in thousands) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 Thereafter Total  Fair value
Long Term Debt:
Fixed Rate (US) $6 $3007 $10,841  $10,841 $7,841  $32558  $65094  $65,094
Avg. interest rate 9% 6% 6% 6% 6% 6% . 8% 6%
Fixed Rate (Lira) 651 425 484 468 365 963 3,356 3,356
Avg. interest rate 5% 4% 4% 4% 5% 5% 5% 5%
Fixed Rate (DM) 472 420 177 60 — — 1,129 1,129
Avg. interest rate 4% 4% 4% 3% — — 4% 4%
Fixed Rate (FF) 90 36 - - - - 126 126
Avg. interest rate 9% 9% - - - - 9% 9%
Variable Rate (US) - 41,500 — — — 11,900 53,400 53,400
Avg. interest rate - 7% - - — 3% 6% 6%
Variable Rate (Lira) 290 — - - - — 290 290

Avg. interest rate 5%

— — 5% 5%

1.34

NOBLE AFFILIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(DEC)

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk.

The Company is exposed to market risk in the normal
course of its business operations. Management believes
that the Company is well positioned with its mix of oil and
gas reserves to take advantage of future price increases
that may occur. However, the uncertainty of oil and gas
prices continues to impact the domestic oil and gas industry.
Due to the volatility of oil and gas prices, the Company, from
time to time, has used derivative hedging and may do so in
the future as a means of controlling its exposure to price
changes. The Company had no crude oil or natural gas
hedges for its production in 1999. The swap component of
the contracts discussed in the following paragraphs was
treated as a hedge for accounting purposes only. There was
no payment obligation in 1999.

The Company has entered into three crude oil premium
swap contracts related to its production for calendar year
2000. Two of the contracts provide for payments based on
daily NYMEX settlement prices. These contracts relate to
2,600 BBLS per day and 2,000 BBLS per day and have
trigger prices of $21.73 per BBL and $22.45 per BBL,
respectively, and both have knockout prices of $17.00 per
BBL. These two contracts entitle the Company to receive
settlements from the counterparties in amounts, if any, by
which the settlement price for each NYMEX trading day is
less than the trigger price, provided the NYMEX price is also
greater than the $17.00 per BBL knockout price. If a daily
settlement price is $17.00 per BBL or less, then neither
party will have any liability to the other for that day. If a daily
settlement price is above the applicable trigger price, then
the Company will owe the counterparty for the excess of the
settlement price over the trigger price for that day. Payment
is made monthly under each of these contracts, in an
amount equal to the net amount due to either party based
on the sum of the daily amounts determined as described in
this paragraph for that month.
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The third contract relates to 2,500 BBLS per day and
provides for payments based on monthly average NYMEX
settlement prices. The contract entities the Company to
receive monthly settlements from the counterparty in an
amount, if any, by which the arithmetic average of the daily
NYMEX settlement prices for the month is less than the
trigger price, which is $21.73 per BBL, multiplied by the
number of days in the month, provided such average
NYMEX price is also greater than the $17.00 per BBL
knockout price. If the average NYMEX settlement price for
the month is $17.00 per BBL or less, then neither party will
have any liability to the other for that month. If the average
NYMEX settlement price for the month is above the trigger
price, then the Company will pay the counterparty an
amount equal to the excess of the average settlement price
over the trigger price, multiplied by the number of days in
the month.

The Company has treated the swap component of these
contracts as a hedge (for accounting purposes only), at
swap prices ranging from $19.40 per BBL to $20.20 per
BBL, which existed at the dates it entered into these
contracts. In addition, the Company has separately
accounted for the premium component of these contracts by
marking them to market, resulting in a gain of $2,990,000
recorded in other income for the year ended December 31,
1999.

In addition to the premium swap crude oil hedging
contracts, the Company has entered into crude oil costless
collar hedges from January 1, 2000, to April 30, 2000, for
volumes of 2,000 BBLS per day. These costless collars
have a floor price ranging from $21.53 per BBL to $23.27
per BBL and a cap price ranging from $25.83 per BBL to
$27.31 per BBL. These costless collar contracts entitle the
Company to receive settlements from the counterparties in
amounts, if any, by which the monthly average settlement
price for each NYMEX trading day during a contract month
is less than the floor price. If the monthly average settlement
price is above the applicable cap price, then the Company
will owe the counterparties for the excess of the monthly
average settlement price over the applicable cap price. If
the monthly average settlement price falls between the
applicable floor and cap price, then neither party will have
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any liability to the other party for that month. Payment, if
any, is made monthly under each of the contracts in an
amount equal to the net amount due either party based on
the volumes per day multiplied by the difference between
the NYMEX average price and the cap, if the NYMEX
average price exceeds the cap price, or if the NYMEX
average price is less than the floor price, then the volumes
per day multiplied by the difference between the fioor price
and the NYMEX average price.

NGM, from time to time, employs hedging arrangements
in connection with its purchases and sales of production.
While most of NGM’s purchases are made for an index-
based price, NGM’s customers often require prices that are
either fixed or related to NYMEX. In order to establish a
fixed margin and mitigate the risk of price volatility, NGM
may convert a fixed or NYMEX sale to an index-based sales
price (such as by purchasing. an index-based futures
contract obligating NGM for delivery of production). Due to
the size of such transactions and certain restraints imposed
by contract and by Company guidelines, as of December
31, 1999, the Company had no material market risk
exposure from NGM'’s hedging activity.

The Company has a $300 million credit agreement (see
Note 3—Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements)
which exposes the Company to the risk of earnings or cash
flow loss due to changes in market interest rates. At
December 31, 1999, there was no borrowing against the
credit facility which has a maturity date of December 24,
2002. The interest rate is based upon a Eurodollar rate plus
a range of 17.5 to 50 basis points. All other Company long-
term debt is fixed-rate and, therefore, does not expose the
Company to the risk of earnings or cash flow loss due to
changes in market interest rates.

On June 17, 1999, the Company entered into a new $100
million 364 day credit agreement with certain commercial
lending institutions. There is no balance outstanding on this
agreement which is based upon a Eurodollar rate plus 37.5
to 87.5 basis points depending upon the percentage of
utilization.

The Company does not invest in foreign currency
derivatives. The U.S. dollar is considered the primary
currency for each of the Company’s international
operations. Transactions that are completed in a foreigh
currency are translated into U.S. dollars and recorded in the
financial statements. Translation gains or losses were not
material in any of the periods presented and the Company
does not believe it is currently exposed to any material risk
of loss on this basis.

Such gains or losses are included in other expense on the
income statement. However, certain sales transactions are
concluded in foreign currencies and the Company therefore
is exposed to potential risk of loss based on fluctuation in
exchange rates from time to time.
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1.35
WOLVERINE WORLD WIDE, INC. (DEC)

Market Risk

The Company has assets, liabilities and inventory purchase
commitments outside the United States that are subject to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. A
substantial portion of inventory sourced from foreign
countries is purchased in U.S. dollars and is accordingly not
subject to exchange rate fluctuations. Similarly, revenues
from products sold in foreign countries under licensing and
distribution arrangements are denominated in U.S. dollars.
As a result, the Company engages in forward foreign
exchange and other similar contracts to reduce its economic
exposure to changes in exchange rates on a limited basis
because the associated risk is not considered significant.

Assets and liabilities outside the United States are
primarily located in Canada and the United Kingdom. The
Company’s investment in foreign subsidiaries with a
functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are generally
considered long-term. Accordingly, the Company does not
hedge these net investments. As a result of management’s
decision 1o exit its Russian wholesale footwear operations in
the second quarter of 1999, the Company’s previous
exposure to foreign currency risk in Russia was
substantially eliminated as of the end of the year.

Because the Company markets, sells and licenses its
products throughout the world, it could be significantly
affected by weak economic conditions in foreign markets
that could reduce demand for its products.

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates
primarily as a result of its long-term debt requirements. The
Company’s interest rate risk management objectives are to
limit the effect of interest rate changes on earnings and
cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve
its objectives, the Company maintains a significant
percentage of fixed-rate debt (70% at January 1, 2000) to
take advantage of lower relative interest rates currently
available and finances seasonal working capital needs with
variable-rate debt. The Company has not historically utilized
interest swap or similar hedging arrangements to fix interest
rates, but in 1998 entered into an interest rate lock
agreement to fix the interest rate prior to the issuance of
6.5% senior notes in the amount of $75 million. The contract
was settled in 1998 and resulted in a prepayment of $2.2
million that is being amortized over the term of the senior
notes. The amortization of the prepayment creates an
effective interest rate of 6.78% on the senior debt.

The table that follows provides principal cash flows and
related interest rates of the Company’s short- and long-term
debt by fiscal year of maturity. For foreign currency-
denominated debt, the information is presented in U.S.
dollar equivalents. Variable interest rates are based on the
weighted average rates of the portfolio at January 1, 2000.

ATT-SEC 1.35



44 Accounting Trends & Techniques

1999 1998
There- Fair Fair

(Millions of dollars) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 after Total Value Total Value
Denominated in U.S. Dollars:

Fixed Rate $4.7 $ 43 $15.0 $15.0 $15.0 $428 $96.8 $98.0 $101.2 $1022

Average Interest Rate 7.8% 7.8% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.5% 6.8% 6.8%

Variable Rate $40.0 $400 $400 $590 $59.0

Average Interest Rate 6.5% 6.5% 6.7%
Denominated in Canadian Dollars:

Variable Rate $ 45 § 45

Average Interest Rate 6.5%
Denominated in British Sterling:

Variable Rate $2.5 $25 $25 § 35 § 35

Average Interest Rate 5.2% 5.2% 7.0%

The Company does not enter into contracts for speculative
or trading purposes, nor is it a party to any leveraged
derivative instruments.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

1.36 Effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 1997, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
131 supersedes SFAS No. 14 in reporting information about
a public business enterprise’s operating segments.
Operating segments are components of an enterprise about
which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance.

1.37 SFAS No. 131 requires that a public business
enterprise report a measure of segment profit or loss,
certain specific revenue and expense items, and segment
assets. It requires reconciliations of total segment revenues,
total segment profit or loss, total segment assets, and other
amounts disclosed for segments to corresponding amounts
in the enterprise’s general-purpose financial statements. It
requires that all public business enterprises report
information about the revenues derived from the
enterprise’s products or services (or groups of similar
products and services), about the countries in which the
enterprise earns revenues and holds assets, and about
major customers regardless of whether that information is
used in making operating decisions. However, this
Statement does not require an enterprise to report
information that is not prepared for internal use if reporting it
would be impracticable.
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1.38 Table 1-3 shows the type of segment information
most frequently presented as an integral part of the financial
statements of the survey companies. Exampies of segment
information disclosures follow.

1.39
TABLE 1-3: SEGMENT INFORMATION
Number of Companies
1999 1998 1997 1996
Industry segments
Revenue 357 387 306 312
Operating income or loss............... 309 305 271 279
Identifiable assets.........vienrernces 368 362 297 307
Depreciation eXpense ... 409 365 300 311
Capital expenditures..............ccon... 374 358 297 308
Geographic area
REVENUE .....ccvvcrrencrnnienseinasesnes 30 297 283 281
Operating income or loss............... 66 m 213 208
Identifiable assets............ccuuunecunee. 92 177 269 258
Depreciation expense..........ccoccu... 4 38 17 16
Capital expenditures..........couresec 41 25 18 17
Export sales 51 111 168 154
Sales to major customers...........c...... 133 136 145 137
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1.40
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 2. Nature of Operations
Industry Segments
For year ended 1999
Floor Building Wood Insulation Al
(Millions) Coverings Products Products Products Other Totals
Net sales to external customers $1,593.0 $752.1 $ 822.6 $225.7 $50.4 $3,443.8
Intersegment sales 2.7 —_ - — 20.7 23.4
Equity (eamings) loss from affiliates 0.1 (16.1) — - (0.8) (16.8)
Segment operating income 2174 119.7 85.0 457 6.0 4738
Reorganization and restructuring reversals (1.1) (0.3 —_ - - (1.4)
Segment assets 1,477.6 535.1 1,308.0 155.8 16.0 3,492.5
Depreciation and amortization 747 34.1 36.1 10.8 28 158.5
Equity investment 33 14.9 - - 16.0 3.2
Capital additions 79.9 455 415 9.1 27 178.7
For year ended 1998
Floor Building Wood Insulation Al
(Millions) Coverings Products Products Products Other Totals
Net sales to external customers $1,317.6 $756.8 $ 346.0 $230.0 $95.8 $2,746.2
Intersegment sales - - - - 395 39.5
Equity (eamings) loss from affiliates 0.2 (14.2) — - 0.2 (13.8)
Segment operating income 176.5 116.6 38.6 46.3 9.1 387.1
Reorganization charges 535 10.1 — 0.2 1.9 65.7
Segment assets 1,359.5 550.1 1,279.0 172.0 67.6 3,428.2
Depreciation and amortization 63.6 39.2 15.3 12.1 72 1374
Equity investment 22 39.6 - —_— - 418
Capital additions 93.6 425 124 11.3 5.9 165.7
For year ended 1997
Floor Building Wood Insulation Al
(Millions) Coverings Products Products Products Other Totals
Net sales to external customers $1,116.0 $754.5 $ — $228.4 $99.8 $2,198.7
Intersegment sales — — - - 35.8 35.8
Equity (eamings) loss from affiliates 0.2 (12.9) —_ - 424 20.7
Segment operating income (loss}) 186.5 1223 - 454 (2.6) 351.6
Segment assets 7138 554.9 - 165.1 219.2 1,653.0
Depreciation and amortization 65.5 375 - 12.0 9.6 124.6
Equity investment 25 36.7 — — 135.7 1749
Capital additions 76.6 54.4 — 134 3.1 1475

Segment information has been prepared in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” Segments were determined based on products
and services provided by each segment. Accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in
the summary of significant accounting policies. Performance
of the segments is evaluated on operating income before
income taxes, excluding reorganization and restructuring
charges, unusual gains and losses, and interest expense.
Armstrong accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as
if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current
market prices.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

The floor coverings segment includes resilient flooring,
adhesives, installation and maintenance materials and
accessories sold to commercial and residential customers
through wholesalers, retailers and contractors. To reduce
interchannel conflict, distinctive resilient flooring products
have been introduced to allow exclusive product offerings
by our customers. Raw materials, especially plasticizers and
resins, are a significant cost of resilient flooring products.
Armstrong has no influence on the worldwide market prices
of these materials and thus Is subject to cost changes.

The building products segment includes commercial and
residential ceiling systems. Grid products, manufactured
through Armstrong’s WAVE joint venture with Worthington
Industries, have become an important part of this business
worldwide. Earnings from this joint venture are included in
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this segment's operating income and in “Equity Earnings
from Affiliates” (see “Equity Investments” note on page 43).
The major sales activity in this segment is commercial
ceiling systems sold to resale distributors and contractors
worldwide, with European sales having a significant impact.
Ceiling systems for the residential home segment are sold
through wholesalers and retailers, mainly in the United
States. Through a joint venture with a Chinese partner, a
plant in Shanghai manufactures ceilings for the Pacific area.

The wood products segment is composed of Triangle
Pacific Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary, a leading
manufacturer of consumer wood products including
hardwood flooring and cabinets. Products in this segment
are used primarily in residential new construction and
remodeling and commercial applications such as retail
stores and restaurants. Approximately 35% of sales are
from new construction which is more cyclical than
remodeling activity. Triangle Pacific manufactures hardwood
flooring under the brand names of Bruce, Harico and
Robbins while cabinets are manufactured under the brand
names of Bruce and IXL.

The insulation products segment includes flexible pipe
insulation used in construction and in original equipment
manufacturing. Sales are primarily in Europe, with Germany
having the largest concentration due to its regulatory

requirements. Strong competition exists in insulation since
there are minimal barriers to entry into this market.

During most of 1999, “all other” included business units
making a variety of specialty products for the building,
automotive, textile and other industries worldwide. Gasket
materials are sold for new and replacement use in
automotive, construction and farm equipment, appliance,
small engine and compressor industries. On June 30, 1999,
Armstrong sold 65% of the gaskets business. Since the
divestiture, Armstrong has accounted for the gaskets
business under the equity method within the “all other”
segment. Textile mill supplies, including cots and aprons,
are sold to equipment manufacturers and textile mills. On
September 30, 1999, Armstrong sold the textiles business.
From 1997 to 1998, Armstrong owned an equity interest in
Dal-Tile International Inc. (“Dal-Tile”), whose ceramic tile
products are sold through home centers, Dal-Tile sales
service centers and independent distributors. In 1998,
Armstrong sold its interest in Dal-Tile.

During 1999, Armstrong recognized revenue of
approximately $348 million from The Home Depot, Inc.,
from sales in the floor coverings, building products, wood
products and insulation products segments.

The table below provides a reconciliation of segment
information to total consolidated information.

(Millions) 1999 1998 1997
Net sales:
Total segment sales $3,443.8 $2,746.2 $2,198.7
Intersegment sales 234 39.5 35.8
Elimination of intersegment sales (23.4) (39.5) (35.8)
Total consolidated sales $3,443.8 $2,746.2 $2,198.7
Operating income:
Total segment operating income $ 4738 $ 387.1 $ 3516
Segment reorganization and restructuring (charges) reversals 1.4 (65.7) —
Corporate reorganization charges — {8.9) —
Dal-Tile charge — - (29.7)
Asbestos liability charge (335.4) (274.2) -_
Unallocated corporate (expense) income (12.0) 1.6 0.1
Total consolidated operating income $ 1278 $ 399 $ 3220
Assets:
Total assets for reportable segments $3,492.5 $3,428.2 $1,653.0
Assets not assigned to business segments 672.0 845.0 722.5
Total consolidated assets $4,164.5 $4,273.2 $2,375.5
Other significant items:
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Segment fotals $ 1585 $ 1374 $ 1246
Unallocated corporate depreciation and amortization expense 10.7 53 8.1
Total consolidated depreciation and amortization expense $ 169.2 $ 1427 $ 1327
Capital additions:
Segment totals $ 1787 $ 1657 $ 1475
Unallocated corporate capital additions 16.5 18.6 13.0
Total consolidated capital additions $ 195.2 $ 184.3 $ 160.5
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Geographic Areas
Net trade sales (millions) 1999 1998 1997
Americas:
United States $2,246.8 $1,803.2 $1,412.2
Canada 119.0 98.6 89.3
Other Americas 29.1 20.2 16.6
Total Americas $2,394.9 $1,922,0 $1,518.1
Europe:
Germany $ 291.3 $ 1825 $ 110.2
England 144.1 1425 130.3
France 90.1 65.9 53.1
Netherlands 101.4 570 331
Other Europe 278.9 2514 221.8
Total Europe $ 905.8 $ 6993 § 5485
Pacific area:
China $ 331 $ 355 $ 26.1
Australia 30.1 28,5 30.5
Other Pacific area 79.9 60.9 755
Total Pacific area $ 143.1 $ 1249 $ 1321
Total net trade sales $3,443.8 $2,746.2 $2,198.7

Sales are attributed to countries based on location of
customer.

Long-lived assets (millions) 1999 1998 1997
Americas:
United States $ 9803 $ 991.9 $746.3
Canada 16.1 171 20.5
Other Americas 0.1 0.1 0.1
Total Americas $ 996.5 $1,009.1 $766.9
Europe:
Germany $ 2270 $ 2703 $ 477
England 52.7 527 54.7
Netherlands 45.6 423 13.0
Belgium 27.3 345 -
France 13.8 15.9 15.1
Sweden 15.2 14.2 11.3
Other Europe 19.7 21.8 213
Total Europe $ 4013 $ 4517 $163.1

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Pacific area:
China $ 337 $ 340 $ 340
Other Pacific area 76 7.2 8.2
Total Pacific area $ M3 $ 41.2 $ 422
Total long-lived assets $1,439.1 $1,502.0 $972.2

1.41
ATLANTIC RICHFIELD COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 Segment Information

Segment information has been prepared in accordance with
SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information.” ARCO has two
reportable segments: exploration and production (E&P) and
refining and marketing (R&M). The segments were
determined based upon types of products produced/sold by
each segment. Segment performance is evaluated based
upon net income, excluding interest expense.

The E&P segment is an aggregation of several business
units engaged in one or more of the following: the worldwide
exploration, development and production of  petroleum
liquids (crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids) and
natural gas; the purchase and sale of petroleum liquids and
natural gas; and the transportation via pipeline of petroleum
liquids within the State of Alaska. The company’s
investments in the LUKARCO joint venture and LUKOIL
common stock are included in the E&P segment as well.

The R&M segment comprises the refining of crude oil,
primarily from the North Slope of Alaska; the marketing of
petroleum products, primarily in the West Coast region of
the U.S.; and the transportation of petroleum liquids and
petroleum products via ocean-going tankers, primarily
between Alaska and the West Coast. The company’s equity
investment in Zhenhai Refining and Chemical Company is
included in the R&M segment as well.

Revenue from other operating segments is attributable to
the pipeline transportation and storage of petroleum liquids
and petroleum products in the 48 contiguous United States.

Intersegment sales were made at prices approximating
current market value.
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Segment Information
1999
Exploration Refining & Unallocated
(Millions) & Production Marketing All Other ltems Totals
Sales and other operating revenue:
us. $5,045 $6,941 $ 46 $ — $12,032
Intemational 1,977 59 — 10 2,046
Intersegment revenues (1,563) — (4) (10) (1,577)
Total 5,459 7,000 42 - 12,501
Income from equity affiliates 20 - 36 - 56
Interest revenue 30 25 — 7 126
Interest expense — - -_ 398 398
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,501 268 9 7 1,785
Income tax expense (benefit) 366 334 52 (219) 533
Net income (loss) 938 593 87 (196)" 1,422
Investment in equity affiliates 972 190 342 4 1,508
Property, plant and equipment (net): ‘
u.s. 7,735 3,225 170 101 11,231
Intemational 7,212 23 — - 7,235
Additions to fixed assets 2,225 481 5 16 2,727
Segment assets 18,752 4,695 916 1,909 26,272
1998
Sales and other operating revenue:
us. $4,374 $5,457 $ 156 $ — $9,987
Intemationat 1,562 27 - 14 1,603
Intersegment revenues (1,179) (14) (80) (14) (1,287)
Total 4,757 5,460 76 - 10,303
Income from equity affiliates 25 19 34 - 78
Interest revenue 18 5 — 96 119
Interest expense - — - 259 259
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,239 252 18 26 1,635
Income tax expense (benefit) (563) 145 65 (298) (651)
Net income (loss) (616) 281 M 676" 452
Investment in equity affiliates 661 219 344 1 1,235
Property, plant and equipment (net):
us. 7,420 2,939 432 132 10,923
International 7,824 15 — - 7,839
Additions to fixed assets 3,020 488 38 5 3,551
Segment assets 18,203 3,826 1,119 2,051" 25,199
1997
Sales and other operating revenue:
us. $7,920 $6,853 $ 177 $ 1 $14,951
Intemational 1,630 3 — 15 1,648
Intersegment revenues (2,164) (3) (77) (15) (2,259)
Total 7,386 6,853 100 1 14,340
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Income from equity affiliates

Interest revenue

Interest expense

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income

Investment in equity affiliates

Property, plant and equipment (net):
us.

Intemational
Additions to fixed assets
Segment assets

Section 1: General

5
12

1,184
653
1,347
336

6,734
3,496
2,276
13,269

8 6

3 —

226 18
161 47
325 82
98 329
2,714 470
330 46
3,564 1,149

99
343
21
(357)

17

146

3
4,443"

49

19
114
343

1,446
504
1,771
763

10,064
3,496
2,655

22,425

® Includes: income from discontinued operations of $179 and $267 in 1998 and 1997, respectively; gain on disposition of discontinued

operations of $77, $928 and $291 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively; and extraordinary loss of $118 in 1997.
® Includes assets of discontinued operations of $67 (1999), $339 (1998) and $2,777 (1997).

1.42
BALL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Business Segment Information

Ball's operations are organized along its product lines and
include two segments—the packaging segment and the
aerospace and technologies segment. The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in
the summary of significant accounting policies. See notes 3
and 4 for information regarding transactions affecting
segment results.

Packaging

The packaging segment includes the manufacture and sale
of metal and PET (polyethylene terephthalate) containers,
primarily for use in beverage and food packaging. The
Company’s consolidated packaging operations are located
in and serve North America (the U.S. and Canada) and
Asia, primarily the People’s Republic of China (PRC).
Packaging operations in the U.S. have increased as a resuit
of the August 1998 acquisition of the North American
beverage can manufacturing business of Reynolds Metals
Company. Operations in Asia also have increased as a
result of the early 1997 acquisition of a controlling interest in
Ball Asia Pacific Limited, formerly M.C. Packaging (Hong
Kong) Limited. The results of both operations are included
within the packaging segment since their acquisition dates.
Ball also has investments in packaging companies in Brazil
and Thailand which are accounted for under the equity
method, and, accordingly, those results are not included in
segment earnings or assets.

Aerospace and Technologies

The aerospace and technologies segment includes civil
space systems, defense systems, commercial space
operations, commercial products and technologies, systems
engineering services, advanced antenna and video systems
and engineering technology products.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

Summary of Business by Segment

($ in millions) 1999 1998 1997
Net Sales
Packaging $3,201.2 $2,533.8 $1,989.8
Aerospace and technologies 383.0 362.6 398.7
Consolidated net sales $3,584.2 $2,896.4 $2,388.5
Eamings Before Interest and
Taxes
Packaging $ 2767 $ 1647 $ 108.3
Plant closures, dispositions and
other costs (Note 4) — (56.2) (3.0)
Total packaging 276.7 108.5 105.3
Aerospace and technologies 24.9 30.4 34.0
Segment eamings before
interest and taxes 301.6 138.9 139.3
Headquarters relocation costs
(Note 4) - (17.7) -
Corporate undistributed
expenses (22.8) (15.3) (11.9)
Dispositions and other (Note 4) — - 12.0
Eamings before interest and
taxes 278.8 105.9 139.4
Interest expense (107.6) (78.6) (53.5)
Provision for income tax
expense (64.9) (8.8) (32.0)
Minority interests (1.9) 79 51
Equity in (losses) eamings of
affiliates (0.2) 5.6 (0.7)
Consolidated eamings before
extraordinary item and
accounting change $ 1042 $ 320 $ 583
Depreciation and Amortization
Packaging $ 1464 $ 1258 $ 1014
Aerospace and technologies 13.5 15.0 14.3
Segment depreciation and
amortization 159.9 140.8 115.7
Corporate 3.0 42 1.8
Consolidated depreciation
and amortization $ 1629 $ 145.0 $ 1175
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Net Investment

Packaging $1,319.7 $1,164.3 $1,088.5
Aerospace and technologies 161.6 143.5 126.6
Segment net investment 1,481.3 1,307.8 1,215.1

Corporate net investment and
eliminations (790.4) (685.5) (580.9)

Consolidated net investment  $ 690.9 $ 6223 $ 634.2
Investments in Equity Affiliates
Packaging $ 790 $ 809 § 745
Aerospace and technologies 23 — —
Segment investments in
equity affiliates 81.3 80.9 74.5
Corporate — — —
Consolidated investments in
equity affiliates $ 813 $ 809 $ 745

Property, Plant and

Equipment Additions
Packaging $ 958 $ 637 § 757
Aerospace and technologies 10.1 17.2 18.6
Segment property, plant and

equipment additions 105.9 80.9 94.3
Corporate 1.1 33 34

Consolidated property, plant

and equipment additions $ 107.0 $ 842 $ 977

Financial data segmented by geographic area is provided
below.

Summary of Net Sales by Geographic Area

($ in millions) us. Other” Consolidated
1999 $3,128.3 $455.9 $3,584.2
1998 2,449.5 446.9 2,896.4
1997 1,888.9 499.6 2,388.5

® Includes the Company's net sales in the PRC and Canada,
neither of which are significant, intercompany eliminations and
other.

Summary of Long-Lived Assets" by Geographic Area

(§ in millions) us. PRC Other”  Consolidated
1999 $1,701.6 $352.0 $(217.3) $1,836.3
1998 1,763.2 369.3 (163.3) 1,969.2
1997 9724 4655  (145.9) 1,292.0

" Long-lived assets primarily consist of property, plant and
equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets.

@ Includes the Company’s long-lived assets in Canada, which are
not significant, intercompany eliminations and other.

Major Customers

Packaging segment sales to Miller Brewing Company, a
customer since a 1998 acquisition, represented
approximately 15 percent of net sales in 1999 and less than
10 percent in 1998. Sales to PepsiCo, Inc., and affiliates
represented approximately 13 percent of consolidated net
sales in 1999, 15 percent of consolidated net sales in 1998
and 12 percent of consolidated net sales in 1997. Sales to
Coca-Cola and affiliates represented 11 percent of
consolidated net sales in 1999, 10 percent of consolidated
net sales in 1998 and less than 10 percent in 1997. Sales to
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all bottlers of Pepsi-Cola and Coca-Cola branded beverages
comprised approximately 35 percent of consolidated net
sales in 1999, 40 percent of consolidated net sales in 1998
and 36 percent of consolidated net sales in 1997. Sales to
various U.S. government agencies by the aerospace and
technologies segment, either as a prime contractor or as a
subcontractor, represented approximately 9 percent, 11
percent and 14 percent of consolidated net sales in 1999,
1998 and 1997, respectively.

1.43

THE BLACK & DECKER CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 17: Business Segments and Geographic Information

The Corporation has elected to organize its businesses
based principally upon products and services. In certain
instances where a business does not have a local presence
in a particular country or geographic region, however, the
Corporation has assigned responsibility for sales of that
business’s products to one of its other businesses with a
presence in that country or region.

The Corporation operates in three reportable business
segments: Power Tools and Accessories, Hardware and
Home Improvement, and Fastening and Assembly Systems.
The Power Tools and Accessories segment has worldwide
responsibility for the manufacture and sale of consumer and
professional power tools and accessories, electric cleaning
and lighting products, and electric lawn and garden tools, as
well as for product service. In addition, the Power Tools and
Accessories segment has responsibility for the sale of
plumbing products to customers outside of the United
States and Canada and for sales of the retained portion of
the household products business. The Hardware and Home
Improvement segment has worldwide responsibility for the
manufacture and sale of security hardware. It also has
responsibility for the manufacture of plumbing products and
for the sale of plumbing products to customers in the United
States and Canada. The Fastening and Assembly Systems
segment has worldwide responsibility for the manufacture
and sale of fastening and assembly systems.

The Corporation also operated several businesses that do
not constitute reportable business segments. These
businesses included the manufacture and sale of glass
container-forming and inspection equipment, as well as
recreational and household products. As more fully
described in Note 2, during 1998, the Corporation
completed the sale or recapitalization of its glass container-
forming and inspection equipment business, Emhart Glass;
its recreational products business, True Temper Sports; and
its household products businesses (excluding certain assets
associated with cleaning and lighting products) in North
America, Central America, the Caribbean, South America
(excluding Brazil), and Australia. Because True Temper
Sports, Emhart Glass, and the divested household products
businesses are not treated as discontinued operations
under generally accepted accounting principles, they remain
a part of the Corporation’s reported results from continuing
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operations, and the results of operations and financial
positions of these businesses have been included in the
consolidated financial statements through the dates of
consummation of the respective transactions. Amounts
relating to these businesses are included in the following
table under the caption “All Others”. The results of the
household products businesses included under the caption
“All Others” are based upon certain assumptions and
allocations. The household products businesses sold during
1998 were jointly operated with the cleaning and lighting

products businesses retained by the Corporation. Further,
the Corporation’s divested household products businesses
in Central America, the Caribbean, South America
(excluding Brazil), and Australia were operated jointly with
the power tools and accessories businesses. Accordingly,
the results of the household products businesses included
in the segment table under the caption “All Others” were
determined using certain assumptions and allocations that
the Corporation believes are reasonable under the
circumstances.

Business Segments
(Millions of dollars)

Reportable Business Segments

Power Hardware Fastening Currency Corporate,
Tools & &Home & Assembly All Translation  Adjustments

Year Ended December 31, 1999 Accessories  Improvement Systems Total Others  Adjustments & Eliminations  Consolidated
Sales to unaffiliated customers $3,209.3 $881.8 $497.7 $4,588.8 $ — $(68.3) $ — $4,520.5
Segment profit (loss)

(for Consolidated,

operating income) 3773 124.0 843 585.6 — (6.9) (42.4) 536.3
Depreciation and amortization 87.7 311 15.4 134.2 — (1.8) 276 160.0
Income from equity method

investees 16.8 - — 16.8 - -— (2.1) 147
Capital expenditures 109.1 38.3 26.9 1743 — 3.5) 3 1711
Segment assets

(for Consolidated, total assets) 1,836.0 508.2 273.2 2,617.4 — (59.4) 1,454.7 4,012.7
Investment in equity method

investees 26.3 — 6 26.9 - .6 2.3 20.8
Year Ended December 31, 1998
Sales to unaffiliated customers $2,946.4 $851.1 $463.0 $4,260.5 $333.6 $(34.2) $ — $4,559.9
Segment profit (loss)

(for Consolidated, operating

income before restructuring and

exit costs, write-off of goodwill,

and gain on sales of businesses) 2934 125.2 76.6 495.2 16.5 (4.4) (23.3) 484.0
Depreciation and amortization 88.2 271 13.4 128.7 — (1.9) 27.6 155.2
Income from equity method

investees 8.8 — - 8.8 — — (2.9 5.9
Capital expenditures 79.1 36.5 16.2 131.8 13.3 (1.1) 2.0 146.0
Segment assets

{for Consolidated, total assets) 1,631.3 507.8 246.7 2,385.8 - (4.6) 1,471.3 3,852.5
Investment in equity method

investees 225 - 6 23.1 — A 2.3 255
Year Ended December 31, 1997
Sales to unaffiliated customers $2,936.4 $804.8 $451.3 $4,192.5 $718.1 $29.9 $ — $4,940.5
Segment profit (loss)

(for Consolidated,

operating income) 290.7 121.3 69.7 481.7 61.7 (2.9) (51.8) 4893
Depreciation and amortization 87.5 24.7 11.9 124.1 244 (-3) 66.0 2142
Income from equity method

investees 6.1 — — 6.1 — 3 (1.7) 47
Capital expenditures 113.2 47.3 15.4 175.9 25.3 (-2) 2.1 203.1
Segment assets

(for Consolidated, total assets) 1,635.4 476.5 248.2 2,360.1 438.6 8.0 2,554.0 5,360.7
Investment in equity method

investees 231 — .6 23.7 — 9 1.0 25.6

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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The Corporation assesses the performance of its reportable
business segments based upon a number of factors,
including segment profit. In general, segments follow the
same accounting policies as those described in Note 1,
except with respect to foreign currency translation and
except as further indicated below. The financial statements
of a segment’s operating units located outside of the United
States, except those units operating in highly inflationary
economies, are generally measured using the local currency
as the functional currency. For these units located outside of
the United States, segment assets and elements of
segment profit are translated using budgeted rates of
exchange. Budgeted rates of exchange are established
annually and, once established, all prior period segment
data is restated to reflect the current year's budgeted rates
of exchange. The amounts included in the preceding table
under the captions “Reportable Business Segments”, “All
Others”, and “Corporate, Adjustments, & Eliminations” are
reflected at the Corporation’s budgeted exchange rates for
1999. The amounts included in the preceding table under
the caption “Currency Translation Adjustments” represent
the difference between consolidated amounts determined
using those budgeted rates of exchange and those
determined based upon the rates of exchange applicable
under accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.

Segment profit excludes interest income and expense,
non-operating income and expense, goodwill amortization,
adjustments to eliminate intercompany profit in inventory,
and income tax expense. In addition, segment profit
excludes restructuring and exit costs and, for 1998, the
write-off of goodwill and gain on sale of businesses. For
certain operations located in Brazil, Mexico, Venezuela, and
Turkey, segment profit is reduced by net interest expense
and non-operating expenses. In determining segment profit,
expenses relating to pension and other post-retirement
benefits are based solely upon estimated service costs.
Corporate expenses are allocated to each reportable
segment based upon budgeted amounts. No Corporate
expenses have been allocated to divested businesses.
While sales and transfers between segments are accounted
for at cost plus a reasonable profit, the effects of
intersegment sales are excluded from the computation of
segment profit. Intercompany profit in inventory is excluded
from segment assets and is recognized as a reduction of
cost of sales by the selling segment when the related
inventory is sold to an unaffiliated customer. Because the
Corporation compensates the management of its various
businesses on, among other factors, segment profit, the
Corporation may elect to record certain segment-related
expense items of an unusual or non-recurring nature in
consolidation rather than reflect such items in segment
profit. In addition, certain segment-related items of income
or expense may be recorded in consolidation in one period
and transferred to the various segments in a later period.

Segment assets exclude pension and tax assets,
goodwill, intercompany profit in inventory, and intercompany
receivables.

Amounts in the preceding table under the caption
“Corporate, Adjustments & Eliminations” on the lines entitled
“Depreciation and amortization” represent depreciation of
Corporate property and consolidated goodwill amortization.
The reconciliation of segment profit to consolidated earnings
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(loss) before income taxes for each year, in millions of
dollars, is as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Segment profit for total reportable

business segments $585.6 $495.2  $4817
Segment profit for all other businesses - 16.5 61.7
Items excluded from segment profit:

Adjustment of budgeted foreign

exchange rates to actual rates (6.9) 4.4) (2.3)
Depreciation of Corporate property

and amortization of goodwili (276) (276) (66.0)
Adjustment to businesses'

postretirement benefit expenses

booked in consolidation 24.8 244 238

Adjustment to eliminate net interest
and non-operating expenses from
results of certain operations in
Brazil, Mexico, Venezuela,
and Turkey 1.0 5.7 3.6
Other adjustments booked in
consolidation directly related to
reportable business segments (124)  (204) (17.6)
Amounts allocated to businesses in
arriving at segment profit in excess
of (less than) Corporate center
operating expenses, eliminations,
and other amounts identified above (28.2) (5.4) 44

Operating income before restructuring
and exit costs, write-off of goodwill,

and gain on sale of businesses 536.3 484.0 489.3
Restructuring and exit costs — 164.7 -
Write-off of goodwill - 900.0 —
Gain on sale of businesses — 114.5 -

Operating income (loss) 536.3 (466.2) 489.3
Interest expense, net of interest income 95.8 114.4 124.6
Other (income) expenses (.8) 77 15.2

Eamings (loss) before income taxes $441.3 §$(588.3) $349.5

The reconciliation of segment assets to the consolidated
total assets at the end of each year, in millions of dollars, is
as follows:

1999 1998 1997
Segment assets for total
reportable business
segments $2,617.4 $2,385.8 $2,360.1
Segment assets for all
other businesses - — 438.6
Items excluded from segment
assets:
Adjustment of budgeted
foreign exchange rates
to actual rates (59.4) (4.6) 8.0
Goodwill 7434 768.7 1,877.3
Pension assets 377.0 348.8 391.6
Other corporate assets 334.3 353.8 285.1
$4,0127 $3,852.5 $5,360.7
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Other Corporate assets principally consist of cash and cash
equivalents, tax assets, property, and other assets.

Sales to The Home Depot, a customer of the Power Tools
and Accessories and Hardware and Home Improvement
segments, accounted for $755.9 million, $622.3 million and
$541.6 million of the Corporation’s consolidated sales for
the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively.

The composition of the Corporation’s sales by product
group for each year, in millions of dollars, is set forth below:

1.44
BMC INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

13. Segment Information

The Company has two operating segments which
manufacture and sell a variety of products: Buckbee-Mears
and Optical Products. Buckbee-Mears manufactures

1999 1998 1997 e . "
- principally aperture masks, photochemically etched fine
Consumer and professional mesh grids used in the manufacture of color television tubes
power tools and product and computer monitors. Optical Products manufactures
service _ $2,3186  $2,1239  $2,070.4 ophthalmic lenses. Net sales of aperture masks comprised
Consumer and professional 89%, 86% and 87% of Buckbee-Mears revenues in 1999,
accessories 357.3 3398 3421 1998 and 1997, respectively, and 55%, 54% and 61% of the
E':‘r’gé%:;‘s”" and garden o877 2836 2621 Company’s consolidated total revenues in 1999, 1998 and
X . - : - ' 1997, respectively.
Electric cleaning and lighting The following is a summary of certain financial information
Seouty hardvare o6z 56 g5 o@inglothenosegments:
Plumbing products 260:6 257'.0 242.3 1999 1998 1997
Fastening and assembly
systems 498.4 461.0 460.2 Total Revenues by Segment
Household products 44.4 197.1 4854 Buckbee-Mears $217,868 $212,083  $219,007
Glass antainer.forming and Optlcal Products 135,986 123,055 93,531
inspection equipment - 130.3 2386 Total Revenues $353,854 $335,138 $312,538
Recreational products - 71.9 82.6 : -
Operating Profit (Loss)
$4,520.5 $4,559.9 $41940-5 by SQQmenI
Buckbee-Mears
The Corporation markets its products and services in over Before corporate allocation and
100 countries and has manufacturing sites in ten countries. impairment charge $ 23863 § 1,969 §$ 41,489
Other than in the United States, the Corporation does not Impairment of long-lived assets —  (42,800) —
conduct business in any country in which its sales in that Less corporate allocation' (2183)  (2522)  (2314)
country exceed 10% of consolidated sales. Sales are Total 21,680  (43,353) 39,175
attributed to countries based on the location of customers. Optical Prod
The composition of the Corporation’s sales to unaffiliated Bpfuca roducts loc
customers between those in the United States and those in eaz;ii‘;gm:;‘:;h°§ﬁg°“ and
?otnﬁrblglcc:)?;l.ons for each year, in millions of dollars, is set development charge 5,749 19,678 14,885
) Acquired in-process research
and development — (9,500) —
- 1999 1998 1997 Less corporate allocation’ (1,362) (1,464) (988)
- Total Segment Operating
North America 2,962.2 2,841.1 3,035.1 Prolfit Loss) 26067 (34639 53072
Europe 1,255.5 1,364.5 1,378.0
Corporate expense (1,157) (1,193) (1,014)
Other 302.8 354.3 527.4
- . - Interest income (expense), net (13,099)  (13,374) (1,065)
$4520.5  $4,550.9  $4,9405 Other income (expense) 1,036 522 209
Eamings (loss) before income taxes $ 12,847  $(48,684) $51,202
The composition of the Corporation’s property, plant, and p g (oss) (
equipment between those in the United States and those in 2’;"@22’; ;\nstsets
ih i ane
Qier countries as of the end of each year, in milions of g kbee-Mears $159431 $168,540 $218,088
’ ’ Optical Products 196,074 206,825 81,834
1999 1998 1997 Total ldentifiable Assets 355,505 375365 300,822
United States $480.8 $460.0 $532.9 Corporate and other assets 28,048 24,100 18,585
United Kingdom 121.2 118.3 105.1 Total Assets $383,553  $399,465 $319,407
Other countries 137.6 140.3 2771

$739.6 $727.6 $915.1
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Depreciation and

Amortization by Segment
Buckbee-Mears $12,883  $13,582  $10,457
Optical Products 10,231 7,215 2,670
Corporate and other 166 217 222
Total Depreciation and Amortization  $23,280  $21,014  $13,349
Captial Expenditures

by Segment
Buckbee-Mears $ 5556 $9764  $60,605
Optical Products 7,469 11,526 14,397
Corporate and other 132 137 108
Total Capital Expenditures $13,157  $21,427  $75,110

“ Corporate allocations consist of estimated administrative
expenses incurred at the corporate headquarters which provide
direct benefit to the operation divisions.

The following is a summary of the Company’s operations in
different geographic areas:

1999 1998 1997

Total Revenues from
Unaffiliated Customers

United States $227,390 $233,142  $199,825
Germany 103,788 94,181 104,384
Other 22,676 7,815 8,329
Total $353,854 $335,138 $312,538
Long-Lived Assets
United States $119,190 $124,543  $150,576
Germany 24,155 30,052 27,178
Other 7,893 7,999 4,628
Total $151,238 $162,594 $182,382

The Company evaluates segment performance based on
profit or loss from operations before interest, other income/
expense, taxes and charges for corporate administration.
Revenues by geographic area are based upon revenues
generated from each country’s operations. Net sales to
unaffiliated foreign customers from domestic operations
(export sales) in 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $56,893,
$40,820 and $47,913, or 16%, 12% and 15%, respectively,
of total revenues. Buckbee-Mears had sales to one
customer of $71,303, $51,785 and $48,963; to another
customer of $46,078, $33,801 and $33,336; to a third
customer of $45,077, $56,983 and $62,062; and to a fourth
customer of $19,980, $23,266 and $34,101 in 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively. Optical Products did not have sales
to any individual customer greater than 10% of total
revenues.
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CABOT CORPORATION (SEP)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A (In Part): Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Information by Segment

Beginning with this annual report, Cabot adopted Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related information”
(“SFAS No. 131”). SFAS No. 131 supersedes SFAS No. 14,
“Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business
Enterprise,” replacing the “industry segment” approach with
the “management” approach. The new framework for
segment reporting is intended to give analysts and other
financial statement users a view of Cabot “through the eyes
of management” It designates Cabot's internal
management reporting structure as the basis for
determining Cabot's reportable segments, as well as the
basis for determining the information to be disclosed for
those segments. SFAS No. 131 also requires certain
disclosures about products and services, geographic areas,
and major customers. The adoption of SFAS No. 131 did
not affect results of operations or financial position, but did
affect the disclosure of segment information. (Note Q)

Note Q Financial Information by Segment & Geographic
Area

Segment Information

During 1999, Cabot reorganized into 19 market-focused
strategic business units (“SBUs”"), each having responsibility
for individual global marketing strategies, day-to-day
business operations, and new product development. Under
SFAS No. 131, these SBUs aggregate into five reportable
segments: Chemicals Group (which includes carbon black,
fumed silica, plastics, and inkjet colorants), Performance
Materials, Specialty Fluids, Microelectronics Materials, and
Liquefied Natural Gas. Cabot was organized into SBUs to
better direct its technical strengths and focus on key
markets. Cabot's business segment reporting under SFAS
No. 131 is consistent with the changes in its financial
reporting structure incorporated in Cabot's management
reporting during 1999. Segment information for 1998 and
1997 has been restated to conform to the current
presentation. A description of Cabot's five business
segments and their products, services, and markets served
is shown on page 20.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in the summary of “Significant Accounting
Policies.” Exceptions are noted as follows and are
incorporated in the following tables. Revenues from external
customers for certain operating segments within the
Chemicals Group include 100% of equity affiliate sales.
Transfers of ore to Performance Materials from Specialty
Fluids are generally valued at market-based prices, and
revenues generated by these transfers are shown as
segment revenues from external customers. Cabot
evaluates the performance of its segments and allocates
resources based on segment profit or loss before tax

55

companies, but excluding special items (Note B), gains on
the sale of equity securities, and foreign currency
transaction gains and losses. Corporate costs, costs related
to divested businesses, and interest expense are not
allocated to operating segments. Cash, short-term
investments, investments other than equity basis, income
taxes receivable, deferred taxes, and headquarters’ assets
are included in Unallocated and Other. Expenditures for
additions to long-lived assets include total equity and other
investments  (including  available-for-sale  securities),
property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets.
Financial information by segment was as foliows:

(“PBT”), including equity in net income of affiliated
Micro- Liquefied
Chemicals Performance Specialty  Electronics Natural Segment Unallocated Consolidated

Dollars in millions Group  Materials Fluids  Materials Gas Total and Other" Total
1999
Revenues from external

customers® $1,204 $187 $12 $96 $265 $1,764 $ (69) $1,695
Depreciation and amortization 104 8 4 3 4 123 2 125
Equity in net income of

affiliated companies 8 5 . - — 13 - 13
Profit (loss) before taxes® 188 34 ) 22 7 248 (112) 136
Assets® 1,244 205 50 70 167 1,736 106 1,842
Investment in equity-basis affiliates 52 20 — - — 72 — 72
Total expenditures for additions

to long-lived assets® $ 114 $ 9 $3 $17 $ 22 $ 165 $ 7 $ 172
1998
Revenues from external

customers® $1,279 $175 $13 $57 $211 $1,735 $ (91) $1,644
Depreciation and amortization 100 7 3 2 2 114 1 115
Equity in net income of

affiliated companies 12 5 - — - 17 — 17
Profit (loss) before taxes® 221 25 2 9 15 268 (100) 168
Assets" 1,242 207 39 45 139 1,672 133 1,805
Investment in equity-basis affiliates 75 15 - — 1 g1 — 91
Total expenditures for additions

to long-lived assets® $ 156 $ 11 $4 $9 $ 44 $ 224 $ 23 $ 247
1997
Revenues from external

customers® $1,326 $153 $1 $34 $200 $1,724 $ (99) $1,625
Depreciation and amortization 97 6 2 2 2 109 1 110
Equity in net income of

affiliated companies 18 2 — - — 20 — 20
Profit (loss) before taxes® 209 16 @ 1 7 229 (112 117
Assets" 1,252 202 3 A 9% 1,612 214 1,826
Investment in equity-basis affiliates [a 15 - — - 86 — 86
Total expenditures for additions

to long-lived assets® $ 133 $ 13 $14 $2 $ 7 $ 169 $ 12 $ 181

m
@

Unallocated and Other includes certain corporate items and eliminations that are not allocated to the operating segments.
Revenues from external customers for certain operating segments within Chemicals Group include 100% of equity affiliate sales. Specialty

Fluids sales include transfers of ore to Performance Materials at market-based prices. Unallocated and Other reflects an adjustment for
these equity affiliate sales and interoperating segment revenues and includes royalties paid by equity affiliates:

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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1999 1998 1997

Equity affiliate sales $(69) $(92) $(103)
Royalties paid by equity

affiliates 7 8 10

Interoperating segment revenues (7) 7) (6)

Total $(69) $91) $ (99)

®  Profit or loss before taxes for Unallocated and Other includes:

1999 1998 1997

Interest expense $ (46) $ 42) $ (43)
Gain on sale of equity securities 10 90 -
Corporate governance costs/

other expenses, net” (32) (31) @7
Costs related to divested

businesses — 5) -
Corporate expenses incurred on

behalf of the segments 4) @ (v}
Equity in net income of

affiliated companies (13) (17) (20)
Foreign currency transaction

gains (losses)” 4 ) ?
Special charges (Note B) (26) (85) (18)

Total $(112) $(100) $(112)

®  Corporate governance costs/other expenses, net, includes corporate
headquarters costs reduced by investment income.
®  Net of other hedging activity.

“ Unallocated and Other assets include cash, short-term invest-

ments, investments other than equity basis, income taxes re-
ceivable, deferred taxes, and headquarters’ assets.
Expenditures for additions to long-lived assets include total
equity and other investments (including available-for-sale secu-
rities), property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets.

Geographic Area Information

Sales are attributed to the United States and to all foreign
countries based on customer location (region of sale) and
not on the geographic location from which goods were
shipped (region of manufacture). Revenues from external
customers attributable to an individual country, other than
the United States, were not material for disclosure. The only
other country, besides the United States, with material long-
lived assets was Indonesia, with approximately 4%, 5% and
11% of Cabot’s total in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
No customer represents 10% or more of Cabot’s revenues.
Revenues from external customers and long-lived asset
information by geographic area are summarized as follows:

United  All Foreign Consolidated

Dollars in millions States Countries Total
1999
Revenues from external

customers $883 $812 $1,695
Long-lived assets” 525 638 1,163
1998
Revenues from external

customers $787 $857 $1,644
Long-lived assets” 515 650 1,165
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1997
Revenues from external

customers $727 $898 $1,625
Long-lived assets” 568 626 1,194

® Long-lived assets include total equity and other investments,
(including available-for-sale securities), net property, plant and
equipment, and net intangible assets.

1.46
DELUXE CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 15: Business Segment Information

During 1999, the Company announced a plan to reorganize
its operations into four independently operated business
units. This reorganization was completed by the end of
1999. Accordingly, the segment information for prior years
has been restated to conform to the current operating
structure.

The Company has organized its business units into four
operating segments based on the nature of the products
and services offered by each: Paper Payment Systems,
Electronic Payment Solutions, Professional Services and
Government Services. Paper Payment Systems provides
check printing services to financial service companies and
markets checks and business forms directly to households
and small businesses. Electronic Payment Solutions
provides comprehensive electronic payment management
solutions that combine transaction processing with decision
support and risk management tools to the financial services
and retail industries. Professional Services provides
information technology development, maintenance and
support and business process management to financial
services companies and to all of the Company’s
businesses. Government Services provides EBT services
and online medical eligibility verification services to state
and local governments. During 1999, the Company sold its
collections business (see Note 6). The results of this
business are not included in the Company’s segment
information, but are included in the Company’s
reconciliations to consolidated amounts.

In 1997 and 1998, the Company operated two additional
segments: Direct Response and Deluxe Direct. Direct
Response, which was sold in 1998, provided direct
marketing, customer database management and related
services to the financial industry and other businesses.
Deluxe Direct, which was also sold in 1998, primarily sold
greeting cards, stationery and specialty paper products
through direct mail.

The Company’s segments operate primarily in the United
States. The Electronic Payment Solutions and Professional
Services segments also have international operations. No
single customer of the Company accounted for more than
10% of net sales in 1999, 1998 or 1997.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in Note 1. In evaluating segment
performance, - management focuses on income from
operations, net income and earnings before interest, taxes,
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depreciation and amortization (EBITDA). The income from
operations measurement utilized by management excludes
special charges (e.g., restructuring charges, asset
impairment charges, certain one-time charges that
management believes are not reflective of on-going
operations, etc.). Holding company expenses were
allocated to the segments as a fixed percentage of segment
revenues. This allocation included expenses for various
support functions such as human resources, information
services and finance and included depreciation and
amortization expense related to holding company assets.
The corresponding holding company asset balances have

been allocated to the segments. Most inter-segment sales
are based on current market pricing.

Prior to the acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in
HCL-Deluxe, N.V. in 1999 (see Note 6), the results of this
business were recorded under the equity method of
accounting. As such, the Company recorded its 50%
ownership of the joint venture’s results of operations prior to
the acquisition in other expense in the consolidated
statements of income. To be consistent with management
reporting, the entire results of the joint venture for the pre-
acquisition periods are reflected in the business segment
information as if the business had been a consolidated
entity.

Paper Electronic

Payment Payment Professional Govemment Total

1999 (Dollars in thousands) Systems Solutions Services Services Segments
Net sales to external customers $1,232,924 $237,885 $10,745 $48,277 $1,529,831
Intersegment sales 3,500 8,630 12,130
Operating income (loss) excluding special charges 307,458 14,842 {7,809) 3,454 317,945
Special charges (recoveries) (2,782 (225) 2,938 10,096 10,027
Operating income (loss) including special charges 310,240 15,067 (10,747) (6,642) 307,918
Net income (loss) 286,041 9,125 (12,566) (5,033) 277,567
EBITDA 368,608 32,312 (8,767) (4,540) 387,613
Depreciation and amortization expense 59,257 20,681 1,963 81,901
Segment assets 474,044 210,661 36,200 34,410 755,315
Capital purchases 73,037 34,068 3,373 929 111,407

Paper  Electronic

Payment Payment Professional Government Direct Deluxe Total

1998 (Dollars in thousands) Systems Solutions Services Services  Response Direct ~ Segments
Net sales to external customers $1,279,738  $221,964 $7.994 $43,970 $42662  $223,906 $1,820,234
Intersegment sales 1,956 1,586 5,234 722 9,498
Operating income (loss) excluding special charges 312,782 23,459 (3,406) (6,496) (20,060) 5,047 311,326
Asset impairment charges 26,252 26,252
Other special charges 11,099 2,375 14,928 2,513 30,915
Operating income (loss) including special charges 301,683 21,084 (3,406) (47,676) (22,573) 5,047 254,159
Net income (loss) 245814 18,843 (5,495) (31,680) (12,461) (6,839) 208,182
EBITDA 360,730 37,009 (3,146) (39,666) (16,781) (3,147) 334,999
Depreciation and amortization expense 54,022 17,294 260 4,225 2,213 78,014
Segment assets 540,871 145,572 5,410 37,286 729,139
Capital purchases 80,416 30,148 1,934 320 602 1,623 115,043

Paper  Electronic

Payment Payment Professional Government Direct Deluxe Total

1997 (Dollars in thousands) Systems  Solutions Services Services  Response Direct  Segments
Net sales to external customers $1,288,630  $199,662 $1,589 $26,965 $49,781 $249,682  $1,816,309
Intersegment sales 786 2,438 1,691 3,187 1,137 9,239
Operating income (loss) excluding special charges 291,626 27,744 (1,590) (12,269) (19,742) (5,231) 280,538
Asset impairment charges 11,831 5,000 82,188 99,019
Other special charges 17,696 2,316 1,824 21,836
Operating income (loss) including special charges 273,930 13,597 (1,590) (12,269) (24,742) {89,243) 159,683
Net income (loss) 222,336 (2,743) (1,739) (30,659) (16,053) (92,969) 78,173
EBITDA 315,405 32,513 (1,578) (48,739) (14,389) (89,118) 194,094
Depreciation and amortization expense 45,228 19,168 12 3,580 6,902 697 75,587
Segment assets 525,795 141,360 3,704 46,115 47,876 121,824 886,674
Capital purchases 81,183 17,295 151 690 3,026 2,191 104,536
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Segment information reconciles to consolidated amounts as follows (doflars in thousands).

Net Sales to External Customers 1999 1998 1997
Total segment net sales to extemal customers $1,529,831 $1,820,234 $1,816,309
Divested businesses not included in segments 124,074 121,419 105,909
Professional Services pre-acquisition elimination (3,405) (7,994) (1,589)
Total consolidated net sales to extemal customers $1,650,500 $1,933,659 $1,920,629
Operating Income Including Special Charges 1999 1998 1997
Total segment operating income $ 307,918 $ 254,159 $ 159,683
Divested businesses not included in segments (2,409) 3,612 6,730
Professional Services pre-acquisition elimination 1,234 3,387 1,590
Elimination of intersegment profits 28 99
Unallocated holding company expenses (4,649) (18,177) (12,383)
Total consolidated operating income $ 302,094 $ 243,009 $ 155,719

1999 and 1998 unallocated holding company expenses consist of holding company restructuring charges and charges for
certain liabilities that are not allocated to the segments. 1997 unallocated holding company expenses consist primarily of
holding company restructuring charges.

Net Income Including Special Charges 1999 1998 1997
Total segment net income $277,567 $208,182 $78,173
Divested businesses not included in segments (4,229) (445) 1,767
Professional Services pre-acquisition elimination 248 3,741 1,074
Elimination of intersegment profits 165 49
Unallocated holding company expenses (70,564) (68,580) (36,391)
Total consolidated net income $203,022 $143,063 $44,672

Unallocated holding company expenses affecting net income consist of holding company restructuring charges and charges
for certain liabilities that are not allocated to the segments, gains and losses on sales of businesses, interest expense,
investment income and related income tax expense.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 1999 1998 1997
Total segment depreciation and amortization expense $ 81,901 $ 78,014 $ 75587
Divested businesses not included in segments 2,050 5,857 5,460
Professional Services pre-acquisition elimination (143) (260) (12)
Unallocated holding company expense 102 105 108
Total consolidated depreciation and amortization expense $ 83,910 $ 83816 $ 81,143
Total Assets 1999 1998 1997
Total segment assets $755,315 $ 729,139 $ 886,674
Assets of divested businesses not included in segments 68,734 63,317
Professional Services pre-acquisition elimination (4,732) (3,369)
Unallocated holding company assets 237,328 378,378 201,742
Total consolidated assets ' $992,643 $1,171,519 $1,148,364

Unallocated holding company assets consist primarily of cash, investments and deferred tax assets relating to holding
company activities.
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Capital Purchases 1999 1998 1997
Total segment capital purchases $111,407 $115,043 $104,536

Divested businesses not included in segments 3,337 8,156 5115

Professional Services pre-acquisition elimination (145) (1,934) (151)
Holding company capital purchases 421 10

Total consolidated capital purchases $115,020 $121,275 $109,500

Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the assets producing the revenues. The Company’s

operations by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

Long-Lived Assets

Net Sales to External Customers December 31,
1999 1998 1997 1999 1998
United States $1,629,853 $1,907,157 $1,883,363 $289,827 $337,048
Foreign countries 20,147 26,502 37,266 4,958 3,029
Total consolidated $1,650,500 $1,920,629 $294,785 $340,077

$1,933,659

1.47

E. I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS AND COMPANY AND
CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share)

28. Industry Segment Information

The company’s strategic business units (operating
segments) are organized by product line. For purposes of
SFAS No. 131, these have been aggregated into nine
reportable segments including Agriculture & Nutrition, Nylon
Enterprise, Performance Coatings &  Polymers,
Pharmaceuticals, Pigments & Chemicals, Pioneer,
Polyester Enterprise, Specialty Fibers and Specialty
Polymers. The company’s ongoing photomasks, safety
resources, and global services businesses, and the divested
businesses of printing and publishing and coal are included
in Other. Major products by segment include: Agriculture &
Nutrition (herbicides, fungicides, insecticides, soy protein
and value-enhanced grains); Nylon Enterprise (flooring
systems, textiles, industrial fibers and intermediates);
Performance Coatings & Polymers (automotive finishes,
engineering polymers and elastomers); Pharmaceuticals
(prescription pharmaceuticals and radiopharmaceuticals);
Pigments & chemicals (white pigment and mineral products,
specialty chemicals and fluorochemicals); Pioneer (hybrid
seed com and soybean seed); Polyester Enterprise
(Dacron(R) polyester, high-performance films and resins
and intermediates); Specialty Fibers (Lycra(R)) elastane,

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

nonwovens and aramids); and Specialty Polymers
(photopolymers and electronic materials, packaging and
industrial polymers, Corian(R) solid surfaces and
fluoropolymers). The company operates globally in
substantially all of its product lines. The company’'s sales
are not materially dependent on a single customer or small
group  of customers. The Performance Coatings &
Polymers, Pharmaceuticals and Nylon Enterprise segments
have several large customers in their respective industries
that are important to these segments’ operating results.

In general, the accounting policies of the segments are
the same as those described in the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies. Exceptions are noted as follows and
are shown in the reconciliations below. Prior year data have
been restated to reflect the 1999 organizational structure.
Sales include pro rata equity affiliate sales and intersegment
transfers. After-tax operating income does not include
corporate expenses, interest and exchange gains (losses).
Segment net assets measures net working capital, net
permanent investment and other noncurrent operating
assets and liabilities of the segment. Affiliate net assets (pro
rata share) excludes borrowings and other long-term
liabilities. Depreciation and amortization includes
depreciation on research and development facilities and
amortization of intangible assets, excluding write-down of
assets discussed in Note 5. Expenditures for long-lived
assets excludes investments in affiliates and includes
payments for property, plant and equipment as part of
business acquisitions. See Note 23 for discussion of
strategic acquisitions in the segments.
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Perfor-
Agriculture mance Pigments
& Nylon Coatings & Pharma- & Polyester Specialty Specialty
Nutrition Enterprise Polymers  ceuticals Chemicals  Pioneer Enterprise Fibers  Polymers Other Total”

1999
Total Segment Sales $2,508  $4,487 $6,111 $1,630 $3,660 $ 422 $2649 $3448 $4,255 $ 480 $29,740
Intersegment Transfers - 35 9 - 237 — 188 80 152 32 733
Alter-Tax Operating Income® 358 63 582 230 626  (2,309) (119) 732 668 51 882
Depreciation and Amortization 142 4 225 121 191 85 226 229 172 59 1,691
Equity in Eamings of Affiliates 2 43 60 — 2 20 (13) 28 27 4) 165
Provision for Income Taxes 50 220 416 102 312 (54) (40) 361 365 31 1,763
Segment Net Assets 3,184 3,004 4,061 1,939 1,811 7,762 2,679 2,734 2,328 238 29,740
Affiliate Net Assets 123 572 404 31 63 - 770 135 248 — 2346
Expenditures for Long-Lived

Assets 262 377 759 101 144 786 126 251 270 125 3,201
1998
Total Segment Sales $2,791  $4594 $4563 $1,156 $3659 $ 365 $2,797 $3296 $4,040 $ 542 $27,803
Intersegment Transfers - 39 9 - 228 - 175 86 155 37 729
After-Tax Operating Income® 249 244 508 (668) 577 8 (228) 659 598 183 2,130
Depreciation and Amortization 133 236 149 60 242 - 252 230 165 58 1,525
Equity in Eamings of Affiliates 2 35 16 77 3 8 (1) 25 12 81 252
Provision for Income Taxes 41 189 302 (317) 337 8 (80} 363 356 89 1,288
Segment Net Assets 3,070 3,082 2214 1,843 1,768 999 3,142 2,574 2,166 243 21,101
Affiliate Net Assets 170 551 281 23 62 999 174 134 237 — 263
Expenditures for Long-Lived

Assets 214 493 229 655 190 - 706 361 356 89 1,288
1997
Total Segment Sales $2501 $4,582 $4622 $775 93812 § 12 $2215 $3320 $4,037 $1,133 $27,009
Intersegment Transfers - 26 9 - 228 — 169 70 192 60 754
After-Tax Operating Income (98) 372 519 234 513 (919) 124 708 575 (223) 1,805
Depreciation and Amortization 73 231 157 — 41 — 126 240 174 68 1,310
Equity in Eamings of Affiliates 6 42 67 232 — (919) 3 23 21 67 (458)
Provision for Income Taxes 7 222 303 142 262 (5) 96 344 320 (155) 1,536
Segment Net Assets 2,395 2,928 2,043 404 1,887 836 3,156 2,332 1,996 388 18,365
Affiliate Net Assets 46 507 262 437 68 836 158 127 199 249 2,889
Expenditures for Long-Lived

Assets 499 490 258 — 203 -_— 1,131 285 311 145 3,322

™ A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items on the consolidated financial statements is as

follows:

ATT-SEC 1.47
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Segment Sales to Total Sales

1999 1998 1997

Total Segment Sales $29,740  $27,803  $27,009
Elimination of Intersegment Transactions (733) (729) (754)
Elimination of Equity Affiliate Sales (2,092) (2263)  (2,226)
Miscellaneous 3 (44) 60
Total Sales $26,918  $24,767  $24,089

After-Tax Operating Income to Income from Continuing Operations

@ Includes the following (charges) benefits:

Agriculture & Nutritiona,” $103

Nylon Enterprise™? (326)
Performance Coatings & Polymers™? (63)
Pharmaceuticals*® (33)
Pigments & Chemicals® 1

Pioneer” (2,213)
Polyester Enterprise*® (80)
Specialty Fibers” 1

Specialty Polymers® 2

Other” 16

1999 1998 1997

$(2,592)

Total Segment ATOI $882 $2,130  $1,805

Interest and Exchange Gains (Losses) (362)* (292) (226)

Corporate Expenses (301) (190) (147)
Income from Continuing Operations $219 $1,648  $1,432

* includes a charge of $81 on forward exchange contracts to lock in the
U.S. dollar cost of the Herberts acquisition partly offset by a $49 benefit
related to recalculation of interest on federal tax refunds and tax liabili-
ties.

Segment Net Assets to Total Assets

1999 1998 1997

Total Segment Net Assets $29,740  $21,101  $18,365
Corporate Assets 5,654 4,768 5,296
Liabilities included in Net Assets 5,383 4,250 4,630
Net Assets of Discontinued Operations - 8,417 8,398
Total Assets $40,777  $38,536  $36,689
Other Items

Segment Consolidated
Totals Adjustments Totals

1999
Depreciation and Amortization $1,691 $(1) $1,690
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates 165 (30) 135
Provision for Income Taxes 1,763 (353) 1,410
Affiliate Net Assets 2,346 (887) 1,459
Expenditures for Long-Lived Assets 3,201 177 3,378

1998
Depreciation and Amortization $1,525 $35 $1,560
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates 252 26 278
Provision for Income Taxes 1,288 (347) 941
Affiliate Net Assets 2,631 (835) 1,796
Expenditures for Long-Lived Assets 3,248 135 3,383

1997
Depreciation and Amortization $1,310 $7 $1,381
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates (458) 1,101* 643
Provision for Income Taxes 1,536 (182) 1,354
Affiliate Net Assets 2,889 (517) 2,372
Expenditures for Long-Lived Assets 3,322 118 3,440

*

Includes a charge of $903 for Pioneer in-process research and develop-
ment reported in Note 4.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

® Includes a net benefit of $47 resulting from changes in estimates related
to restructuring and divestiture activities as follows: Agriculture & Nutri-
tion—$2; Nylon Enterprise—$11; Performance Coatings & Polymers—
$1; Pharmaceuticals—$3; Pigments & Chemicals—$1; Polyester Enter-
prise—$10; Specialty Fibers—$1; Specialty Polymers—$2; and Other—
$16.

® Includes a $208 gain associated with exchanging the company’s invest-
ment in WebMD for Healtheon/WebMD partly offset by charges of $107
attributable to employee separation costs, shutdown of various manufac-
turing facilities and the write-off of an intangible asset resuiting from the
loss of exclusive product marketing rights.

@ Includes a charge of $337, of which $247 is attributable to an impairment
charge for the write-down of the adipic acid piant in Singapore that con-
tinues to be operated. Other costs are principally due to the write-down
of manufacturing assets in India pursuant to a sales agreement and the
liquidation of a joint venture in China.

“ Includes a charge of $64 attributable to purchased in-process research
and development in conjunction with the acquisition of Herberts.

® Includes a charge of $36 resulting from the finalization of the tax basis
related to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with
the purchase of Merck’s 50 percent interest in The DuPont Merck Phar-
maceutical Company.

® Includes a charge of $2,186 related to the write-off of purchased in-
process research and development in conjunction with the acquisition of
the remaining 80 percent interest in Pioneer.

® Includes a $50 charge resulting from a loss on the formation of a 50/50
global joint venture with Teijin for the polyester films business and a $40
charge related to employee separation costs.

® Includes the following (charges) benefits:

Agriculture & Nutrition® $ (73
Nylon Enterprise® (162)
Performance Coatings & Polymers® (17)
Pharmaceuticals® (853)
Pigments & Chemicals® (4)
Polyester Enterprise® (221)
Specialty Fibers® (3)
Specialty Polymers® (10)
Other 78
$(1,265)

® Includes a $60 charge to adjust the preliminary allocation of purchased
in-process research and development for PTi and a $13 charge related
to productivity improvement initiatives.

® Includes charges associated with productivity improvement initiatives.

@ Includes a $799 charge for purchased in-process research and develop-
ment associated with the purchase of Merck’s 50 percent interest in The
DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Company and a $54 impairment write-
down to fair value of certain Pharmaceuticals assets.

® Includes a $123 charge for adjustments to the preliminary allocation of
purchased in-process research and development for the purchase of the
ICI polyester businesses and a $98 charge associated with productivity
improvement initiatives.

® Includes a $121 gain on the sale of CONSOL Energy Inc. and a $43
charge related to productivity improvement initiatives.
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“" Includes the following (charges) benefits:

Agriculture & Nutrition® $ (562)
Pharmaceuticals®” 72
Pioneer® (903)
Polyester Enterprise® (63)
Other® (220)

$(1,676)

Includes charges of $500 for acquired in-process research and develop-
ment relating to the PTI transaction and $62 associated with the Benlate®
50 DF fungicide recall.

Includes a benefit of $72 from the gain on the sale by DuPont Merck of
its generic and multisource product lines.

Includes a charge of $903 for acquired in-process research and devel-
opment related to the Pioneer transaction.

Includes a charge of $63 for acquired in-process research and develop-
ment relating to the ICI polyester resins and intermediate transaction.

® Includes a charge of $220 associated with the divestiture of certain
printing and publishing businesses.

®)

@

See Segment Reviews on pages 16-26 for a description of
each industry segment. Products are transferred between
segments on a basis intended to reflect as nearly as
practicable the “market value” of the products.

1.48
FEDERAL-MOGUL CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. Operations by Industry Segment and Geographic Area

During 1999, the Company reorganized its operating
segments. Prior to the internal reorganization, the
Company’s three operating segments were Powertrain
Systems; Sealing Systems and General Products. As a
result of the Company’s internal reorganization, integrated
operations are conducted under three operating segments
corresponding to major product areas: Powertrain Systems;
Sealing Systems, Visibility and Systems Protection
Products; and Brake, Chassis, Ignition and Fuel Products.
The segment information to follow has been restated to
reflect the internal reorganization changes announced in
1999.

Powertrain Systems Products are used primarily in
automotive, light truck, heavy-duty, industrial, marine,
agricultural, power generation and small air-cooled engine
applications. The primary products of this operating unit
include camshatts, sintered products, engine bearings, large
bearings, pistons, piston pins, rings, cylinder liners and
connecting rods.

Sealing Systems, Visibility and Systems Protection
Products are used in automotive, light truck, heavy-duty,
agricultural, off-highway, marine, railroad, high performance
and industrial applications. The primary products of this
operating unit include dynamic seals, gaskets, lighting
products, wiper blades and systems protection products.

Brake, Chassis, Ignition and Fuel Products are used in
automotive, light truck, heavy-duty, agricultural, off -
highway, marine and high performance applications. The
primary products of this operating unit include brake and
friction products, chassis products, ignition products and
fuel system components.
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Divested Activities include the historical operating results
and assets of aftermarket operations in South Africa,
Australia, Chile and heavy wall bearing operations in
Germany and Brazil which were sold or closed in 1997.

The accounting policies of the business segments are
consistent with those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The Company evaluates
segmental performance based on several factors, including
both Economic Value Added (EVA) and Operational EBIT.
Operational EBIT is defined as earnings before interest,
income taxes, extraordinary items and certain nonrecurring
items such as certain acquisition related adjustments and
integration costs associated with new acquisitions.
Operational EBIT for each segment is shown below, as it is
most consistent with the measurement principles used in
measuring the corresponding amounts in the consolidated
financial statements.

(Millions of dollars) 1999 1998 1997
Net Sales:
Powertrain Systems............ccoeevvvueenenne. $2,459  $2,107 $782
Sealing Systems, Visibility and
Systems Protection Products............ 1,887 1,252 333
Brake, Chassis, Ignition and
Fue! Products 1,036 577
Divested Activities 74 115
Total ..o e $4,469  $1,807
(Millions of dollars) 1999 1998 1997
Operational EBIT:
Powertrain Systems..........coecvvesnrenrenns $ 262 §$ 248 $ 68
Sealing Systems, Visibility and
Systems Protection Products........... 207 154 26
Brake, Chassis, Ignition and
Fuel Products ......c...cuveressenennnen, 277 104 44
Divested ACHVItIES ..........cccouevercrsrcnirenenee (1) 4) 1
Total coouvveeeeeeerene e, $ 835 § 502 §139
(Millions of dallars) 1999 1998 1997
Reconciliation:
Total segments operational EBIT ........ $835 $502  $ 139
Net interest and other financing
COSIS...reecmmecrercerreserieresnaseenssssassrens (309) (233) (29)
Restructuring, impairment and
other special charges .......covuvrinnens 8) (20 (10)
Acquisition-related costs.................... (58) (63) —_
Earning before income taxes,
extraordinary items and
cumulative effect change in
accounting principle...........vveesenes $ 460 $ 186 $ 100
(Millions of dollars) 1999 1998 1997
Assets:
Powertrain Systems.........ccoererveresenns $3,526 $3467 § 786
Sealing Systems, Visibility and
Systems Protection Products............ 3,000 2,925 382
Brake, Chassis, Ignition and
Fuel Products......c.ccovvecreeieneennnes 3,419 3,471 508
Divested ACtVIIES .............cousrcererncrnerneenne — 77 126
Total cvovecsiricrerercensetsceseenirenensees $9,945  $9,940  $1,801
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(Millions of dollars) 1999 1998 1997
Capital Expenditures:
Powertrain Systems.................eerseeeens $229 $153 $28
Sealing Systems, Visibility and
Systems Protection Products........... 79 41 13
Brake, Chassis, Ignition and
Fuel Products...........coeverevnrnensnnivenns 87 35 9
TOtl ccovvvvvvrreneereeeerernssesensssssansennees $395 $229 $50
(Millions of dollars) 1999 1998 1997
Depreciation and Amortization:
Powertrain Systems..........cccvevrusnecrens $151 $115 $28
Sealing Systems, Visibility and
Systems Protection Products........... 94 50 11
Brake, Chassis, Ignition and
Fuel Products........ccc.eurvrenmveersenseens 109 62 12
Divested ACtiVities..........cccovuurerrenrrerncrens 1 1 1
L LRV $355 $228 $52

Included in the consolidated financial statements are
amounts relating to geographic locations listed below. This
geographic information is based on the location of Federal-

Mogul operations.

63

Net Sales Net Property, Plant and Equipment

(Miltions of dollars) 1999 1998 1997 1999 1998 1997
United States.......courcrmreeenmnrinrneinmnsssrsonene $3,922 $2,345 $1,111 $1,492 $1,422 $166
Mexico..... 153 124 87 28 30 7
Canada....cooveeinrinsieresnssissesssstserssens 162 76 58 43 39 1

Total North America..........ccveeerecerneererensens 4,237 2,545 1,256 1,563 1,491 174
United Kingdom........ 533 516 21 305 312 9
Germany ...... 630 478 126 344 318 105
FranCe .....coouuvveomienemersssenessnserasans 303 327 33 79 113 9
1) 2RO 252 200 71 77 77 9
Other EUIOpe.........ccorvveeerrnrenernsenneensesseseenenes 295 188 117 55 62 3

Total EUMOPE........cecerreeerrteesessseessensens 2,013 1,709 368 860 882 135
Rest of World 238 215 183 81 104 5

TOtL oot snsanens $6,488 $4,469 $1,807 $2,504 $2,477 $314

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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1.49
SONOCO PRODUCTS COMPANY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. Financial Reporting for Business Segments

Sonoco reports its results in two primary segments,
Industrial Packaging and Consumer Packaging. The
Industrial Packaging segment includes the following
products: paper and plastic engineered carriers, paper,
recovered paper, designed interior packaging and protective
reels. This segment also included fiber and plastic drums
and intermediate bulk containers, which were sold in 1998.
The Consumer Packaging segment includes the following
products and services: composite cans, printed flexibles,
bag and film products, container seals, folding cartons,
covers and coasters, graphics management and packaging
services. This segment also included the North American
labels operations sold in 1998 and the United Kingdom
labels operations sold in 1999.

Industrial  Consumer
Packaging  Packaging  Corporate Consolidated

Total Revenue

1999 $1,415469 $1,174,809 $2,590,278

1998 1,466,133 1,134,003 2,600,136

1997 1,630,969 1,259,337 2,890,306
Intersegment Sales”

1999 $ 43544 $ 43544

1998 41,121 1,008 42,219

1997 42,362 113 42,475
Sales to Unaffiliated Customers

1999 $1,371,925 $1,174,809 $2,546,734

1998 1,425,012 1,132,905 2,557,917

1997 1,588,607 1,259,224 2,847,831
Operating Profit®

1999 $ 188,704 $ 148,008 $ (47,152) $ 289,560

1998 282,114 106,347 (48,863) 339,598

1997 217,775  (101,833) (52,223) 63,719
Identifiable Assets™

1999 $1,208,056 $ 706,052 $ 382912  $2,297,020

1998 1,240,915 512,715 329,353 2,082,983

1997 1,228,796 717,172 213,964 2,159,932
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization

1999 $ 91,235 § 54611 $ 145,846

1998 98,331 47,338 145,669

1997 93,336 60,188 153,524
Capital Expenditures

1999 $ 81,093 $ 54,635 $ 135,728

1998 143,852 55,028 198,880

1997 140,581 90,070 230,651
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Geographic Regions

The sales to unaffiliated customers and long-lived assets by
geographic region are as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Sales to Unaffiliated Customers

United States $1,881,472 $1,959,117  $2,245,772
Europe 313,457 304,435 287,467
Canada 162,574 119,930 121,227
All Other 189,231 174,435 193,365
Total $2,546,734  $2,557,917  $2,847,831
Long-Lived Assets

United States $821,291 $745,937 $712,111
Europe 185,336 235,825 183,950
Canada 135,602 62,676 54,400
All Other 144,854 139,766 133,178
Total $1,287,083  $1,184,204  $1,083,639
" Intersegment sales are recorded at a market-related transfer

price.

® Industrial Packaging's 1998 results include a pre-tax gain of
$119,552 on the sale of the industrial containers operation and
one-time, pre-tax charges of $(37,480). Consumer Packaging'’s
results include a pre-tax gain of $3,500 in 1999 related to the
sale of the label operation in the United Kingdom, and pre-tax
charges of $(19,198) in 1998 and $(226,358) in 1997 related to
the disposition of the North American labels operation and one-
time, pre-tax charges of $(3,856) in 1998. Interest income and
interest expense are excluded from the operating profits by
segment and are shown under Corporate.

©@  |dentifiable assets are those assets used by each segment in its
operations. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in affiliates, head-quarters facilities
and prepaid expenses.

NATURAL BUSINESS YEAR

1.50 A natural business year is the period of 12
consecutive months which ends when the business
activities of an entity have reached the lowest point in their
annual cycle. In many instances, the natural business year
of a company ends December 31.

1.51 Table 1-4 summarizes, by the month in which a fiscal
year ends, the fiscal year endings of the survey companies.
For tabulation purposes, if a fiscal year ended in the first
week of a month, the fiscal year was considered to have
ended in the preceding month.

1.52 For 1999, 161 survey companies were on a 52-53
week fiscal year. During 1999, 7 survey companies changed
the date of their fiscal year end. Examples of fiscal year end
changes and of fiscal year definitions follow.
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1.53
TABLE 1-4: MONTH OF FISCAL YEAR END

JANUAMY ..o 26 25 24 21
February.............. 1 1 10 1"
MarCh .....ccverreerennnessssiseesseneessrens 16 14 14 15
AP oot eneerens 9 9 10 10
MaY .o 17 14 14 14
JUN oot srneesaenaes 53 52 53 57
JUIY e 9 8 1" 1
AUGUSE ....vecrmeererineeesierssenseisersessase 15 14 14 15

September.........cocvcenenineinniiicnsiins 38 38 36 37
(07510171 O 21 23 2 23
NOVEIMDEN.....vuceeerrrcrannrrenseninsersereneens 16 15 15 14

Subtotal 231 23 223 228
December 39 377 377 372
Tota! Companies .......ccecuserssresssessns 600 600 600 600

Change in Date of Fiscal Year End

1.54
3COM CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets

May 28, 1999 May 31, 1998
Consolidated Statementis of Income
Years ended
May 28, 1999 May 31, 1998 May 31, 1998
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
May 28, 1999 May 31, 1998 May 31, 1997

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques ATT-SEC 1.54
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 (In Part): Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year. Effective June 1, 1997, 3Com adopted a 52-53
week fiscal year ending on the Sunday nearest to May 31.
Effective June 1, 1998, 3Com adopted a 52-53 week fiscal
year ending on the Friday nearest to May 31. These
changes did not have a significant effect on 3Com’s
consolidated financial statements. Fiscal year 1999
contained 52 weeks, whereas fiscal year 2000 will contain
53 weeks. For fiscal year 2000, the first three quarters will
contain 13 weeks, whereas the fourth quarter will contain 14
weeks.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 3Com
Corporation:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of 3Com
Corporation and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of May
28, 1999 and May 31, 1998, and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended May 28,
1999. Our audits also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at ltem 8. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of 3Com’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the financial statements and
financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of 3Com Corporation and its subsidiaries
at May 28, 1999 and May 31, 1998, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended May 28, 1999 in conformity with
generally accepted. accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule referred to
above, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all
material respects the information set forth therein.
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1.55
APPLE COMPUTER, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

Basis of Presentation and Preparation (In Part)

During the first quarter of 1999, the Company amended its
by-laws to provide that beginning in 1999 its fiscal year
would end on the last Saturday in September rather than
the last Friday. Likewise, beginning with the first fiscal
quarter of 1999 each of the Company’s fiscal quarters now
also end on Saturday rather than Friday. Accordingly, one
day was added to the first quarter of 1999 so that the
quarter ended on Saturday, December 26, 1998. These
changes did not have a material effect on the Company’s
revenue or results of operations for any quarter during fiscal
1999. Fiscal years 1999, 1998 and 1997, each 52-week
years, ended on September 25, 25, and 26, respectively.
Approximately every six years, the Company reports a 53-
week fiscal year to align its fiscal quarters with calendar
quarters by adding a week to its first fiscal quarter. The next
53-week year is fiscal 2000.

1.56
ATMEL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (in Part)-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Fiscal Year Change

Effective January 1, 1999, the Company changed its fiscal
year from a 52 or 53-week year ending on the Monday
nearest the last day in December of each year to a calendar
year ending December 31. The quarters have changed from
a 13-week quarter to a calendar quarter. For presentation
purposes, fiscal 1998 and 1997 have been disclosed as
ending on December 31.
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1.57
CK WITCO CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting Policies (In Part)
Principles of Consolidation (In Part)

Effective with the Merger, the Company adopted a fiscal
year ending on December 31. Prior to the Merger,
Crompton’s fiscal year ended on the last Saturday in
December.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
CK Witco Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of CK Witco Corporation and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 1999 and December 26,
1998, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December
31, 1999. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our

1.58
GEORGIA-PACIFIC CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Income

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

January 1,

January 1,

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 1999
and December 26, 1998, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

January 1, 2000 December 31, 1998
Year ended
December 31,
2000 1998 1997
Year ended
December 31,
2000 1998 1997
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Change in Fiscal Year: On or about April 22, 1999, the
Georgia-Pacific Group determined to change its fiscal year
from December 31 to end on the Saturday closest to
December 31. Additionally, the Georgia-Pacific Group
reports its quarterly periods on a 13-week basis ending on a
Saturday. The impact of one additional day on the year
ended January 1, 2000 was not material. There will be no
transition period on which to report.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To Georgia-Pacific Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying combined balance
sheets of Georgia-Pacific Corporation—The Timber
Company (as described in Note 1) as of January 1, 2000
and December 31, 1998 and the related combined
statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended January 1,
2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Georgia-Pacific Corporation—The Timber
Company as of January 1, 2000 and December 31, 1998
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended January 1, 2000
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As explained in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, effective December 31, 1997,
Georgia-Pacific Corporation changed its method of
accounting for business process reengineering costs
incurred as part of a project to acquire, develop, or
implement internal-use software.
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1.59

KNAPE & VOGT MANUFACTURING COMPANY
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part). Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Year End

Effective July 1, 1999, the Company adopted a 52- or §3-
week fiscal year, changing the year-end date from June 30
to the Saturday nearest the end of June.

Definition of Fiscal Year
1.60

ARDEN GROUP, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year

The company operates on a fiscal year ending on the
Saturday closest to December 31. Fiscal years for the
consolidated financial statements included herein ended on
January 1, 2000 (52 weeks), January 2, 1999 (52 weeks)
and January 3, 1998 (53 weeks).

1.61
AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal year—The Company operates on a “52/53 week”
fiscal year which ends on the Friday closest to June 30th.
Fiscal year 1999 contained 53 weeks as compared with 52
weeks in fiscal 1998 and 1997. Unless otherwise noted, all
references to the “year 1999” or any other “year” shall mean
the Company’s fiscal year.
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1.62
BRIGGS & STRATTON CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year. The Company’s fiscal year consists of 52 or 53
weeks, ending on the Sunday nearest the last day of June
in each year. Therefore, the 1999, 1998 and 1997 fiscal
years were 52 weeks long. All references to years relate to
fiscal years rather than calendar years.

1.63
CSP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Year
The Company's fiscal year end is the last Friday in August.

1.64
DOLE FOOD COMPANY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Annual Closing Date: The Company’s fiscal year ends on
the Saturday closest to December 31. Fiscal year 1999
ended January 1, 2000 and included 52 weeks, while fiscal
years 1998 and 1997 ended on January 2, 1999 and
January 3, 1998 and included 52 weeks and 53 weeks,
respectively.

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1.65 Rule 14a-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
requires that annual reports to stockholders shouid include
comparative balance sheets, and statements of income and
of cash fiows for each of the 3 most recent fiscal years. All
of the survey companies are registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and conformed to the
aforementioned requirements of Rule 14a-3.

1.66 In their annual reports, the survey companies usuaily
present an income statement as the first financial statement
followed by either a balance sheet or a statement of
changes in retained earnings. For 1999, 340 survey
companies presented an income statement as the first
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financial statement followed by a balance sheet; 39 survey
companies presented an income statement as the first
financial statement followed by either a statement of
changes in stockholders’ equity or a statement of cash
flows; 15 survey companies presented an income statement
as the first financial statement followed by a statement of
comprehensive income; and 9 survey companies presented
an income statement as the first financial statement
followed by a statement of changes in retained earnings.
The remaining 197 survey companies presented a balance
sheet as the first financial statement followed by an income
statement.

1.67 Prior to 1986, the financial statements, with rare
exception, were presented on consecutive pages. Beginning
in 1986 certain survey companies did not present their
financial statements on consecutive pages but interspersed
the Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations among the financial
statements by having comments discussing the content of a
financial statement follow the presentation of a financial
statement. Such interspersed material was not covered by
an auditor's report and was not presented in lieu of notes.
For 1999, 8 survey companies did not present their financial
statements on consecutive pages.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

1.68 Table 1-5 shows that most of the survey companies
state financial statement amounts in either thousands or
millions of dollars.

1.69

TABLE 1-5: ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
1999 1998 1997 1996

To nearest dollar.........cccvereeveenrererens 26 3 30 33
To nearest thousand dollars:
Omitting 000.......c.revrrecereresrvoreeneees 338 345 349 352
Presenting 000.........cccovvermerencerinnene 6 9 13 17
To nearest million dollars..........c.cuenne. 230 215 208 198
Total Companies.......uuecessansassussensens 600 600 600 600

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.70 Securities and Exchange Commission Regulations S-
X and S-K, and SAS No. 32 state the need for adequate
disclosure in financial statements. Normally the financial
statements alone cannot present all information necessary
for adequate disclosure without considering appended notes
which disclose information of the sort listed below:

Changes in accounting principles.
Retroactive adjustments.
Long-term lease agreements.
Assets subject to lien.

Preferred stock data.

ATT-SEC 1.70
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Pension and retirement plans.

Restrictions on the availability of retained earnings for cash
dividend purposes.

Contingencies and commitments.
Depreciation and depletion policies.
Stock option or stock purchase plans.
Consolidation policies.

Computation of earnings per share.
Subsequent events.

Quarterly data.

Segment information.

Financial instruments.

1.71 Table 1-6 summarizes the manner in which financial
statements refer to notes. Notes on specific topics are
illustrated in this publication in the sections dealing with
such topics.

1.72

TABLE 1-6: NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1999 1998 1997 1996

General reference only ...........c.......... 429 431 445 431
General and direct references............ 168 167 155 169
Direct reference only.........coocevvvennnen. 3 2 — —_—
Total Companies.........cccressensissssane 600 600 600 600

DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

1.73 APB Opinion No. 22 requires that the significant
accounting policies of an entity be presented as an integral
part of the financial statements of the entity. Opinion No. 22
sets forth guidelines as to the content and format of
disclosures of accounting policies. Opinion No. 22 states
that the preferable format is to present a Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies preceding notes to financial
statements or as the initial note.

1.74 Table 1-7 shows the nature of information frequently
disclosed in summaries of accounting policies and the
number of survey companies disclosing such information.
Exampies of summaries of accounting policies follows.

ATT-SEC 1.71

1.75
TABLE 1-7: DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Number of Companies
1999 1998 1997 1996
Depreciation methods ..........cceuuvvcun. 587 587 586 581
Consolidation policy .........c...cewervreniene 583 578 583 583
Use of estimates...........oovrrsrissisneans 574 568 582 577
Inventory pricing .........c.coveruevnniseinns 542 543 555 555
PIOPEAY...ccovereresciseesirecensissesiens 537 521 526 509
Cash equivalents.........c.ccevrvrersnnnneese 516 503 509 492
Amortization of intangibles ................ 479 448 439 419
Financial instruments ...........c.ccoecuen. 428 406 398 327
Eamings per share calculation........... 405 413 475 482
Translation of foreign currency.......... 386 366 358 351
Interperiod tax allocation............ 377 359 358 362
Stock-based compensation............... 336 281 290 253
Nature of operations.........c.cv.vereunee 312 267 274 239
Research and development costs..... 179 173 178 181
Advertising COStS .........cuueirenivninanense 174 151 129 123
Fiscal years ........cvuvvvunees 171 157 158 156

Credit risk concentrations. 147 124 126 100

Environmental COSts........ . 140 136 145 130
Employee benefits........ 124 101 290 253
Capitalization of interest.................. 76 81 75 86

1.76
AMCAST INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION (AUG)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(% in thousands except per share amount)

Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Amcast Industrial Corporation and its domestic and
foreign subsidiaries (the Company). Intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated. The Company’'s
investment in Casting Technology Company (CTC), a joint
venture, is included in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
The Company's investment in CTC was $2,394 and $3,846
at August 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, and is included
in Other Assets. Operations of the Company’s European
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements for periods ending one month prior to the
Company’s fiscal year end in order to ensure timely
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Certain
prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation.
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For foreign subsidiaries, the local foreign currency is the
functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated into
U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange existing at year-end.
Translation gains and losses are included as a component
of shareholders’ equity. Income statement amounts are
translated at the average monthly exchange rates.
Transaction gains and losses are included in the statement
of income and were not material.

Revenue is recognized at the time products are shipped
to customers.

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit
with financial institutions and investments with original
maturities of 90 days or less.

Accounts receivable are stated net of allowances for
doubtful accounts of $217 and $264 at August 31, 1999 and
1998, respectively. The Company held a note receivable of
$3,000 and accounts receivable of $6,498 and $3,962 from
CTC at August 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. During the
first quarter of fiscal 2000, the Company increased its
investment in CTC with an additional capital contribution of
$7,200 accomplished through conversion of a $3,000 note
receivable and $4,200 of the accounts receivable.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using
the last-in, first-out (LIFO) and the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
methods.

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost.
Expenditures for significant renewals and improvements are
capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are charged to
expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method based upon the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows: buildings—20 to 40 vyears;
machinery and equipment—3 to 20 years.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses
acquired over the fair market value of identifiable net assets
at the dates of acquisition. Goodwill is amortized on a
straight-line basis over 40 years. Accumulated amortization
of goodwill was $3,494 and $2,259 at August 31, 1999 and
1998, respectively. The carrying value of goodwill is
evaluated periodically in relation to the operating
performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the
underlying businesses.

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary
differences between financial and tax reporting in
accordance with the liability method under the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
109, “Accounting for income Taxes.”

Use of estimates and assumptions are made by
management in the preparation of the financial statements
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Earnings per common share are calculated under the
provisions of SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” which
established new standards for computing and presenting
earnings per share. Adopted by the Company during 1998,
SFAS No. 128 requires the Company to report both basic
earnings per share, which is based on the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding, and diluted
earnings per share, which is based on the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding plus all potential
dilutive common shares outstanding. Earnings per share
amounts for all periods are presented, and where
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necessary, restated to give effect to the adoption of SFAS
No. 128.

Start-up and organization costs are accounted for under
the provisions of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants’ Statement of Position (SOP) 98-5, “Reporting
on the Costs of Start-up Activities.” Adopted by the
Company effective September 1, 1997, SOP 98-5 provides
guidance on the financial reporting of start-up and
organization costs and requires such costs to be expensed
as incurred. The total amount of deferred start-up costs
reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle was $8,588, net of tax benefits of $5,044. The
Company’s share of CTC’s cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle was $3,529, net of tax. Assuming the
new accounting principle was applied retroactively, pro
forma earnings per share amounts for the year ended
August 31, 1997, are as follows:

Basic Diluted

Eamings per share
Income before cumulative effect of

accounting change-as reported..... $1.50 $1.48
Income before cumulative effect

of accounting change—pro forma.... $1.52 $1.51
Net income-as reported ..........oocesunn $1.50 $1.48
Net income—pro forma...........eeeesuvss $1.52 $1.51

Accounting standards adopted during 1999 include SFAS
No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” SFAS No.
131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information,” and SFAS No. 132, “Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits.” The adoption of these standards had no effect on
the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial
position, or cash flows.

SFAS No. 130 establishes standards for the reporting and
display of comprehensive income, which is defined as all
changes in shareholders’ equity during a period except
those resulting from investments by and distributions to
shareholders. The standard requires reporting certain
transactions that result in a change in shareholders’ equity
to be included in other comprehensive income and
displayed as a separate component in the consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity.

SFAS No. 131 establishes new standards for determining
operating segments and disclosure requirements for those
segments, products, geographic areas, and major
customers. As required by SFAS No. 131, the Company has
revised certain disclosures included in its Business
Segments footnote.

SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefits,” revises the disclosure
requirements related to pension and other postretirement
benefits. The new standard does not change the
measurement or accounting recognition for such plans. As
required by SFAS No. 132, the Company has revised the
disclosures included it its Pension Plans and Postretirement
Health Care and Life insurance Benefits footnote.

The Company also adopted SOP 98-1, “Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
internal Use,” which requires that certain costs related to
developing or obtaining internal use software should be
capitalized. The adoption of this standard did not have a
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material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations, financial position, or cash flows.

New accounting standards issued include SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” which establishes a comprehensive standard for
the recognition and measurement of derivatives and
hedging activities. The new standard requires that all
derivatives be recognized as assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and measured at fair value.
Gains or losses resulting from changes in fair value are
required to be recognized in current earnings unless specific
hedge criteria are met. SFAS No. 133 will become effective
for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year
2001. The Company has not determined the effect of this
new standard; however, due to the Company’s limited use
of derivatives, the impact is not expected to be material.

1.77
HOMASOTE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business: Homasote Company is in the
business of manufacturing insulated wood fiberboard and
polyisocyanurate foam products, and operates in only one
industry segment: the manufacture and sale of rigid
polyisocyanurate and structural insulating building materials,
and packing products for industrial customers. Sales in
1999 were distributed as follows: Building material
wholesalers and contractors, approximately 76%; industrial
manufacturers, approximately 24%; in 1998: Building
material wholesalers and contractors, approximately 79%;
industrial manufacturers, approximately 21%; in 1997:
Building  material  wholesalers and  contractors,
approximately 77%, industrial manufacturers, approximately
23%. The Company’s primary basic raw material,
wastepaper, is generally readily available from two suppliers
with which the Company has purchase contracts that expire
in 2009 (see note 10).

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Homasote International Sales Co.,
Inc. All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventory Valuation: Inventories are valued at the lower of
weighted average actual cost, which approximates first in,
first out (FIFO), or market.

Depreciation: Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost. Depreciation of plant and equipment is computed
using the straight-line and various accelerated methods at
rates adequate to depreciate the cost of applicable assets
over their expected useful lives. Maintenance and repairs
are charged to operations as incurred and major
improvements are capitalized. The cost of assets retired or
otherwise disposed of and the accumulated depreciation
thereon is removed from the accounts with any gain or loss
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realized upon sale or disposal charged or credited to
operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: As of December 31,
1999 and 1998 the fair value of the Company’s financial
instruments approximates cost.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from product sales is
recognized when the related goods are shipped and all
significant obligations of the Company have been satisfied.

Net Loss Per Share: Basic net loss per share has been
computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per
common share since the Company has a simple capital
structure with only common stock outstanding in 1999,
1998, and 1997.

Business and Credit Concentrations: Sales of the
Company’s products are dependent upon the economic
conditions of the housing and manufacturing industries.
Changes in these industries may significantly affect
management’s estimates and the Company’s performance.

The majority of the Company’s customers are located in
the northeastern United States, with the remainder spread
throughout the United States and Canada. One customer
accounted for 11% of the Company’s sales in 1999 and
accounts receivable at December 31, 1999.

The Company estimates an ailowance for doubtful
accounts based upon the actual payment history of each
individual customer. Consequently, an adverse change in
the financial condition or the local economy of a particular
customer could affect the Company’s estimate of its bad
debts.

Employee Benefit Plans: The Company has a non-
contributory pension plan covering substantially all of its
employees who meet age and service requirements.
Additionally, the Company provides certain health care and
life insurance benefits to retired employees. The net
periodic pension costs are recognized as employees render
the services necessary to earn pension and post-retirement
benefits.

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the
asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in
which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets
To Be Disposed of: Long-lived assets and intangibles are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying
amount of the assets to the future net cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered
to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount
or fair value less the cost to sell.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
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requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

1.78

THE QUAKER OATS COMPANY AND
SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements
include The Quaker Oats Company and all of its
subsidiaries (the Company). All significant intercompany
transactions have been eliminated. Divested Businesses
are included in the results of operations until their divestiture
dates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are
composed of all highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less. As a result of the
Company’s cash management system, checks issued but
not presented to the banks for payment may create negative
book cash balances. Such negative balances are included
in trade accounts payable and totaled $55.0 million and
$40.8 milion as of December 31, 1999 and 1998,
respectively.

Inventories—Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
market, using various cost methods, and include the cost of
raw materials, labor and overhead. The percentages of
year-end inventories valued using each of the methods
were as follows:

December 31 1999 1998
Last-in, first out (LIFO) 54% 52%
Average quarterly cost 44% 46%
First-in, first-out (FIFO) 2% 2%

If the LIFO method of valuing these inventories was not
used, total inventories would have been $1.8 million lower
and $5.9 million higher than reported as of December 31,
1999 and 1998, respectively.

Long-lived Assets—Long-lived assets are comprised of
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Long-
lived assets, including certain identifiable intangibles and
goodwill related to those assets to be held and used, are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset
may not be recoverable. An estimate of undiscounted future
cash flows produced by the asset, or the appropriate
grouping of assets, is compared to the carrying value to
determine whether an impairment exists, pursuant to the
provisions of SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment
of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be
Disposed Of.” If an asset is determined to be impaired, the
loss is measured based on quoted market prices in active
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markets, if available. If quoted market prices are not
available, the estimate of fair value is based on various
valuation techniques, including a discounted value of
estimated future cash flows and fundamental analysis. The
Company reports an asset to be disposed of at the lower of
its carrying value or its estimated net realizable value.

Intangibles—Intangible assets consist principally of
excess purchase price over net tangible assets of
businesses acquired (goodwill) and trademarks. Intangible
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods
primarily ranging from two to 40 years.

Intangible assets, net of amortization, and their estimated
useful lives consisted of the following at December 31, 1999
and 1998:

Estimated
Useful Lives
Dollars in millions (In Years) 1999 1998
Goodwill 1010 40 $370.3 $385.3
Trademarks and other 21040 19.5 25.4
Intangible assets 389.8 410.7
Less: Accumulated
amortization 152.9 165.0
Intangible assets-net of
amortization $236.9 $245.7

Property and Depreciation—Property, plant and equipment
are carried at cost and depreciated primarily on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives
range from 20 to 50 years for buildings and improvements
and from three to 17 years for machinery and equipment.

Software Costs—The Company defers significant
software development project costs and amortizes them
over a three-year period beginning with the project’s
completion. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, all
deferred software costs were fully amortized.

Derivative Financial and Commodity Instruments—The
Company uses a variety of futures, swaps, options and
forward contracts in its management of foreign currency
exchange rate, commodity price and interest rate
exposures. Instruments used as hedges must be effective at
reducing the risks associated with the underlying exposure
and must be designated as a hedge at the inception of the
contract.

Accordingly, changes in the market value of the
instruments must have a high degree of inverse correlation
with changes in the market value or cash flows of the
underlying hedged item. Summarized below are the specific
accounting policies by market risk category.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk—The Company
uses forward contracts, purchased options and currency
swap agreements to manage foreign currency exchange
rate risk related to certain projected cash flows from foreign
operations and net investments in foreign subsidiaries. The
fair value method is used to account for these instruments.
Under the fair value method, the instruments are carried at
fair value in the consolidated balance sheets as a
component of other current assets (deferred charges) or
other accrued liabilities (deferred revenue). Changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments that are used to manage
exchange rate risk in foreign currency denominated cash
flows and net investments in highly inflationary economies
are recognized in the consolidated statements of income as
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foreign exchange loss or gain. Changes in the fair value of
such instruments used to manage exchange rate risk on net
investments in economies that are not highly inflationary are
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income in
common shareholders’ equity. To the extent an instrument
is no longer effective as a hedge of a net investment due to
a change in the underlying exposure, losses and gains are
recognized currently in the consolidated statements of
income as foreign exchange loss or gain.

Commodity Price Risk—The Company uses commodity
futures and options to reduce price exposures on
commodity inventories or anticipated purchases of
commodities. The deferral method is used to account for
those instruments that effectively hedge the Company’s
price exposures. For hedges of anticipated transactions, the
significant characteristics and terms of the anticipated
transaction must be identified, and the transaction must be
probable of occurring to qualify for deferral method
accounting. Under the deferral method, gains and losses on
derivative instruments are deferred in the consolidated
balance sheets as a component of other current assets (if a
loss) or other accrued liabilities (if a gain) until the
underlying inventory being hedged is sold. As the hedged
inventory is sold, the deferred gains and losses are
recognized in the consolidated statements of income as a
component of cost of goods sold. Derivative instruments
that do not meet the above criteria required for deferral
treatment are accounted for under the fair value method,
with gains and losses recognized currently in the
consolidated statements of income as a component of cost
of goods sold.

Interest Rate Risk—The Company uses interest rate
swap agreements to manage its exposure to changes in
interest rates and to balance the mix of its fixed and floating
rate debt. The settlement costs of terminated swap
agreements are reported in the consolidated balance sheets
as a component of other assets and are amortized over the
life of the original swap agreements. The amortization of the
settiement amounts is reported in the consolidated
statements of income as a component of interest expense.

Foreign Currency Translation—Assets and liabilities of
the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, other than those
located in highly inflationary countries, are translated at
current exchange rates, while income and expense are
translated at average rates for the period. For entities in
countries designated as highly inflationary, a combination of
current and historical rates is used to determine foreign
currency gains and losses resulting from financial statement
translation. Translation gains and losses are reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income in
common shareholders’ equity, except for those associated
with countries designated as highly inflationary, which are
reported directly in the consolidated statements of income.

Advertising Costs—In accordance with SOP No. 93-7,
“Reporting on Advertising Costs,” the Company expenses
all advertising expenditures as incurred except for
production costs which are deferred and expensed when
advertisements run for the first time. The amount of
production costs deferred and included in the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, was
$7.7 million and $5.6 million, respectively.

Income Taxes—The Company uses an asset and liability
approach to financial accounting and reporting for income
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taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided when tax laws
and financial accounting standards differ with respect to the
amount of income for a year and the bases of assets and
liabilities. Current deferred tax assets and liabilities are
netted in the consolidated balance sheets as are long-term
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Income taxes have been
provided on $147.6 million of the $148.7 million of
unremitted earnings from foreign subsidiaries. Taxes are not
provided on earnings expected to be indefinitely reinvested.
Income taxes have also been provided for potential tax
assessments and the related tax accruals are in the
consolidated balance sheets. To the extent tax accruals
differ from actual payments or assessments, the accruals
will be adjusted through the provision for income taxes.

Segment Reporting—The Company reports segments
consistent with the way management assesses segment
performance. The Company reports results by Foods,
Beverages and Divested operating segments. U.S. and
Canadian Foods includes hot and ready-to-eat cereals,
shacks, flavored rice and pasta, mixes, syrups and corn
products. Latin American Foods include Quaker brand
cereals and snacks, Coqueiro brand canned fish and Toddy,
ToddYnho and FrescaAvena brand beverages and
beverage powders. Other Foods includes the combined
results of the European and Asia/Pacific foods businesses.
U.S. and Canadian Beverages, Latin American Beverages
and Other Beverages, the combined European and
Asia/Pacific businesses, all include results from Gatorade
thirst quencher products. The Divested Businesses segment
includes historical results for businesses that have been
sold by the Company. In determining the operating income
or loss of each segment, restructuring charges, asset
impairment losses, divestiture gains and losses and certain
other expenses, such as income taxes, general corporate
expenses and financing costs, are not allocated to operating
segments.

Current and Pending Accounting Changes—In January
1998, SOP No. 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” was
issued. This SOP provides guidance on the accounting for
computer software costs. In April 1998, SOP No. 98-5,
“Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up Activities,” was issued.
This SOP provides guidance on accounting for the cost of
start-up activities. The Company’s adoption of these
Statements in January 1999 did not materially affect the
Company’s financial statements.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” This statement establishes accounting and
reporting standards requiring that all derivative instruments
(including certain derivative instruments imbedded in other
contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as either an
asset or a liability measured at its fair value. This statement
requires that changes in the derivative’s fair value be
recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge
accounting criteria are met. The accounting provisions for
qualifying hedges allow a derivative’s gains and losses to
offset related results of the hedged item in the income
statement and require that the Company must formally
document, designate and assess the effectiveness of
transactions that qualify for hedge accounting. The
Company has not determined its method or timing of
adopting this statement, but will be required to adopt it by
January 2001. When adopted, this statement could increase
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volatility in reported earnings and other comprehensive
income.

Estimates and Assumptions—The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

1.79
ROUGE INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Significant Accounting Policies

Description of the Company

Rouge Steel Company (“Rouge Steel”) is the principal
operating subsidiary of Rouge Industries, Inc. (together with
its subsidiaries, “Rouge Industries” or the “Company”).
Rouge Steel is engaged in the production and sale of flat
rolled steel products primarily to domestic automotive
manufacturers and their suppliers. Other wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Rouge Industries include QS Steel Inc. (“QS
Steel”) and Eveleth Taconite Company (“Eveleth”). QS Steel
holds minority ownership interests in five Michigan-based
joint ventures. Eveleth holds a 45 percent interest in Eveleth
Mines LLC, a Minnesota-based iron ore mining and pellet
producing operation. For the purpose of these Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rouge Industries” or
the “Company” refers to Rouge Industries, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Rouge Industries and its subsidiaries. Intercompany
transactions have been eliminated. Investments in business
entities in which the Company does not have control, but
has the ability to exercise significant influence over the
operating and financial policies, are accounted for under the
equity method.

Segment Information

Rouge Industries has one operating segment that
comprises its flat rolled steel products. The Company’s
business is conducted entirely in the United States.
Significant customers are discussed elsewhere in the Note.

Internal Use Software

In 1998, the Company adopted AICPA Statement of
Position (“SOP”) No. 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use.” SOP No. 98-1 requires, in certain cases, capitalization
of software costs that previously would have been expensed
as incurred. Software costs capitalized were $1,864,000
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and $4,669,000 in 1999 and 1998, respectively. These
capitalized software costs will be amortized over the lesser
of 60 months or the useful life of the software.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial
instruments, which include cash equivalents, marketable
securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-
term debt, approximates their fair value at December 31,
1999 and 1998. The Company considers all highly liquid
debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months
or less to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Company to concentrations of credit risk are cash
equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable.
The Company attempts to limit its credit risk associated with
cash equivalents and marketable securities by utilizing
outside investment managers to place the Company’s
investments with highly rated corporate and financial
institutions. With respect to accounts receivable, the
Company limits its credit risk by performing ongoing credit
evaluations and, when deemed necessary, requiring letters
of credit, guarantees or collateral. The Company’s customer
base is comprised principally of domestic automotive
manufacturers and their suppliers. Management does not
believe significant risk exists in connection with the
Company’s concentrations of credit at December 31, 1999.

Significant Customers

The Company’s significant customers are Ford Motor
Company (“Ford”) and DaimlerChrysler AG
(“DaimlerChysler”). Sales to Ford, which are primarily made
pursuant to a ten-year steel purchase agreement, totaled
$381,546,000 in 1999, $429,230,000 in 1998 and
$434,898,000 in 1997. The steel purchase agreement
expires after model-year 2000.

Sales to DaimlerChrysler totaled $96,667,000 in 1999,
$120,061,000 in 1998 and $116,013,000 in 1997.

Sales to Worthington Industries, Inc. (“Worthington”)
totaled $157,307,000 in 1997. In 1998 and 1999 sales to
Worthington were less than 10 percent of total sales.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with
cost determined by the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method for
raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods and the
first-in, first-out (“FIFO") method for nonproduction and
sundry. Costs in inventory include materials, direct labor,
Double Eagle electrogalvanizing and Spartan Steel hot dip
galvanizing (see Note 4) and applied manufacturing
overhead.

Nonmonetary Transactions

The Company routinely exchanges iron ore inventory with
other parties. Since the exchanges involve similar
productive assets and do not complete an earnings process,
the Company accounts for the exchanges on the cost basis
of the inventory relinquished without recognition of gain or
loss.
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Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost.
Replacements and major improvements are capitalized;
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Gains
or losses on asset dispositions are included in the
determination of net income.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation of the Company’s property, plant, and
equipment is computed using the straight-line method. The
average estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Buildings 35
Land Improvements 20
Steel-Producing Machinery and
Equipment 18
Power Equipment 28
Office Furniture 12

The costs of relines to the blast furnaces and the
refurbishment of turbo generators are capitalized and
amortized over their expected lives which are eight to ten
years, respectively.

As a result of the Powerhouse explosion (see Note 11),
during 1999 the Company installed temporary facilities to
provide steam and electrical distribution. The cost of these
assets was approximately $65,100,000, which is being
amortized over their expected useful lives of thirteen to
sixteen months.

The excess of net assets acquired over cost, relating to
the acquisition of the Company from Ford in 1989 (the
“Acquisition”), has been amortized on a straight-line basis
over a ten-year period.

Environmental Accounting

Environmental expenditures are capitalized if the costs
mitigate or prevent future environmental contamination or if
the costs improve existing assets’ environmental safety or
efficiency. All other environmental expenditures are
expensed. Liabilities for environmental expenditures are
accrued when it is probable that such obligations have been
incurred and the amounts can be reasonably estimated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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SAMES CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARIES (NOV)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Report Preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries in the U.S.,
France, Japan, and Sweden. All material intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make certain estimates and assumptions
which affect reported results of operations, financial
position, and various disclosures. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Currency Translation

The results of operations for non-U.S. subsidiaries are
translated from local currencies into U.S. dollars usirg
average exchange rates during each period; assets and
liabilities are translated using exchange rates at the end of
each period. At November 30, 1999, the French franc had
depreciated by approximately 14% compared to the prior
year-end while the average French franc/U.S. dollar
exchange rate was approximately 3% higher in the twelve
months ended November 30, 1999 compared to the
comparable 1998 period. Adjustments resulting from the
translation process are reported in a separate component of
stockholders’ equity, and -are not included in the
determination of the results of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
amounts due from banks with original maturities of three
months or less.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out)
or market (net realizable value).

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment is computed
by the straight-line method. Estimated lives range from 25 to
40 years for buildings and from 4 to 12 years for machinery
and equipment.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of goodwill and patents.
Goodwill represents excess costs of acquired companies
over the fair values of their net tangible assets. All
intangibles are amortized by the straight line method, with
goodwill amortized over 40 years, and patents over their
respective useful lives.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts of long-lived assets may be impaired, an
evaluation of recoverability would be performed. If an
evaluation is required, the estimated future undiscounted
cash flows associated with the asset would be compared to
the asset’s carrying amount to determine if a writedown is
required. If this review indicates that the assets will not be
recoverable, the carrying value of the Company’s assets
would be reduced to their estimated market value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value approximates the carrying value for all
financial instruments, with the exception of long-term debt,
for which the fair value is less than the carrying value by an
amount which is immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues on long-term equipment production and
installation contracts are recorded on the basis of the
estimated percentage of completion of individual contracts
determined under the cost-to-cost method. Estimated losses
on long-term contracts are recognized in the period in which
a loss becomes apparent. Revenue from sales of the
Company’s general industry and non-robotic automotive
products are recorded at the time the goods are shipped
and title passes. The Company provides appropriate
provisions for uncollectible accounts and credit for returns.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are charged to expense
when incurred.

Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are charged to expense when incurred.
Advertising costs were $.8 million, $.5 million, and $.6
million in fiscal 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Income Taxes

The asset and liability method is used in accounting for
income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards and for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
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tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the
period that includes the enactment date. A valuation
allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets unless it is more likely than not that
such assets will be realized.

Stock-Based Compensation

In 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” The
Company has elected to continue to apply the principles of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” as discussed in note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per share are based upon the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted
earnings per share assumes the exercise of all options
which are dilutive, whether exercisable or not.

Impact of Newly Issued Accounting Standards

The Company adopted SFAS No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive Income,” in fiscal 1999. Comprehensive
income is defined as “all changes in stockholders’ equity
exclusive of transactions with owners.” All transactions
representing comprehensive income during the years ended
November 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997 are presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity. Prior year
financial statements have been changed to conform to the
SFAS 130 requirements.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES

1.81 APB Opinion No. 20 “defines various types of
accounting changes and establishes guides for determining
the manner of reporting each type.” Table 1-8 lists the
accounting changes disclosed in the annual reports of the
survey companies. As shown in Table 1-8, most of the
accounting changes disclosed by the survey companies
were changes made to conform to requirements stated in
authoritative pronouncements.
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1.82 Examples of accounting change disclosures follow.

1.83

TABLE 1-8: ACCOUNTING CHANGES

Number of Companies
1999 1998 1997 1996

Software development costs

{SOP 98-1).comrcemrrrrnscrernerrrnnrennne 66 37 1 N/C*
Start-up costs (SOP 98-5) . 39 29 2 N/C*
INVeNONIES ....vvrvesiernersnersneaens 5 5 4 5
Revenue recognition (SAB 101)......... 5 NC* NC NC
Depreciable liVes .........o.ccecvreriniiinennns 4 4 3 3
Software revenue recognition............. 3 4 NC* NC
Derivatives and hedging activities

(SFAS 133} ...ovirerrrererreseerssiinnnns 3 NC NC* NC
Market-value valuation of pension 3 NC* NC* NC

plan @ssets........coverersersnressenisnnens 3 NC* NC* NC
Bankruptcy code reporting

(SOP 90-7) ...corrrmmecensirerssraniinnanns 3 NC* NC* NC*
Recoverability of goodwill . 2 NC* NC* NC
Depreciation method...........ccecrneveennn. 2 - 3 4
Business process reengineering

costs (EITF 97-13) .....ccovcevcrerennens 2 10 28 NC
impairment of long-lived assets

(SFAS 121) — 3 39 134
Reporting entity. — 2 1 1
OO ....oirerrnrrrsrrrrrrssrrsiinrsrorrre 10 13 57 28

* N/C = Not compiled. Line item was not included in the table for
the year shown.

Software Development Costs
1.84
HON INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Computer Software

SOP 98-1 requires the capitalization of certain costs
incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal
use software. Prior to the adoption of SOP 98-1, the
Company expensed all internal use software related costs
as incurred. The Company capitalized approximately $3.5
million of computer software during 1999.
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Start-Up Costs
1.85
HECLA MINING COMPANY (DEC)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Dollars and shares in thousands,
except per share amounts 1999 1998 1997

Loss before cumulative effect
of change in accounting
principle

Cumulative effect of change in

(38,605) (300) (483)

accounting principle, net of tax {1,385) — —
Net loss (39,990) (300) (483)
Preferred stock dividends (8,050) (8,050) (8,050)
Loss applicable to common

shareholders (48,040) (8,350) (8,533)
Other comprehensive income

(loss) net of tax

Unrealized gains (losses) on
securities 13 (115) (351)

Reclassification adjustment
for losses included in

net loss 96 96 320
Minimum pension liability
adjustment 289 (289) —
Other comprehensive income
(loss) 398 (308) (31)

Comprehensive loss applicable

to common shareholders $(47,642)  $(8,658) $ (8,564)
Basic and diluted loss per

common share before

cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle $ (075) $(0.15) $ (0.16)
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle $ (0.02) — —
Basic and diluted loss per

common share $ (077) $(0.15 $ (0.16)
Weighted average number of

common shares outstanding 62,347 55,101 54,763

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

R (In Part): New Accounting Pronouncements

In April 1998, Statement of Position 98-5 (SOP 98-5),
“Reporting on the Costs of Start-up Activities” was issued.
SOP 98-5 provides guidance on the financial reporting of
start-ups costs and organizational costs. It requires costs of
start-up activities and organizational costs to be expensed
as incurred, as well as the recognition of a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle for retroactive
application of the standard. Hecla adopted SOP 98-5 as
required on January 1, 1999. The impact of this change in
accounting principle related to unamortized start-up costs
associated with Hecla's 29.73% ownership interest in the
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Greens Creek mine. The $1.4 million cumulative effect of
this change in accounting principle is included in the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 1999. Due to the availability of net operating
losses, there was no tax effect associated with the change.

Inventories
1.86
BANTA CORPORATION (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Accounting Policies

Inventories. At January 1, 2000, the Corporation's
inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Effective January 3,
1999, certain operations (comprising approximately one
third of the Corporation’s inventories) changed from the last-
in, first-out basis to FIFO. The change in accounting
principles was made to provide a better matching of
revenue and expenses. This accounting change was not
material to the financial statements, and accordingly, no
retroactive restatement of prior years’ financial statements
was made. Inventories include material, labor and
manufacturing overhead.

Revenue Recognition
1.87

J. C. PENNEY COMPANY, INC., AND
SUBSIDIARIES (JAN)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 (In Part): Summary of Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation. In 1999, after giving consideration to
guidance provided by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB)
No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, the
Company changed certain revenue recognition policies
affecting Department stores and catalog. Changes primarily
affected the reporting of sales for licensed departments and
catalog orders shipped to various Company facilities for
customer pickup. These changes reduced sales by $152
million, $217 million and $136 million in 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively, and resulted in a $67 million reduction of
reinvested earnings, net of tax, as of January 28, 1995. The
impact on earnings and cash flows for the intervening
periods presented in this report is not material. Accordingly,
the cumulative effects of the changes have been reflected
as a $20 million pre-tax charge to cost of goods sold in the
statement of income for fiscal 1999, the period in which the
change was made.
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Third-party credit fees of $91 million in 1999 and $93
million in both 1998 and 1997 have been reclassified from
Net interest expense and credit operations to Department
stores and catalog SG&A expenses to reflect these costs as
operating expenses. Certain other prior year amounts have
been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation.

1.88
KMART CORPORATION (JAN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Laway Sales: In consideration of guidance issued by the
Securiies and Exchange Commission under Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”), the Company has
retroactively changed its method of accounting for layaway
sales effective January 28, 1999. Based upon the new
guidance, the Company defers recognition of layaway sales
and profit to the accounting period when the merchandise is
delivered to the customer. Under the prior method of
accounting, sales and profits were recognized at the time
the customer put the merchandise into layaway, with a
reserve for anticipated merchandise to be returned to stock.
The Company has recorded a one-time, non-cash after-tax
earnings reduction of $7, or $0.01 per share, in the fourth
quarter of 1999 to reflect the cumulative effect of the

accounting change. :

1.89
THE TJX COMPANIES, INC. (JAN)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Accounting Policies (In Part)

A. Change in Accounting Principle

Effective January 31, 1999, the Company changed its
method of accounting for layaway sales in compliance with
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 “Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements,” issued by the Securities and
Exchange Commission during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2000. Under the new accounting method, the Company will
defer recognition of a layaway sale and its related profit to
the accounting period when the customer picks up layaway
merchandise. The cumulative effect of this change for
periods prior to January 31, 1999 of $5.2 million (net of
income taxes of $3.4 million), or $.02 per share, is shown as
the cumulative effect of accounting change in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The accounting
change has virtually no impact on annual sales and
earnings (before cumulative effect). However, due to the
seasonal influences of the business, the accounting change
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results in a shift of sales and earnings among the
Company's quarterly periods. As a result, the Company has
restated its earnings for the first three quarters of the fiscal
year ended January 29, 2000 (see Selected Quarterly
Financial Data, page 45, for more information). Except for
the Selected Quarterly Financial Data, the Company has not
presented pro forma results for prior fiscal years due to
immateriality.

Service Life of Machinery and Equipment
1.90
WILLAMETTE INDUSTRIES, INC. (DEC)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts, except per share amounts, in thousands)

Note 4: Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment accounts are summarized as
follows:

~ rangeof
useful lives 1999 1998
Land — § 41985 40,446
Buildings 15-35 380,967 366,125
Machinery & equipment 525 4,569,273 4,354,789
Furniture & fixtures 3-15 92,411 90,606
Leasehold improvements life of lease 6,619 7,209
Construction in progress — 145,479 101,522
5,236,734 4,960,697
Accumulated depreciation 2,485,524 2,253,551
$2,751,210 2,707,146

Effective January 1, 1999, the company changed its
accounting estimates relating to depreciation. The estimated
service lives for most machinery and equipment were
extended five years. The change was based upon a study
performed by the company’s engineering depariment,
comparisons to typical industry practices and the effect of
the company’s extensive capital investments which have
resulted in a mix of assets with longer productive lives due
to technological advances. As a result of the change, 1999
net income was increased $51,900, or $046 per diluted
share.
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1.91
NOVELL, INC. (OCT)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

In fiscal 1999, the Company adopted Statement of Position
97-2 (SOP 97-2), “Software Revenue Recognition,” which
requires that revenue recognized from software
arrangements be allocated to each element of the
arrangement based on the relative fair values of the
elements, such as software products, upgrades,
enhancements, post contract customer support, installation,
or training. The implementation of SOP 97-2 did not have a
material impact on the recognized revenue of the Company.
Revenue on product sales is recognized upon shipment
or transfer of title to the customer. Certain sales require
continuing service, support, and performance by the
Company, and accordingly a portion of the revenue is
deferred until the future service, support, and performance
are provided. Reserves for sales returns and allowances are
recorded in the same period as the related revenues.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities
1.92

ADC TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES (OCT)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 10: Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities: ADC
adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” on November 1, 1998.
In doing so, ADC did not incur any transition adjustments to
earnings.

All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at
their fair value. On the date the derivative contract is
entered into, ADC designates the derivative as (1) a fair
value hedge, (2) a cash flow hedge, (3) a foreign-currency
hedge, (4) a net investment in a foreign operation or (5) a
trading instrument. ADC engages primarily in derivatives
classified as trading instruments, and changes in the fair
value of the derivatives are reported in current-period
earnings. ADC also hedges some selected foreign-currency
denominated forecasted transactions (cash flow hedges), in
which changes in the fair value of highly effective
derivatives are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).

ADC formally documents all relations between hedging
instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk-
management objectives and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. ADC formally assesses, both at
the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
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effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged
items.

Cash Flow Hedges: ADC uses foreign-currency forward-
exchange contracts with durations of less than twelve
months to hedge against the effect of exchange-rate
fluctuations on forecasted intercompany transactions. Such
contracts had a total notional amount of $8.5 million at
October 31, 1999. For the year ended October 31, 1999,
ADC recognized a gain of $352,415 reported in other
income (expense) in the statements of income, for the
hedges that have settled.

As of October 31, 1999, $580,997 of deferred net gains
on derivative instruments included in accumulated other

1.93
ETHYL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

comprehensive income are expected to be reclassified to
earnings during the next twelve months.

Trading Derivatives: ADC purchases foreign-currency
forward exchange contracts with contract terms normally
lasting less than six months to protect against the adverse
effect that exchange-rate fluctuations may have on foreign-
currency-denominated assets, principally Canadian Dollars,
Mexican Pesos and the Euro. These derivatives do not
qualify for hedge accounting, in accordance with SFAS No.
133, because they relate to existing assets denominated in
a foreign currency. The gains and losses on both the
derivatives and the foreign-currency-denominated assets
are recorded as transaction adjustments in current earnings.
At October 31, 1999 there were no open trading derivatives.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Shareholders’
(In thousands of dollars except share amounts) Shares Amounts Capitat  (Loss) Income Earnings Equity
Balance at December 31, 1998 83,465,460 $83,465 — (5,604) 109,141 187,002
Comprehensive income:
Net income 55,297 55,297
Foreign currency translation adjustments (6,779) (6,779)
Unrealized gain on marketable securities adjustments (213) (213)
Minimum pension liability adjustments 2,667 2,667
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments (1,899) (1.899)
Total comprehensive income 49,073
Cash dividends declared ($.25 per share) (20,866) (20,866)
Balance at December 31, 1999 83,465,460 $83,465 $— $(11,828)  $143,572 $215,209

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except share
and per-share amounts)

1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Derivative  Financial Instruments—We use derivative
financial instruments to manage the risk of foreign currency
exchange. Ethyl does not enter into derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We record
realized gains and losses in current income and unrealized
gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

18. Financial Instruments

Fair Value—We determine the fair value of our outstanding
financial instruments as follows:

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The carrying value
approximates fair value.

Investments in Marketable Securities—We classify these
investments as “available for sale” and record them at fair
value with the unrealized gains, net of tax, included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. See Note 19.
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Long-Term Debt—Ethyl estimates the fair value of our
long-term debt based on current rates available to us for
debt of the same remaining duration.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts—We adopted FASB
Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” effective January 1, 1999.
Accordingly, we record the foreign currency forward
contracts at fair value in our consolidated balance sheet.
The fair value is based on the forward rates provided by
First Chicago Bank. We include the unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive
loss.

Prior to the adoption of FASB Statement No. 133, we
recorded the foreign currency forward contract under FASB
Statement No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” We have
not restated the carrying value or fair value of the forward
contracts for 1998. The effect of adopting FASB Statement
No. 133 was to include the $2 million unrealized after tax
loss at December 31, 1999, on our forward contracts in
accumulated other comprehensive income

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are:

ATT-SEC 1.93



82 Accounting Trends & Techniques

1999 1998

Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
Amount Value  Amount  Value

Cash and cash

equivalents $ 15846 $ 15846 $ 8,403 $ 8,403
Investments in

marketable securities $ 20,078 $ 20,078 $ 19,663 $ 19,663
Long-term debt including

current maturities $(474,222) $(474,205) $(558,824) $(559,342)
Foreign currency forward

contracts $ (2981) $ (2981) $ (360) $ (886)

Derivatives—As part of our strategy to minimize the risk of

foreign currency exposure, Ethyl uses foreign currency

forward contracts to hedge the risk on forecasted

i;ntercompany sales transactions denominated in Japanese
en.

During 1999, Ethyl used derivative instruments with
maturity dates throughout the year to hedge the foreign
currency exposure of approximately $22 million of Japanese
Yen denominated intercompany sales. These cash flow
hedges were highly effective since a foreign currency rate

change on the forward contract is offset by a corresponding
change in the value of the hedged Yen intercompany sale.

At December 31, 1999, Ethyl had foreign currency
forward contracts for the sale of $24 million of Japanese
Yen. These contracts are at a fixed price and have maturity
dates throughout 2000. We recorded unrealized losses of
$2 million, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive
loss on these forward contracts. We expect to recognize
these losses in net income over the next twelve months
when the related intercompany sales transaction takes
place.

For the year 1999, Ethyl recognized a $500 thousand loss
on the contracts. A corresponding increase in the U.S. dollar
value of the Japanese Yen intercompany sales, which we
made during 1999, offset all of the loss. Ethyl includes
foreign currency gains and losses in cost of sales.

19 (In Part): Comprehensive Income

The pre-tax, tax, and.-after-tax effects related to the
adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive loss
follow:

Unrealized
Foreign Gainon Minimum Unrealized Accumulated
Currency Marketable Pension Loss on Other
Translation Securities Liability Derivative Comprehensive
Adjustments Adjustments Adjustments Instruments (Loss) Income
December 31, 1998 (5,758) 2,821 (2,667) — {5,604)
Adjustments (10,719) (334) 3,865 (2,981)
Tax benefit (expense) 3,940 121 {1,198) 1,082
Other comprehensive income (loss) (6,779) (213) 2,667 (1,899) (6,224)
December 31, 1999 $(12,537) $2,608 $ — $(1,899) $(11,828)
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1.94
TRIBUNE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES (DEC)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

83

(In thousands of dollars, except per share data) 1999 1998 1997
Operating profit $ 770,440 $702,289 $642.03(15
Net loss on equity investments (21,545) (33,980) (34,333)
Interest income 47,436 6,112 26,
Interest expense (113,031) (88,451) (86,502)
Gain on change in fair values of derivatives and related investments 215,876 — :
Gain on reclassification of investments 1,095,976 - (11894
Gain on sales of subsidiaries and investments, net of write-downs 444,927 119,119 ,
Income before income taxes 2,440,079 705,089 659,000
Income taxes {957,029) (290,817) (265,375)
income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 1,483,050 414,272 393,625
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax (see Note 1) (3,060) — —
Net Income 1,479,990 414,272 393,625
Preferred dividends, net of tax (18,639) (18,782) (18,798)
Net income attributable to common shares $1,461,351 $395,490 $374,827
Eamings per share (see Note 1)
Basic:

Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 617 $ 163 $ 153

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net (0.01) - -

Net income $ 6.16 $ 1.63 $ 153
Diluted:

Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 5862 $ 150 $ 140

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net (0.01) - -

Net income $ 561 $ 150 $ 140

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 (In Part): Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncement—The
Company elected early adoption of FAS 133 as of the
beginning of the 1999 second quarter. FAS 133 requires
that all derivative instruments be recorded in the balance
sheet at fair value. The provisions of FAS 133 affected the
Company’s accounting for its 8.0 million Exchangeable
Subordinated Debentures due 2029 “PHONES”), its 4.6
million Debt Exchangeable for Common Stock securities
("DECS") (see Note 6) and its America Online collar for 2.0
million shares.

In April 1999, the Company issued 8.0 million PHONES
for an aggregate principal amount of over $1.2 billion. The
principal amount equaled the value of 16.0 million shares of
AOL common stock at the closing price of $78.50 per share
on April 7, 1999. The Company will continue to own the
AOL stock.

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques

In the first quarter of 1999, the Company entered into a
one-year hedge transaction (“AOL collar”) with respect to
2.0 million shares of its AOL common stock investment. The
AOL collar was restructured in the third quarter of 1999. The
collar locks in the value of these shares within the price
range of $46-$53 per share and will settle in four equal
instaliments of 500,000 shares in each of the four quarters
of 2000. Since these transactions will settle in 2000, the
value of these shares under the collar is classified as a
short-term investment of $163 million in the balance sheet
at Dec. 26, 1999.

Prior to the adoption of FAS 133, changes in the fair
values of the Company’s 16.0 million AOL shares and 5.5
million Mattel shares related to the PHONES and DECS,
respectively, had been recorded in the accumulated other
comprehensive income component of shareholders’ equity
in the Company’s balance sheet, as these securities had
been classified as available-for-sale. With the adoption of
FAS 133, the 16.0 million shares of AOL common stock and
the 5.5 million shares of Mattel common stock were
reclassified to trading securities. As a result of this change
in classification, the Company was required, under the
provisions of FAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments
in Debt and Equity Securities,” to recognize pretax gains
totaling approximately $1.1 billion in its second quarter 1999
statement of income, which added $2.55 to diluted earnings
per share (“EPS”). These one-time, non-cash gains
represented the unrealized market appreciation on these
investments through the end of the 1999 first quarter.
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Beginning in the second quarter of 1999, the Company
'records subsequent changes in the fair values of these
investments in the statement of income.

Under the provisions of FAS 133, the initial values of the
PHONES and the DECS were each split into a debt
component and a derivative component. Changes in the fair
values of the derivative component of the PHONES and
DECS are recorded in the statement of income. Changes in
the fair values of the related AOL and Matte! shares should
at least partially offset changes in the fair values of the
derivative component of the PHONES and the DECS,
respectively. There may be periods with significant non-
cash increases or decreases to the Company’s net income
pertaining to the PHONES, DECS and the related AOL and
Mattel shares. The 2.0 million shares of AOL common stock
related to the AOL collar are classified as available-for-sale
securities, with the unrealized gain or loss on these shares
reported in the accumulated other comprehensive income
component of shareholders’ equity. Changes in the time
value of the AOL collar are recorded in the Company’s
statement of income.

In 1999, the change in fair value of the derivative
component of the PHONES resulted in a pretax loss of $68
million, which was more than offset by a $299 million pretax
gain resulting from the change in fair value of the related
AOL trading shares since the beginning of the second
quarter. The net change in the fair values of the derivative
component of the PHONES and the related AOL shares
resulted in a non-cash pretax gain of $231 million, which
increased diluted EPS by $.53. The total changes in the fair
values of all of the Company’s derivatives, net of changes in
the fair values of the related shares, resulted in a net pretax
gain of $216 million, which increased diluted EPS by $.50.

The cumulative effect of adopting FAS 133 as of the
beginning of the second quarter of 1999 resulted in a $3
million after-tax loss, or $.01 per diluted EPS. This
cumulative effect resulted from adjusting the DECS and the
AOL collar derivatives to their fair values as of March 28,
1999.

The carrying value of the Company’s derivative
instruments approximates fair value. The fair values of the
PHONES and DECS are determined by reference to market
values resulting from trading on a national securities
exchange. The AOL collar's fair value is based on estimates
using the Black-Scholes valuation model.

Note 15 (In Part): Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income includes foreign currency
translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on
marketable securities classified as available-for-sale.
Approximately six milion AOL shares are currently
classified as available-for-sale. Prior to the adoption of FAS
133, changes in the fair value of the Company’s 5.5 million
Mattel shares, net of the change in the current maturity
value of the Company’s related DECS securities, and all of
the Company’s AOL shares were recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive income, as the Mattel and AOL
securities had been classified as available-for-sale. With the
adoption of FAS 133 as of the beginning of the 1999 second
quarter, 16.0 million of the AOL shares and all of the Mattel
shares were reclassified to trading securities. As a result of
this reclassification and the adoption of FAS 133, beginning
in the 1999 second quarter, changes in the fair values of the
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16.0 million AOL shares and 5.5 million Mattel shares, net of
the changes in the fair values of the related derivative
component of the PHONES and DECS, are recorded in the
Company's statement of income.

Valuation of Pension Plan Assets
1.95

LUCENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIAR-
IES (SEP)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Dollars in millions, except

per share amount) 1999 1998 1997
Income before accumulative
effect of accounting change $3,458 $1,035 $ 449

Cumulative effect of accounting
change (net of income taxes

of $842) 1,308 — -
Net income $4,766 $1,035 $ 449
Eamings per common share—
basic:
Income before cumulative
effect of accounting change $1.14 $ 035 $0.16
Cumulative effect of
accounting change 043 — —
Net income $ 157 $ 0.35 $0.16
Eamings per common share—
diluted:
Income before cumulative
effect of accounting change $ 1.10 $ 034 $0.15
Cumulative effect of
accounting change 0.42 - —
Net income $ 1.52 $ 034 $0.15

10 (In Part): Employee Benefit Plans

Pension and Postretirement Benefits (In Part)

Effective October 1, 1998, Lucent changed its method for
calculating the market-related value of plan assets used in
determining the expected return-on-asset component of
annual net pension and postretirement benefit costs. Under
the previous accounting method, the calculation of the
market-related value of plan assets included only interest
and dividends immediately, while all other realized and
unrealized gains and losses were amortized on a straight-
line basis over a five-year period. The new method used to
calculate market-related value includes immediately an
amount based on Lucent’s historical asset returns and
amortizes the difference between that amount and the
actual return on a straight-line basis over a five-year period.
The new method is preferable under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 87 because it results in
calculated plan asset values that are closer to current fair
value, thereby lessening the accumulation of unrecognized
gains and losses while still mitigating the effects of annual
market value fluctuations.
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The cumulative effect of this accounting change related to
periods prior to fiscal year 1999 of $2,150 ($1,308 after-tax,
or $0.43 and $0.42 per basic and diluted share,
respectively) is a one-time, non-cash credit to fiscal 1999
earnings. This accounting change also resulted in a
reduction in benefit costs in the year ended September 30,
1999 that increased income by $427 ($260 after-tax, or
$0.09 and $0.08 per basic and diluted share, respectively)
as compared with the previous accounting method. A
comparison of pro forma amounts below shows the effects if
the accounting change were applied retroactively:

1998 1997

Pro forma net income $1,276 $657
Earnings per share—basic $ 0.43 $0.23
Earnings per share—diluted $ 042 $0.22

Severance
and personnel
costs

write-downs

1.96

MCCORMICK & COMPANY, INCORPORATED
(NOV)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 (In Part): Special Charges and Discontinued Operations

In addition, the Company changed its actuarial method of
calculating the market-related value of plan assets used in
determining the expected return-on-asset component of
annual pension expense. This modification resulted in a
one-time special credit of $7.7 million ($4.8 million after-tax
or $0.0 per share) recorded in the second quarter of 1999.
Under the previous method, all realized and unrealized
gains and losses were gradually included in the calculated
market-related value of plan assets over a five-year period.
Under the new method, the total expected investment
return, which anticipates realized and unrealized gains and
losses on plan assets, is included in the calculated market-
related value of plan assets each year. Only the difference
between total actual investment return, including realized
and unrealized gains and losses, and the expected
investment return is gradually included in the calculated
market-related value of plan assets over a five-year period.

Under the new actuarial method, the calculated market-
related value of plan assets more closely approximates fair
value, while still mitigating the effect of annual market value
fluctuations. It also reduces the growing difference between
the fair value and calculated market-related value of plan
assets that has resulted from the recent accumulation of
unrecognized gains and losses. While this change better
represents the amount of ongoing pension expense, the
new method will not have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations and financial condition.

The major components of the special charges (credits)
and the remaining accrual balance as of November 30 1999
follow:

Actuarial
method
change Total

Asset Other
exit costs

1999
Special charges (credits) $79
Amounts utilized (4.0

$ 15.8 $ 3.0 $(7.7) $ 19.0
(15.8) (1.2) 77 (13.3)

$ 3.9

$ — $18 $ — $ 57

AICPA Accounting Trends & Techniques
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1.97
THE READER’S DIGEST ASSOCIATION, INC. (JUN)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions, except per
share data) 1999 1998 1997

Income before cumulative effect

of change in accounting

principles $126.6 $17.9 $133.5
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principles for

pension assets, net of tax

of $15.2 25.3 — =
Net income $151.9 $17.9 $133.5
Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic eamings per share
Weighted-average common
shares outstanding 107.3 106.5 106.7

Before cumulative effect of
change in accounting
principles

Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principles 0.24 — -

Basic eamings per share $ 1.40 $ 0.16 $ 1.24

Diluted eamings per share
Adjusted weighted-average
common shares outstanding
Before cumulative effect of
change in accounting
principles $1.15 $0.16 $1.24
Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principles 0.24 — -

Diluted eamings per share $ 1.39 $ 0.16 $1.24

$ 1.16 $ 0.16 $1.24

108.0 106.7 106.7

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Six (In Part): Pension Plans and Other Postretirement
Benefits

Change in Accounting for Pension Assets

Effective July 1, 1998, the Company changed its method for
calculating the market-related value of pension plan assets.
This method is used in determining the return-on-asset
component of annual pension expense ad the cumulative
net unrecognized gain (loss) subject to amortization. The
Company believes that the new method is more widely used
in practice and is preferable because it results in pension
plan asset values that more closely approximate fair value,
while still mitigating the effect of annual market value
fluctuations. In addition, the new method facilitates the
global management of pension plans as it results in a
consistent methodology for all plans.

Under the old method, realized and unrealized gains or
losses on pension plan assets were amortized and
recognized over a five-year period. Dividends and interest
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earned during the plan year were immediately recognized.
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